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14 December 2022 DOCUMENT 

PO(2022)0518 (INV) 
Silence procedure ends: 

19 Dec 2022 – 17:30 
 

 
To:  Permanent Representatives (Council) 
 
From:  Secretary General 

 

IBAN AUDIT REPORTS ON THE AUDIT OF 2021 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF IS, 
DCPS, RMCF, MSIAC, NCPS AND NFO  

 
1. I attach the Resource Policy and Planning Board (RPPB) report on the International 
Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Audit Report on the audit of the 2021 financial 
statements of the NATO International Staff (IS), NATO Defined Contribution Pension 
Scheme (DCPS), NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF), Munitions Safety 
Information Analysis Center (MSIAC), NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme (NCPS), and 
NATO FORACS Office (NFO). The IBAN Audit Reports set out an unqualified audit opinion 
on the financial statements and on compliance for the IS, DCPS, RMCF, MSIAC, NCPS and 
NFO for the 2021 financial year.   

 

2. I do not believe this issue requires further discussion in the Council.  Therefore, 
unless I hear to the contrary by 17:30 hours on Monday, 19 December 2022, I shall 
assume the Council noted the RPPB report, approved its conclusions and 
recommendations, noted the IBAN Audit Reports and agreed to the public disclosure of this 
report, the IBAN Audit Reports and 2021 financial statements.  

 
 
 

(Signed) Jens Stoltenberg 
 

  
1 Annex  
12 Enclosures    Original: English 
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IBAN AUDIT REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF 2021 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF IS, 
DCPS, RMCF, MSIAC, NCPS AND NFO 

Report by the Resource Policy and Planning Board (RPPB) 
 

References: 
A. IBA-AR(2022)0021 IBAN Audit Report on the audit of 2021 financial statements of the NATO 

International Staff (IS) 
B. IBA-AR(2022)0009 IBAN Audit Report on the audit of 2021 financial statements of the NATO 

Defined Contribution Pension Scheme (DCPS)  
C. IBA-AR(2022)0025 IBAN Audit Report on the audit of 2021 financial statements of the NATO 

Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF)  
D. IBA-AR(2022)0008 IBAN Audit Report on the audit of 2020 financial statements of the NATO 

Munitions Safety Information Analysis Center (MSIAC) 

E. IBA-AR(2022)0023 IBAN Audit Report on the audit of 2020 financial statements of the NATO 

Coordinated Pension Scheme(NCPS) 

F. IBA-AR(2022)0007 IBAN Audit Report on the audit of 2021 financial statements of the NATO 

FORACS Office (NFO) 

G. C-M(2022)0119-AS1 Action Sheet on the IBAN Audit Report on the audit of 2020 financial 

statements of MSIAC, NNHQ, NCPS, DCPS and RMCF and 2020 restated 
financial statements of NFO and IS 

H. AC/335-D(2022)0055 (INV) Handling arrangements for 2021 Financial Statements Audit Reports  

I. AC/335-D(2022)0067(INV) Action plans for IBAN observations older than 3 years (INV) 

J. C-M(2015)0025 NATO Financial Regulations (NFR) 

K. C-M(2016)0023 NATO Accounting Framework (NAF) 

L. PO(2015)0052    Wales Summit tasker on transparency and accountability 

 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
1. This report by the RPPB addresses the IBAN Audit Reports on the audit of 2021 
financial statements of International Staff (IS), NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme 
(DCPS), Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF), Munitions Safety Information Analysis 
Center (MSIAC), NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme (NCPS) and NATO FORACS Office 
(NFO). The IBAN Audit Reports set out unqualified opinions on the financial statements and 
on compliance of the IS, DCPS, RMCF, MSIAC, NCPS and NFO for financial year 2021 
(reference A to F). 
 
AIM 
 
2. This report highlights key issues in the IBAN Audit Reports (reference A to F) to 
enable the RPPB to reflect on strategic challenges emanating from the audit of financial 
statements of NATO entities and to recommend courses of action to Council as applicable, 
which has the potential to improve transparency, accountability and consistency.  
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3. In line with Financial Controller (FC) responsibilities laid out in Article 35 (FRPXXXV) 
of the NATO Financial Regulations (NFR) (reference J), the IS FC is accountable for signing 
and overseeing the development of the 2021 financial statements for all NATO reporting 
entities covered under this report. 

 
4. To help NATO Nations distinguish between the six different NATO reporting entities, 
the main highlights for the IS, DCPS, RMCF, MSIAC, NCPS and NFO are covered in their 
respective Chapters. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
5. In 2021, the IBAN made seven observations with recommendations for the IS, 
NCPS and NFO, these observations did not impact the audit opinions on the financial 
statements or on compliance. Also, the IBAN followed up on the status of outstanding 
recommendations from the previous years’ audits. As of the date of the respective IBAN 
Audit Reports a total of eight prior year observations were in-progress, four were open and 
nine prior year observations were closed. Observations are detailed in the documents at 
references A to F. 
 
6. In the document at reference G, the Council invited the DCPS, RMCF, MSIAC and 
NFO to provide an update on the action plan with deadlines on the implementation of more 
than three years outstanding recommendations. As no action plan has been received, the 
RPPB invited the DCPS, RMCF, MSIAC and NFO management to provide a remedial action 
plan by 15 October 2022 and the FC to provide the update on the action plan to the RPPB 
(reference H). At the RPPB meeting held on 17 November, the FC updated the RPPB on 
the action plans for IBAN observations older than three years. The RPPB recommendations 
on the action plans are set out in the DCPS, RMCF, MSIAC and NFO Chapters. 
 
7. The RPPB agrees to continue with this year’s practice for the entities with 
observations open or in-progress for more than three years and recommends that the 
Council invite the respective entities to provide a remedial action plan to the Council clearly 
indicating the proposed actions, the task owner, the implementation milestones and 
deadlines on the implementation of the outstanding recommendations, submitted with the 
entity’s response on the IBAN audit of the 2022 financial statements. 

 
CHAPTER 1 IS 

 
8. During the 2021 audit, the IBAN made three observations and recommendations for 
the IS. The new observations related to the need to strengthen internal controls over the 
preparation of the financial statements and the Budget Execution Statement (BES), 
employee note disclosure that cannot be reconciled to information provided during the audit 
by Human Resources and on the standardization of the overtime planning, recording and 
approval processes. The IBAN followed up on the status of observations and 
recommendations from the previous years’ audits and found that four were closed and two 
remain in-progress. The IBAN closed observations related to the year-end confirmations 
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between NATO entities, improvements in the area of risk management, internal controls and 
internal audit and on the identified software deficiency. This year’s IS Observation 1 
supersedes 2020 financial year observation on the need to strengthen internal controls over 
the preparation of the financial statements. Observations are detailed in the document at 
reference A. 

8.1. IS Observation 1: The RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the IS 
strengthen internal controls over the preparation of the financial statements to provide a 
reasonable basis for obtaining assurance that financial statements are in compliance with 
the NAF (reference K) and NFR (reference J). In addition, the RPPB supports IBAN’s 
recommendation that the IS clarify the internal control process related to the approval of 
cash at bank and investment transfers between NATO Reporting Entities within the 
responsibilities of the OFC, by ensuring that this process and associated rules are included 
in a written procedure approved by both the FC and the Head of the NATO Body. 
 
8.2. IS Observation 2: The RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the IS improve 
the effectiveness of internal controls over the preparation of the note to the financial 
statements on employee disclosure. This can be achieved by developing a quality control 
checklist to document the reconciliation exercise between the employee disclosures in the 
financial statements and supporting evidence provided by the Human Resources Division. 
 
8.3. IS Observation 3: The RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the IS Human 
Resources standardise the overtime planning, review and approval process across IS, 
establish overtime guidelines and ensure that these activities are performed in the ERP 
system. In addition, the RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the IS review the 
current regulation in the Civilian Personnel Regulations (CPRs) Article 17.2.2 in order to 
provide clarification in which exceptional circumstances and events a staff member can be 
allowed to work overtime. 
 
CHAPTER 2 DCPS 
 

9. In 2021, the IBAN made no observations with recommendations for the DCPS. The 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the previous 
years’ audits and found that one remains in-progress. The observation is detailed in the 
document at reference B. 
 
9.1.   Observations in-progress or open for more than three years for the financial year 
2020: The FC provided an update on the 2015 financial year recommendation on the 
insufficient evidence to support a receivable and provision in the financial statements11. 
 

                                            
1 C-M(2017)0035-AS1 – IBAN Audit on the 2015 Financial Statements of the NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme (IBA-

AR(2016)28, paragraph 3): IBAN observation 3: Insufficient rights of the DCPS to a receivable recorded in the financial statements; 
IBAN’s recommendation: “The Board recommends the Secretary General, responsible for the administration and management of the 
DCPS, review this situation in order to clarify which NATO reporting entities have the right to this EUR 6 million, and, when received, 
who the funds should ultimately be returned to (e.g. nations, DCPS participants, etc.). 
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9.2. In the IBAN audit report at reference B, the IBAN acknowledged that considerable 
progress was made to reach out to non-active DCPS members in order to proceed with the 
payment, as evidenced by the reduced not yet distributed amount. The FC confirmed that 
this work continues until all non-active members are reached and that from its perspective 
the recommendation has been addressed and resolved. 

 
9.3. In order to take a practical and pragmatic approach, based on the information 
provided at the meeting held on 17 November, due to the small amount of unsettled funds, 
its gradual and continuous decrease, the RPPB supports the FC proposal and recommends 
that the FC continues with its efforts for the transfer of remaining funds. 
 
CHAPTER 3 RMCF 
 

10. During 2021, the IBAN made no observations and recommendations for the RMCF. 
The IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the previous 
years’ audits and found that two are open, one is closed, and one remains in-progress. The 
IBAN closed the observation associated with the organisation of the RMCF Supervisory 
Committee meeting in accordance with the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
Observations are detailed in the document at reference C. 
 
10.1. Observations in-progress or open for more than three years for the financial year 
2020: RMCF’s updated action plan (reference I) was presented to the RPPB at the meeting 
held on 17 November 2022, aligned to the information provided to IBAN. The RPPB 
welcomes the RMCF’s efforts to continue applying remedial actions with an aim to address 
IBAN recommendation for the financial year 2012 within deadlines set out in the action plan. 
 
10.2. In its audit report, the IBAN reiterates the need for more progress regards to the 
RMCF’s 2018 financial year observation for NATO as a whole to disclose post-employment 
liabilities on the face of NATO Reporting Entity Statement of Financial Position to comply 
with the IPSAS 39 (Employee Benefits). This issue of the use of IPSAS 39 for the RMCF 
accounting and reporting will be addressed through a separate RPPB report. 
 
CHAPTER 4 MSIAC  
 

11. The IBAN made no observations and recommendations for the MSIAC during the 
2021 financial year. The IBAN followed up on the status of observations and 
recommendations from the previous years’ audits and found that two remain in-progress. 
Observations are detailed in the document at reference D. 
 
11.1.  Observations in-progress or open for more than three years for the financial year 
2020: The FC presented her views on IBAN’s observation on the effort to achieve 
compliance with the revised NFRs, particularly those articles on internal control, risk 
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management and internal audit2 Regarding the IBAN’s recommendation for MSIAC to issue 
a risk management policy and that risk registers are developed and employed, the RPPB 
takes note that the MSIAC restructured its policy and process framework with the updated 
risk register approved by the MSIAC Steering Committee in September 2022 and this will 
be assessed by IBAN during 2022 MSIAC financial statements audit. 
 
11.2. As per IBAN’s recommendation, the MSIAC should ensure that internal audit 
activities are evaluating the MSIAC risk management and internal control3 Furthermore, 
given that the MSIAC is a separate reporting entity from the IS, the MSIAC needs to ensure 
that internal audit activities are conducted to evaluate its risk management and internal 
control based on its own risk-based methodology. Therefore, the MSIAC Project Manager 
has sought the support of NATO’s Office of Internal Audit and Risk Management (OIARM) 
to conduct an independent internal audit of the MSIAC’s risk management and COSO 
Internal Control Framework in line with the NFRs4. The FC argued that the arrangement is 
commensurate with MSIAC’s size and scale of activities (10 staff) and that further actions 
are to be taken by the OIARM and do not depend on MSIAC. 
 
11.3. Taking into account that the NFRs requirements on internal audit are applicable for 
all NATO entities, the RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the MSIAC needs to 
comply with the NFRs Article 13 in relation to the internal audit and consequently 
recommends the MSIAC to continue with its efforts to achieve compliance with the NFRs. 
 
CHAPTER 5 NCPS 

 
12. For the financial year 2021, the IBAN made three observations and 
recommendations for the NCPS, neither observation impacted the audit opinion on the 
financial statements or on compliance. Three new observations included the need to 
strengthen internal controls over the preparation of the financial statement and the BES, 
record keeping of pensioners’ files as well as on the improvements in the disclosure of the 
number of beneficiaries. Also, the IBAN followed up on the status of observations and 
recommendations from the previous years’ audits and found that two were closed, one 
remains in-progress and one remains open. In 2021, the IBAN closed the observations on 
the need to develop more effective internal controls over financial reporting (superseded by 
this year’s observation 1) and regarding an error in the bank account reconciliation process. 
Observations are detailed in the document at reference E.  
 

                                            
2 C-M(2018)0070-AS1; IBAN audit on the 2017, 2016 and 2015 financial statements of NATO Munitions Safety Information Analysis 

Centre (IBA-AR(2018)0001, paragraph 6); recommendation: “The Board recommends that MSIAC…d) Through outsourcing if 
considered to be more cost effective, ensure internal audit activities are evaluating MSIAC risk management and internal control.”   

3 NFRs, Art. 13, para 13.1: “All NATO bodies shall undertake internal audit activities in order to evaluate risk exposures and the 
effectiveness of internal controls in managing risk within the organization’s governance, operations and information systems.”   

4 NFRs, Article 13, para 13.2: “All NATO bodies shall have access to a permanent, adequately resourced, internal audit function,…..Based 

on a cost/benefit analysis and risk assessment, management can decide to set up an in-house internal audit function or to outsource 
the required internal audit capability.”   
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12.1. NCPS Observation 1: The RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the NCPS 
strengthen internal controls over the preparation of the financial statements to provide a 
reasonable basis for obtaining assurance that financial statements are in compliance with 
the NAF and NFR. 
 
12.2. NCPS Observation 2: The RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the IS 
Pensions Unit strengthen internal controls over record keeping of pensioners’ files. 
 
12.3. NCPS Observation 3: The RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the IS 
Pensions Unit in cooperation with the OFC improve the effectiveness of internal controls 
over the preparation of financial statements and provide, in a timely manner, the breakdown 
of affiliate data by NATO entity to support financial statements disclosure. 
 
12.4. In its audit report, the IBAN reiterates the need for more progress regards to the 
NCPS’s 2018 financial year observation for NATO as a whole to disclose post-employment 
liabilities on the face of NATO Reporting Entity Statement of Financial Position to comply 
with the IPSAS 39 (Employee Benefits). This issue of the use of IPSAS 39 for the NCPS 
accounting and reporting will be addressed through a separate RPPB report. 
 
CHAPTER 6 NFO 
 

13. For the financial year 2021, the IBAN made one observation and recommendation 
for the NFO. This observation does not impact the audit opinion on the financial statements 
and on compliance. The observation relates to the improvement needed in year-end 
confirmations of budgetary surpluses of the Ranges. Also, the IBAN followed up on the 
status of observations and recommendations from the previous years’ audits and found that 
two were closed, one remains in-progress and one remains open. The IBAN closed the 
observations on the internal control process for the preparation of financial statements and 
inconsistent recognition and disclosure of uncommitted appropriations of the Rangers 
(superseded by this year’s observation). Observations are detailed in the document at 
reference F. 
 
13.1. NFO Observation: The RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the NFO 
request the NFO Steering Committee to consider amending the FORACS Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) regarding accounting and audit. Furthermore, the RPPB supports 
IBAN’s recommendation that the NFO request national authorities responsible for the 
Ranges to confirm directly to IBAN that the budgetary accounts and surpluses to be included 
in Other Liabilities in the NFO financial statements were subject to independent external 
audit in accordance with national rules and that no audit findings were raised regarding these 
accounts. In addition, the RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the NFO ensure with 
the FC that all account balances and disclosures in the financial statements and notes are 
supported with sufficient and appropriate documentation. 
 
13.2. Observations in-progress or open for more than three years for the financial year 
2020: The FC presented her views on IBAN’s observation on the effort to achieve 
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compliance with the revised NFRs, particularly those articles on internal control, risk 
management and internal audit5. 
 
13.3. As per IBAN’s recommendation, the NFO should ensure that internal audit activities 
are evaluating the NFO risk management and internal control6. Furthermore, given that the 
NFO is a separate reporting entity from the IS, the NFO needs to ensure that internal audit 
activities are conducted to evaluate its risk management and internal control based on its 
own risk-based methodology. Therefore, the NFO Project Manager has sought the support 
of NATO’s Office of Internal Audit and Risk Management (OIARM) to conduct an 
independent internal audit of the NFO’s risk management and COSO Internal Control 
Framework in line with the NFRs7 The FC argued that the arrangement is commensurate 
with NFO’s size and scale of activities (4 staff; budget of EUR 2M) and that further actions 
are to be taken by the OIARM and do not depend on NFO. 
 
13.4. Taking into account that the NFRs requirements on internal audit are applicable for 
all NATO entities, the RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the NFO needs to 
comply with the NFRs Article 13 in relation to the internal audit and consequently 
recommends the NFO to continue with its efforts to achieve compliance with the NFRs. 
 
CONCLUSIONS   
 
14. In respect to prior years’ observations, the RPPB notes the improvements made by 
the IS, DCPS, RMCF, MSIAC, NCPS and NFO and welcomes their commitment to continue 
with the corrective actions in order to promptly implement pending recommendations. Prior 
years’ in-progress and closed observations are detailed in documents at reference A-F. 
 

15. The RPPB agrees to continue with this year’s practice for the entities with 
observations open or in-progress for more than three years and recommends that the 
Council invite the respective entities to provide a remedial action plan to the Council clearly 
indicating the proposed actions, the task owner, the implementation milestones and 
deadlines on the implementation of the outstanding recommendations, submitted with the 
entity’s response on the IBAN audit of the 2022 financial statements. 
 
IS 
 

                                            
5 C-M(2018)0032-AS1; IBAN audit on the 2015 and 2016 financial statements of the NATO FORACS Office; (IBA-AR(2017)22, paragraph 

7, 4d): “IBAN recommends that NFO…through outsourcing if considered to be more cost effective, ensure internal audit activities are 
evaluating NFO risk management and internal control.”   

6 NFRs, Art. 13, para 13.1: “All NATO bodies shall undertake internal audit activities in order to evaluate risk exposures and the 

effectiveness of internal controls in managing risk within the organization’s governance, operations and information systems.” 

7 NFRs, Article 13, para 13.2: “All NATO bodies shall have access to a permanent, adequately resourced, internal audit function,…..Based 

on a cost/benefit analysis and risk assessment, management can decide to set up an in-house internal audit function or to outsource 
the required internal audit capability.” 

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
3)

00
14

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED  
Releasable to Finland and Sweden 

 
   ANNEX 1 to 
 PO(2022)0518 (INV) 
 

 
NATO UNCLASSIFIED  

1-8 

16. The IBAN Audit Report set out unqualified opinions on the financial statements and 
on compliance of the IS. No new observations impacted the audit opinion for the IS in 2021. 
Three new observations were made for the IS. As of the date of the IBAN Audit Report on 
the 2021 financial statements, four prior year observations for the IS were closed (one 
superseded with current year observation) and two remain in-progress. 
 
17. The RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the IS strengthen internal controls 
over the preparation of the financial statements. In addition, it supports the IBAN’s 
recommendation that the IS clarify the internal control process related to the approval of 
cash at bank and investment transfers between NATO Reporting Entities within the 
responsibilities of the OFC. Moreover, the RPPB supports the IBAN’s recommendation that 
the IS improve the effectiveness of internal controls over the preparation of the note to the 
financial statements on employee disclosure and that the IS Human Resources standardise 
the overtime planning, review and approval process across IS, establish overtime guidelines 
and consequently review the CPRs. 
 
DCPS 

 
18. The IBAN made no observations for the DCPS in 2021. As of the date of the IBAN 
Audit Report on the 2021 financial statements, one prior year observation for the DCPS was 
in-progress. 
 
19. The FC provided an update on the 2015 financial year recommendation and 
confirmed that its work continues until all non-active members are reached and from its 
perspective there is no need for any further actions. Due to the small amount of unsettled 
funds and its gradual and continuous decrease, the RPPB supports the FC proposal and 
recommends that the FC continues with its efforts for the transfer of remaining funds. 
 
RMCF 
 

20. The IBAN made no observations for the RMCF in 2021. As of the date of the IBAN 
Audit Report on the 2021 financial statements, two prior year observations for the RMCF 
were open, one was closed and one remains in-progress. 
 
21. The RMCF action plan for the financial year 2012 recommendation was presented 
to the RPPB at the RPPB meeting. The RPPB welcomes the RMCF’s commitment to 
continue with its improvement in addressing IBAN recommendation pending for more than 
three years within deadlines set out in the action plan. In respect of prior year open 
observation, the RPPB notes that further steps should be taken as regards the disclosure of 
the post-employment liabilities to comply with the NAF. In this respect, the RPPB notes that 
the issue of post-employment liabilities will be addressed through a separate RPPB report. 

 
MSIAC 
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22. The IBAN made no observations for the MSIAC in 2021. As of the date of the IBAN 
Audit Report on the 2021 financial statements, two prior year observations for the MSIAC 
were in-progress. 
 
23. The FC provided an update on the 2015 financial year recommendation on 
compliance with the NFRs. The RPPB takes note that the MSIAC’s restructured policy and 
process framework will be assessed by IBAN during 2022 MSIAC financial statements audit. 
Taking into account that the NFRs requirements on internal audit are applicable for all NATO 
entities, the RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the MSIAC needs to comply with 
the NFRs Article 13 in relation to the internal audit and consequently recommends the 
MSIAC to continue with its efforts to achieve compliance with the NFRs. 
 
NCPS 
 
24. The IBAN Audit Report set out unqualified opinions on the financial statements and 
on compliance of the NCPS. No new observations impacted the audit opinion for the NCPS 
in 2021. Three new observations were made for the NCPS. As of the date of the respective 
IBAN Audit Report on the 2021 financial statements, two prior year observations for the 
NCPS were closed, one remains in progress and one remains open. 
 
25. The RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the NCPS strengthen internal 
controls over the preparation of the financial statements. In addition, the RPPB supports 
IBAN’s recommendations that the IS Pension Unit strengthen internal controls over record 
keeping of pensioners’ files and in cooperation with the OFC improve the effectiveness of 
internal controls over the preparation of financial statements and provide the breakdown of 
affiliate data by NATO entity. In respect of prior year open observation, the RPPB notes that 
further steps should be taken as regards the disclosure of the post-employment liabilities to 
comply with the NAF. In this respect, the RPPB notes that the issue of post-employment 
liabilities will be addressed through a separate RPPB report. 
 
NFO 
 
26. The IBAN Audit Report set out unqualified opinions on the financial statements and 
on compliance of the NFO. No new observations impacted the audit opinion for the NFO in 
2021. One new observation was made for the NFO. As of the date of the respective IBAN 
Audit Report on the 2021 financial statements, two prior year observations for the NFO were 
closed, one remains in progress and one remains open. 
 
27. The RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the NFO request the NFO 
Steering Committee to consider amending the FORACS MOU regarding accounting and 
audit. Furthermore, the RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the NFO request 
national authorities responsible for the Ranges to confirm to IBAN that the budgetary 
accounts and surpluses to be included in the NFO financial statements were subject to 
independent external audit and the result of that audit. In addition, the RPPB supports 
IBAN’s recommendation that the NFO ensure with the FC that all account balances and 
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disclosures in the financial statements and notes are supported with sufficient and 
appropriate documentation. 
 
28. The NFO action plan for the financial year 2015 recommendation was presented to 
the RPPB. Taking into account that the NFRs requirements on internal audit are applicable 
for all NATO entities, the RPPB supports IBAN’s recommendation that the NFO needs to 
comply with the NFRs Article 13 in relation to the internal audit and consequently 
recommends the NFO to continue with its efforts to achieve compliance with the NFRs. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
29. The Resource Policy and Planning Board recommends that the Council; 
 
29.1. note this report and the IBAN Audit Reports at references A to F; 
 
29.2. approve the conclusions at paragraphs 14 to 28; 
 
29.3. agree to the public disclosure of the 2021 financial statements of IS, DCPS, RMCF, 
MSIAC, NCPS and NFO, the associated IBAN Audit Reports (reference A to F) and this 
report in line with agreed policy at reference L. 
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International Board of Auditors for NATO  

1110 Brussels, Belgium 

Email: mailbox.IBAN@hq.nato.int 

 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division 
 Financial Controller, International Staff 
 Chair, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Resource Management Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
 
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Audit Report on the audit 

of the International Staff’s (IS) Financial Statements for the year ended 
31 December 2021 – IBA-AR(2022)0021 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Audit Report with a Summary Note for 
distribution to the Council.   
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
International Staff (IS) and on compliance for financial year 2021. 
  
 

Yours sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 On behalf of the IBAN Chair, 
 Amipal Manchanda  
 Board Member 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
International Staff (IS) 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
The International Staff (IS) supports the work of the North Atlantic Council and its 
Committees. Total expenses disclosed in the 2021 Financial Statements was 
approximately EUR 299 million. 
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements resubmitted to IBAN 
on 07 July 2022 and on compliance for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
IBAN made three observations and recommendations. These observations do not 
impact the audit opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance: 
 

1. Need to strengthen internal controls over the preparation of the financial 
statements and the budget execution statement. 
 

2. Employee Note Disclosure cannot be reconciled to information provided by 
Human Resources. 

 
3. Standardisation of the overtime planning, recording and approval processes. 
 

IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that four were closed and two remain in progress.   
 
The Audit Report was issued to the International Staff (IS) whose comments have 
been included, with the IBAN’s position on those comments where necessary. 
 
The observations and recommendations and the follow-up of the previous years’ 
observations and recommendations that are not in the Audit Report are included in a 
Management Letter addressed to IS management. This is because IBAN considers 
that these matters are to be addressed by Management and therefore fall under IS 
executive responsibility. 
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24 August 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDIT REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
 

INTERNATIONAL STAFF 
 

(IS) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC 
COUNCIL 
 
Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of International Staff (IS), for the 12 month period ended 31 December 
2021, issued under document reference FC(2022)0059-REV2, and resubmitted to 
IBAN on 07 July 2022. These Financial Statements comprise the Statement of 
Financial Position as at 31 December 2021, the Statement of Financial Performance, 
the Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity and the Statement of Cash Flow, for 
the 12 month period ended 31 December 2021, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes. In addition, the Financial Statements 
include a Budget Execution Statement for the 12 month period ended 31 December 
2021.  
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of International Staff (IS) as at 31 December 2021, and of its financial 
performance, its cash flows and budget execution for the 12 month period ended 
31 December 2021, in accordance with accounting requirements and reporting 
standards consistent with the NATO Accounting Framework (NAF).  
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Restated Financial 
Statements» and in our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of International Staff (IS) are drawn up in accordance with 
accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting 
Framework as approved by the Council. The Financial Controller is responsible for 
submitting the Financial Statements for audit to IBAN not later than 31st March following 
the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
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Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Secretary General is responsible and accountable for sound financial 
management. The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must 
incorporate the principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, 
risk management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud 
prevention and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 24 August 2022 
 
 
 
 

 On behalf of the IBAN Chair, 
 Amipal Manchanda  
 Board Member 
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
IBAN made three observations and recommendations. These observations do not 
impact the audit opinion on the financial statements and on compliance: 
 

1. Need to strengthen internal controls over the preparation of the financial 
statements and the budget execution statement. 
 

2. Employee Note Disclosure cannot be reconciled to information provided by 
Human Resources. 

 
3. Standardisation of the overtime planning, recording and approval processes. 
 

IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that four were closed and two remain in progress.   
 
The Audit Report was issued to the International Staff (IS) whose comments have 
been included, with the IBAN’s position on those comments where necessary. 
 
The observations and recommendations and the follow-up of the previous years’ 
observations and recommendations that are not in the Audit Report are included in a 
Management Letter addressed to IS management. This is because IBAN considers 
that these matters are to be addressed by Management and therefore fall under IS 
executive responsibility. 
 
 
1. NEED TO STRENGHTEN INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER THE 

PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE BUDGET 
EXECUTION STATEMENT 

 
Reasoning  
 
1.1 According to IPSAS 1, the Financial Statements shall present fairly the 
Financial Position, Financial Performance, and cash flows of an entity. Fair 
presentation requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other 
events, and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for 
assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses set out in IPSAS.  
 
1.2 Article 6 of the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs) requires the Financial 
Controller to exercise the responsibility of budgeting, accounting and reporting 
activities of the NATO entity. This includes being responsible for the Financial internal 
control system established, and for the preparation of the Financial Statements in 
accordance with the NATO Accounting Framework. 
 
1.3 A key part of any system of internal control is to ensure adequate processes 
are in place for the preparation, review and reporting of the Financial Statements. 
Adequate review procedures are necessary to provide a reasonable basis for 
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obtaining assurance that financial statements are in compliance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework. 
 
1.4 The NFRs and the Financial Controller Delegation of Authority for Financial 
Matters describe the rules applicable to transfers of appropriations. However, they do 
not include any specific rules or responsibilities concerning cash at bank and 
investment transfers between NATO Reporting Entities. In the absence of an explicit 
regulation or rule, Article 12 of the NFRs therefore allocates the ultimate responsibility 
to safeguard of assets, including cash, to the Head of NATO Reporting Entities. 
 
Observations 
 
1.5 IBAN identified misstatements during the audit of the IS Financial Statements 
first submitted to IBAN on 31 March 2022, as described below. These misstatements, 
some of which are material, were corrected in the Resubmitted Financial Statements 
submitted to IBAN on 23 June 2022 and on 07 July 2022.  
 
a) Understatement of expenses and revenue  
 

 We found that expenses and revenue for the segment ‘Summit Cash Advance’ 
amounting to EUR 2,642,429 were not included in the Statement of Financial 
Performance in the 2021 IS Financial Statements. Therefore, expenses and 
revenue recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance were 
understated by EUR 2,642,429.  

 
b) Deferred revenue related to Morale, Welfare and Recreational Activities (MWR) not 
included  
 

 The IS received new information on Morale, Welfare and Recreational Activities 
(MWR) which led to recognition of deferred revenue for Sports and 
Memberships and impacted the "Non-exchange revenue" in the MWR segment 
amounting to EUR 67,491. Therefore, Non-exchange revenue was overstated 
by EUR 67,491 and deferred revenue recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance understated by EUR 67,491.  

 
c) Financial assets and liabilities for NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme (also 
referred to as the DBPS) funds held on IS bank accounts not recognised in the IS 
Financial Statements 
 

 As at 31 December 2021, NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme funds 
amounting to EUR 109 million were temporarily transferred to and held on IS 
bank accounts (with two different banks) and accounted for in the IS general 
accounting ledger. These funds, which belong to the DBPS, were temporarily 
held in the bank accounts of IS, a separate NATO Reporting Entity from DBPS, 
in order to reduce the effect of negative interest rates, as described in the IS 
Treasury Policy. 
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 Although these bank balances and investments amounting to EUR 109 million 
were booked in its general accounting ledger, IS did not recognise these 
financial assets and the associated financial liabilities to DBPS in the IS 2021 
Statement of Financial Position as required by IPSAS 28, Financial 
Instruments: Presentation. Rather, these funds were treated as DBPS funds 
and directly recognised in its general purpose financial statements, despite the 
funds being temporarily held on IS bank accounts. 
 

 We also found that EUR 30,891 related to bank interest generated from DBPS 
funds were incorrectly recognised in the IS 2021 Financial Statements as IS 
revenue. This interest should not be recognised as revenue but as a liability 
towards DBPS.  

 
1.6 The Financial Controller approved transfers of cash at bank and investments 
from DBPS to IS in accordance with the Policy on cash holdings and Investments 
made by NATO-IS Treasury on behalf on NATO-IS and other agencies. However, this 
process was not included in a procedure approved by the Secretary General in 
accordance with Article 12 of the NFRs. 

 
1.7 If recurring temporary cash transfers are granted between separate NATO 
Reporting Entities, it is important that the process and associated terms and conditions 
are included in a procedure approved by the Financial Controller and also by the Head 
of the NATO Body in compliance with Article 12 of the NFRs on internal control. 
 
Recommendations 
 
1.8 IBAN recommends that International Staff (IS): 
 

a) Strengthen internal controls over the preparation of the financial 
statements to provide a reasonable basis for obtaining assurance that 
financial statements are in compliance with the NATO Accounting 
Framework and NATO Financial Regulations. 

 
b) Clarify the internal control process related to the approval of cash at bank 

and investment transfers between NATO Reporting Entities within the 
responsibilities of the OFC, by ensuring that this process and associated 
rules are included in a written procedure approved by the Head of the 
NATO Body. 

 
 
2. EMPLOYEE NOTE DISCLOSURE CANNOT BE RECONCILED TO 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY HUMAN RESOURCES 
 
Reasoning  
 
2.1 The NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs) require the Financial Controller (FC) 
to exercise the responsibility of budgeting, accounting and reporting activities of the 
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NATO entity. This includes being responsible for the financial internal control system 
and for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the NATO 
Accounting Framework. 
 
2.2 According to the NATO Accounting Framework (NAF):  

- A complete set of financial statements comprises “[…] Notes, comprising 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.”  

- Notes shall “[…] Provide additional information that is not presented on 
the face of the statement of financial position, statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in net assets/equity or cash flow 
statement, but that is relevant to an understanding of any of them” 
(IPSAS 1).  

 
2.3 This means that the notes to the financial statements are an integral part of 
the financial statements and need to be fairly presented. 
 
2.4 It is important to ensure that information provided in the notes to the financial 
statements is compliant with the NATO Accounting Framework to ensure that financial 
statements are complete and present fairly the financial information of IS to the users 
of general purpose financial statements. 
 
Observations 
 
2.5 IBAN reviewed Note 36, Employee Disclosure of the IS Financial Statements 
and found errors related to the number of personnel reported. In Note 36, the total 
filled positions, arrivals and departures in 2021 could not be reconciled to the 
supporting documentation provided by the Human Resources Division. In addition, the 
number of staff participating in the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme (DCPS) and 
NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme (also referred to as the DBPS) could not be 
reconciled to supporting information. 
 
2.6 Note 36 of the IS 2021 Financial Statements disclosed that the total approved 
post establishment in 2021 was 1196 NATO Civilians. However, according to the 
budget approval document BC-D(2021)0028 (INV) dated 05 February 2021, the total 
approved posts for 2021 are 1184, which is 12 positions less then reported in Note 36 
of the Financial Statements. 
 
2.7 Furthermore, Note 36 discloses 1063 filled positions as of 31 December 2021, 
while the number of filled positions according to the Human Resources Division is 
1066, which is three positions more than in Note 36 of the Financial Statements. 
 
2.8 Finally, Note 36 discloses 121 arrivals and 107 departures in the year, while 
according to the Human Resources Division there were 103 arrivals and 84 departures 
in 2021, which is 18 arrivals and 23 departures less. 
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Recommendations 
 
2.9 IBAN recommends that the International Staff (IS) improve the effectiveness 
of internal controls over the preparation of the note of the financial statements on 
employee disclosure. This can be achieved by developing a quality control checklist 
to document the reconciliation exercise between the employee disclosures in the 
financial statements and supporting evidence provided by the Human Resources 
Division. 

 
 

3. STANDARDISATION OF THE OVERTIME PLANNING, RECORDING AND 
APPROVAL PROCESSES 

 
Reasoning  
 
3.1 Article 17 of the Civilian Personnel Regulations (CPRs) defines special 
working hours that includes night work, overtime and shift work. Overtime is described 
in Article 17.2.1 as time worked in excess of the total of weekly working hours 
prescribed under Article 15.1 of the CPRs.  
 
3.2 According to Article 17.2.2, the number of overtime hours worked must be kept 
to a minimum and to this end overtime must be authorised in advance by an official or 
officials designated by the Head of the NATO body. This Article also specifies that 
normally, no member of the staff shall be required to work more than 15 hours overtime 
in any one week, or more than 30 hours in any one month.  
 
Observations 
 
3.3 Total overtime expenses in the IS amounted to EUR 1.8 million in 2021 and 
EUR 2.4 million in 2020. In the course of our audits of the payroll expenses, we review 
overtime payments. The review was carried out with regard to the overtime planning, 
review and approval process. These overtime payments were incurred by different 
divisions of the IS. The audit of the overtime expenses revealed that divisions have 
different processes in place for the planning, review and approval of the time worked 
in excess of normal working hours.  
 
3.4 In some divisions, the overtime recorded by the staff member on paper is 
crosschecked with the prior planning and approved by the designated officials. After 
approval, the information is consolidated and transmitted by a Support Unit to the 
Payroll Unit for payment.  
 
3.5 In other Divisions, the overtime planning starts with a proposal for overtime to 
be worked made by the staff member. The staff member uploads the overtime claim 
to the Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system. The approval is done by the 
supervisor based on justification provided by the staff member.  
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3.6 To our understanding, a number of IS Divisions use the ERP system to record 
and approve the overtime directly in the system. Other divisions carry out the review 
and the approval of overtime outside of the ERP system and only record the overtime 
hours worked in the ERP system for payment purposes.  
 
3.7 The audit also revealed that no standardised IS overtime guidelines, including 
procedure to register, encode and approve overtime in the ERP system exist, and only 
one division provided IBAN with their own overtime guidelines.  
 
3.8 We also found that the overtime hours worked by a number of staff members 
in one month largely exceeded the number of overtime hours that a staff member can 
be required to work according to Article 17.2.2. of the CPRs.  
 
Recommendations 
 
3.9 IBAN recommends that International Staff (IS) Human Resources to: 
 

a) Standardise the overtime planning, review and approval process across IS 
and establish overtime guidelines.  
 

b) Ensure that the planning, review and approval of overtime are performed in 
the ERP system. The ERP system should be adapted to accommodate the 
requirement to manage the overtime of all Divisions/Independent Offices and 
the HQ Security Force in the system.  

 
c) Ensure that the respective responsibilities of IS Human Resources and 

Divisions/Independent Offices be made clear in the overtime guidelines with 
regard to overtime being authorised in advance, and overtime hours worked 
entered into the ERP system on a weekly basis and matched to the overtime 
hours planned and approved.  

 
d) Review the current regulation in the CPRs Article 17.2.2 in order to provide 

clarification in which exceptional circumstances and events a staff member 
can be allowed to work more than 15 hours overtime in any one week, or more 
than 30 hours in any one month, taking into consideration the health and 
safety aspects generated by the overtime. 

 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations and recommendations, the actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by 
IBAN, and their status are summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
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recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 
 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

(1) IS FY 2020 
IBA-AR(2021)0034, paragraph 1.7 
 
NEED FOR INSTRUCTION ON THE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF EXTRA DUTIES 
ALLOWANCE 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that IS Human 
Resources issue instructions regarding the 
implementation of extra duties allowances 
as per Article 32 in the CPRs. The 
instructions should include clearly defined 
criteria in order to assess which duties and 
responsibilities a staff member replacing an 
incumbent can assume and for what period 
of time. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Advisory Panel on 
Administration considered the 
guidelines on the application of 
Article 32 of CPRs which were 
prepared by the Human 
Resources Division for 
potential application NATO-
wide, and which are also 
intended to cover the criteria 
mentioned in IBAN’s 
recommendation. The 
guidelines are under review in 
view of approval by the senior 
leadership. 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
In-Progress 
 
 
 

(2) IS FY 2020 
IBA-AR(2021)0034, paragraph 2.5 
 
NEED TO STRENGTHEN INTERNAL 
CONTROLS OVER THE PREPARATION 
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that IS strengthen 
internal controls over the preparation of the 
financial statements in order to avoid 
manual errors during the preparation of the 
financial statements. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Superseded by this year’s 
Observation 1.  
 

 
 
Observation 
Closed 
 
 
 

(3) IS FY 2020 
IBA-AR(2021)0034, paragraph 3.12 
 
SOFTWARE DEFICIENCY IDENTIFIED 
AFFECTING THE STATEMENT OF 
BUDGET EXECUTION AND THE 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that IS should: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a) and b) The ERP upgrade 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

a) Introduce specific documented internal 
controls over the Projects module to ensure 
that commitments are not overstated by 
error, until the deficiency in the IT system is 
fixed by the software provider; 
 
b) Reconcile the amounts committed 
reported in the Projects module to the 
accounting module to ensure accuracy of 
the financial statements. 
 

performed during fourth quarter 
2021 addressed the OFC 
reported software deficiency.  
No issues were found during 
this year’s audit.  
 
 

(4) IS FY 2019  
IBA-AR(2020)0013, paragraph 3  
 
UNRECONCILED CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that IS should: 
 
a) Verify the amounts reported by NATO 
Satellite Offices before the issuance of the 
financial statements. 
 
 
 
b) Ensure that the month-end petty cash 
balances of NATO Satellite Offices do not 
exceed the EUR 500 ceiling and are zero 
on 31 December each year. 
 
 
c) Write-off the loss in petty cash Account 
n° 570104, after a full investigation as 
required by article 17 of the NFRs. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a) The OFC is still reviewing 
their current procedures and 
practices. Further analysis is 
underway by the OFC. 
Observation: In-Progress 
 
b) We found instances where 
the NASO Petty Cash balances 
on 31 December 2021 was not 
0 (zero). Observation: In-
Progress 
 
c) This sub-observation was 
closed in IBA-AR(2021)0034. 
Observation: Closed. 
 

 
 
 
 
Observation 
In-Progress 
 
 
 

(5) IS FY 2018 
IBA-AR(2019)0020, paragraph 1.9  
 
IMPROVEMENTS REQUIRED IN THE 
AREA OF RISK MANAGEMENT, 
INTERNAL CONTROLS AND INTERNAL 
AUDIT  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that, as a matter of 
priority, the IS ensure that it complies with 
all the requirements of the new NFRs and 
FRPs, namely on Risk Management and 
Internal Control. This should include, but 
not be limited to:  
 
a) Completing the entity-wide risk 
management policy throughout the IS and 
developing a consolidated risk register 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IBAN acknowledges the 
progress made in internal 
controls and risk management 
procedures, namely:  
 
 
 
a) IS selected COSO as the 
reference internal control 
framework at the end of 2019, 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

covering all cross-functional 
interdependencies.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
b) Assessing and documenting the system 
of internal control and risk management to 
support compliance with the NFRs and 
FRPs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
c) Performing audits by the Internal Audit 
Service in view of evaluating the 
appropriateness, quality and effectiveness 
of internal control and risk management 
throughout the IS.  
 
 

established the Office of 
Internal Audit and Risk 
Management (OIARM) and 
approved its risk management 
policy in 2020. Improvements 
were also made in internal 
control and risk management 
practices. The High Level Risk 
Register (HLRR) covering IS 
key risks were developed by 
the OIARM with the support 
from all Divisions 
(DIV)/Independent Offices 
(IOs), and validated in May 
2021 (PO(2021)0055). The 
HLRR is under regular review 
and mitigation measures are 
being implemented by the 
DIV/IOs that own risks or sub-
risks. OIARM launched an 
update of the Divisional and 
HLRR in March 2022. 
Observation: Closed.  
 
b) IS selected the COSO 
internal control framework and 
OIARM is assessing and 
documenting the system of 
internal control and risk 
management procedures. 
Taking into account the fact 
that these are continuous 
processes we consider this 
observation as implemented. 
Observation: Closed.  
 
c) IBAN notes that the OFC 
engaged with the NATO’s 
Office of Internal Audit and 
Risk Management (OIARM) 
regarding an independent 
assessment of the COSO 
Internal Control framework 
adopted in 2019. OIARM 
performs internal audits within 
its audit resource capacity (1.5 
auditor in 2021) in view of 
evaluating the 
appropriateness, quality and 
effectiveness of internal control 
and risk management 
throughout the IS.  
Observation: Closed.  
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

(6) IS FY 2018 
IBA-AR(2019)0020, paragraph 3.4 
 
YEAR-END CONFIRMATIONS 
BETWEEN NATO ENTITIES 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that the IS formalise 
effective procedures in order to confirm the 
outstanding asset and liability balances it 
has with other NATO bodies as part of the 
preparation of the financial statements. In 
case of discrepancies, the IS should 
organise a reconciliation meeting with other 
NATO Bodies, in order to clarify any 
outstanding items. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IS provided evidence that a 
confirmation process was 
implemented as part of the 
preparation of the financial 
statements. Some 
discrepancies were identified 
and explanations were 
provided in the supporting 
documentation. 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed 
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INTERNATIONAL STAFF (IS) FORMAL COMMENTS ON THE AUDIT REPORT 
AND THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 
 
OBSERVATION 1: 
NEED TO STRENGHTEN INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER THE PREPARATION OF 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE BUDGET EXECUTION STATEMENT 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
 
a) Comments on the observations : 

 

Summit Cash Advance: 
 

 Even though the segment ‘Summit Cash Advance’ displayed the 
expenses and revenue in the Financial Statements, the total amount did 
not include the amounts of the segment. This issue was caused by an 
Excel error, which was resolved and correct in the restated 2021 
Financial Statements of NATO IS. 

 
Deferred revenue related to Morale, Welfare and Recreational Activities 
(MWR) not included: 
 

 The main contractor of MWR released the 2021 revenue breakdown 
figures after the issuance of the 2021 Financial Statements. The newly 
provided data, although considered immaterial, was taken into account 
when issuing the restated 2021 Financial Statements of NATO IS. 

 
b) The IS Treasury works with the banks that comply with strict European 

and national regulations and have limited understanding of the 
particularities of the international law under which NATO operates. The 
negative interest rates imposed by the European Central Bank 
discouraged banks from accepting new customers and/or new deposits. 
Within this challenging environment, IS Treasury needed to ensure that 
the entrusted funds are protected from the negative interest rate to the 
maximum extent possible. IS Treasury was forced to look for new banks 
willing to accept cash entrusted by the Allies and to do so, it needed to 
adjust and adhere to the banks’ requirements and limitations. 
 

The two new banks (Credit Agricole and Arkea) opened multiple bank 
accounts for the entities sharing the same legal personality. This resulted 
in the establishment of bank accounts for “OTAN” (Arkea) or “Association 
NATO HQ” (Credit Agricole), created for the use of all entities served by 
the IS Treasury. Each entity in need of additional banking space can use 
those bank accounts and the cash belongs to this entity, is managed by 
this entity and only this entity has a control over it. 

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
3)

00
14

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 

IBA-AR(2022)0021 
 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
-18- 

The 2021 Financial Statements have been restated considering IBAN's 
position. 

 
 
OBSERVATION 2: 
EMPLOYEE NOTE DISCLOSURE CANNOT BE RECONCILED TO INFORMATION 
PROVIDED BY HUMAN RESOURCES 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
 
The IS agrees with the IBAN recommendation to strengthen internal control 
over the preparation of employee data for the financial statements. The EM-
HR, owner of the process, will nominate a single point of contact within HR 
Staff Services who does the necessary internal controls before providing an 
official consolidated data to the OFC. IBAN will be given that point of contact. 
 
 

OBSERVATION 3: 
STANDARDISATION OF THE OVERTIME PLANNING, RECORDING AND 
APPROVAL PROCESSES 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
 
IS-HR concurs with the IBAN’s recommendations. With respect to 
Recommendation c) it agrees on the need for guidelines and wishes to stress 
the important responsibility of Divisions and Independent Offices (IOs) since 
IS-HR does not have the required resources to ensure the necessary 
centralised oversight on a daily basis. It agrees that such guidelines should 
also cover the application of Article 17.2.2 of CPRs as mentioned in 
Recommendation d). 
 
IS-HR fully concurs with the overall objective of having the overtime of all staff 
managed in the same way through ERP. However further work is required to 
adapt ERP in that regard and to fully incorporate management of overtime for 
e.g. the HQ Security Force in the system. 
 
The work that will be required to put in place the recommended changes will 
be significant and will need to be taken into account alongside other priority 
commitments, furthermore, budget will be required to perform this change and 
EM-HR will need the cooperation of other divisions and IO’, which will impact 
the timeline. 
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FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(1) IS 2020 FY 
IBA-AR(2021)0034, paragraph 1.7 
NEED FOR INSTRUCTION ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF EXTRA DUTIES 
ALLOWANCE 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 
 

(2) IS 2020 FY 
IBA-AR(2021)0034, paragraph 2.5 
NEED TO STRENGTHEN INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER THE PREPARATION OF 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 

 
Agreed. 
 
 

(3) IS 2020 FY 
IBA-AR(2021)0034, paragraph 3.12 
SOFTWARE DEFICIENCY IDENTIFIED AFFECTING THE STATEMENT OF 
BUDGET EXECUTION AND THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 

 
Agreed. 
 
 

(4) IS 2019 FY 
IBA-AR(2020)0013, paragraph 3 
UNRECONCILED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 

 
Agreed. 
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(5) IS 2018 FY 
IBA-AR(2019)0020, paragraph 1.9 
IMPROVEMENTS REQUIRED IN THE AREA OF RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL 
CONTROLS AND INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 

 
Agreed. 
 
 

(6) IS 2018 FY 
IBA-AR(2019)0020, paragraph 3.4 
YEAR-END CONFIRMATIONS BETWEEN NATO ENTITIES 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 

 
Agreed. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 
 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 

express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 
 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 

pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 
In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 
 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 

attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements.  

 
 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 

matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report.  

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
3)

00
14

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



  

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 

IBA-A(2022)0094 
20 July 2022 

 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 -1- 
International Board of Auditors for NATO  

1110 Brussels, Belgium 

Email: mailbox.IBAN@hq.nato.int 

 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division 
 Financial Controller, International Staff  
 Chair, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Resource Management Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
 
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Audit Report on the audit 

of the NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme’s (DCPS) Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 – IBA-AR(2022)0009 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Audit Report with a Summary Note for 
distribution to the Council.   
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
NATO DCPS and on compliance for financial year 2021. 
  

Yours sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 Daniela Morgante 
 Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme (DCPS) 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) audited the NATO Defined 
Contribution Pension Scheme (DCPS), which is a money purchase pension scheme 
that includes contributions from staff recruited on or after 1 July 2005, as well as 
employer contributions from NATO. The value of the NATO DCPS’s net assets 
available for benefits at 31 December 2021 was EUR 742.6 million (at the end of 2020, 
EUR 595.5 million). The DCPS had 5,162 members at 31 December 2021 (at the end 
of 2020, 4,795 members).  
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance 
for the year ended 31 December 2021.  
 
IBAN made no observations and recommendations.  
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that one remains in-progress. 
 
The Audit Report was issued to the International Staff whose comments have been 
included, with the IBAN’s position on those comments where necessary.  
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20 July 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDIT REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
 

NATO DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION SCHEME  
(DCPS) 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC 
COUNCIL 
 
Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme, for the 12 month period 
ended 31 December 2021, issued under document reference FC(2022)0050, and 
submitted to IBAN on 31 March 2021. These Financial Statements comprise the 
Statement of Net Assets Available for Benefits as at 31 December 2021, the Statement 
of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits for the period ended 31 December 
2021 and the Explanatory Notes, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the Statement of 
Net Assets Available for Benefits of the NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme 
as at 31 December 2021, and of its Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for 
Benefits for the period ended 31 December 2021, in accordance with accounting 
requirements and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting 
Framework (NAF), including via the hierarchy in International Public Sector Accounting 
Standards (IPSAS) 3 with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 26, Accounting and 
Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans. 
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme are drawn up in 
accordance with accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with the 
NATO Accounting Framework as approved by the Council. The Financial Controller is 
responsible for submitting the Financial Statements for audit to IBAN not later than 31st 
March following the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
  

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
3)

00
14

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 

IBA-AR(2022)0009 
 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
-6- 

Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Secretary General is responsible and accountable for sound financial 
management. The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must 
incorporate the principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, 
risk management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud 
prevention and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 20 July 2022 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair  
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
IBAN made no new observations and recommendations. 

 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that one remains in-progress. 
 
The Audit Report was issued to the International Staff whose comments have been 
included, with the IBAN’s position on those comments where necessary. 
 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations and recommendations, the actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by 
IBAN, and their status are summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 
 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

(1) DCPS FY 2015  
IBA-AR(2016)28, paragraph 3  
INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT 
A RECEIVABLE AND PROVISION IN THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
The Board recommends the Secretary 
General, responsible for the administration 
and management of the DCPS, review this 
situation as soon as possible in order to 
clarify NATO’s agreement to this proposed 
compensation, which NATO reporting entity 
has the right to it, and, if received, who the  
funds should ultimately be returned to (e.g. 
nations, DCPS participants, etc.).  
  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In December 2018, the 
Secretary General 
recommended that one third of 
the compensatory payment 
from the Insurer (EUR 1.726 
million) should be distributed to 
those affiliates who actively  
contributed to the major risk 
insurance during the period 
between 1 January 2012 and 
31 December 2015. This 
amount was paid by the Insurer 
to DCPS in May 2019.  
As at 31 December 2021, the 
amount not yet distributed was 
approximately EUR 0.12 

 
 
Observation 
In-Progress  
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

million, related to staff who 
have left the organisation. This 
amount has decreased by 
EUR 0.43 million compared to 
EUR 0.55 million as at 31 
December 2020. As the 
payments to the affiliates are 
still ongoing, the status will be 
re-assessed as part of the audit 
of the 2022 Financial 
Statements.  
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INTERNATIONAL STAFF (IS) FORMAL COMMENTS ON THE AUDIT REPORT 
AND THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 
 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(1) DCPS FY 2015  
IBA-AR(2016)28, paragraph 3  
INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A RECEIVABLE AND PROVISION IN 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Not agreed. 
 
The pass through of the NATO reporting entities part was dealt with during the 
2019 FS and the resulting payment in 2020. 
 
As per 31 December 2021, the not yet distributed amount was EUR 
117,764.71. This amount corresponds to the dues towards non-active DCPS 
members whereby the NATO Pensions Unit has to reach out to each individual 
to obtain correct data in order to proceed with the payment. The latter has 
proven to be a cumbersome and lengthy process, will continue in 2022.  
 
The IBAN recommendation states the following: to clarify NATO's agreement 
for the compensation and to whom the funds should be returned. Both points 
of the recommendation have been addressed and resolved.  
 
Since the initial observation is no longer applicable, OFC IS proposes to 
consider this observation closed. 

 
IBAN’s Position 
  
IBAN acknowledges that considerable progress was made to reach out to non-
active DCPS members in order to proceed with the payment, as evidenced by 
the reduced not yet distributed amount at 31 December 2021 as compared to the 
prior year. Nevertheless, the DCPS will need to decide who the funds should 
ultimately be returned to in the case the NATO Pension Unit is unable to contact 
some of the remaining non-active members. IBAN therefore maintains the status 
of this recommendation as in-progress. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 
 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 

express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 
 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 

pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 
In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 
 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 

attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements.  

 
 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 

matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report.  
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International Board of Auditors for NATO  

1110 Brussels, Belgium 

Email: mailbox.IBAN@hq.nato.int 

 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division 
 Financial Controller, International Staff 
 Chair, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Resource Management Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
 
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Audit Report on the audit 

of the NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF) Financial Statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2021 – IBA-AR(2022)0025 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Audit Report with a Summary Note for 
distribution to the Council.   
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF) and on compliance for financial year 2021. 
  

Yours sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 On behalf of the IBAN Chair, 
 Amipal Manchanda  
 Board Member 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF) 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
The NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF) was set up with effect from 
1 January 2001 pursuant to Council approval of PO(2000)123. The purpose was to 
establish a reserve to ensure that sufficient funds are available for the years to come 
to enable NATO to meet its obligations to pay the medical expenses of eligible retired 
staff members and their recognised dependants. 
 
The fund has a Supervisory Committee established to oversee the management of the 
fund. The Committee meets at least twice a year. 
 
In 2021, contributions from NATO Reporting Entities and staff were EUR 31 million. 
Insurance premiums paid out of these receipts were EUR 29 million in 2021. At the end 
of 2021, the fund manager held EUR 428 million on behalf of NATO. 
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance 
for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
IBAN made no observations and recommendations. IBAN followed up on the status of 
observations and recommendations from the previous years’ audits and found that two 
are open, one is closed, and one remains in progress.   
 
The Audit Report was issued to RMCF whose comments provided by the International 
Staff (IS) have been included, with the IBAN’s position on those comments where 
necessary. 
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24 August 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDIT REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
 

NATO RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND 
 

(RMCF) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC 
COUNCIL 
 
Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF), for the 12 month period 
ended 31 December 2021, issued under document reference FC (2022)0056 and 
submitted to IBAN on 31 March 2022. These Financial Statements comprise the 
Statement of Net Assets Available for Benefits as at 31 December 2021, the Statement 
of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits for the period ended 31 December 
2021 and the Explanatory Notes, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the Statement of 
Net Assets Available for Benefits of the NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund as at 31 
December 2021, and of its Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits 
for the period ended 31 December 2021, in accordance with accounting requirements 
and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting Framework (NAF) 
including via the hierarchy in International Public Sector Accounting Standards 
(IPSAS) 3 with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 26, Accounting and Reporting 
by Retirement Benefit Plans. 
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of RMCF are drawn up in accordance with accounting 
requirements and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting 
Framework as approved by the Council. The Financial Controller is responsible for 
submitting the Financial Statements for audit to IBAN not later than 31st March following 
the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
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with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Secretary General is responsible and accountable for sound financial 
management. The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must 
incorporate the principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, 
risk management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud 
prevention and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 24 August 2022 
 
 
 
 

 On behalf of the IBAN Chair, 
 Amipal Manchanda  
 Board Member 
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
IBAN made no observations and recommendations.  
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that two are open, one is closed, and one remains in 
progress.   
 
The Audit Report was issued to RMCF whose comments provided by the International 
Staff (IS) have been included, with the IBAN’s position on those comments where 
necessary. 
 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations and recommendations, the actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by 
IBAN and their status are summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 
 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

(1) RMCF FY 2020 
IBA-AR(2021)0035, paragraph 1 
 
DISCLOSURE OF PRIOR PERIOD 
ERRORS IN THE ESTIMATION OF THE 
POST-EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL 
SCHEME OBLIGATION 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends the IS to strengthen 
internal controls over the reporting of Post-
Employment Obligations by establishing 
and documenting a procedure which:  
 
a) Introduces specific internal controls 
over the completeness and accuracy of 
data provided to the ISRP for the annual 
actuarial report; 

 
b) Ensures the availability of a complete 
audit trail of all data received from NATO 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a) and b) The Human 
Resources Division is working 
on a methodology to ensure 
the completeness and 
accuracy of the data provided 
by other NATO bodies on the 
number of affiliates to the 

 
 
 
Observation 
Open 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

entities and sent to the ISRP as input for the 
preparation of the annual actuarial report; 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
c) Strengthens existing internal controls 
over the financial reporting process in order 
to disclose key information included in the 
annual actuarial report prepared by the 
ISRP. 
 
 
 
 
 

RMCF. This is in order to 
improve the quality of data 
provided to the International 
Service for Remunerations and 
Pensions (ISRP). To date, no 
formal information has been 
provided to IBAN or the Office 
of Financial Control on this 
matter. As a result, IBAN will 
review progress on the 
implementation of this 
recommendation as part of its 
audit of the RMCF 2022 
Financial Statements. Open 
 
c) The financial reporting 
process was improved relating 
to the RMCF 2021 Financial 
Statements. Our audit did not 
reveal errors in Note 3 to the 
Financial Statements 
summarising the actuarial 
study carried out by ISRP. 
Closed. 

(2) RMCF FY 2020 
IBA-AR(2021)0035, paragraph 2 
 
ORGANISATION OF RMCF 
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH NATO CPRS 
 
IBAN’S Recommendation 
IBAN recommends RMCF Supervisory 
Committee to comply with Article 3 of 
Annex XIII-2 of the CPRs by meeting at 
least twice every year, or to justify any 
deviations from the CPRs in writing with the 
approval of all its Committee members. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Two meetings were organised 
in 2021 as per Article 3 of 
Annex XIII-2 of the Civilian 
Personnel Regulations 
(CPRs). One was held in April 
2021 and the other in 
November 2021. 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed 

(3) RMCF FY 2018  
IBA-AR(2019)0026, paragraph 1 
 
NEED FOR NATO AS A WHOLE TO 
DISCLOSE POST-EMPLOYMENT 
LIABILITIES TO COMPLY WITH THE 
NATO ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK 
(IPSAS 39 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS)  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that the IS OFC, being 
the Financial Controller of the RMCF, 
define the recognition criteria for the post-
employment liability, ensuring that this 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NATO as a whole does not 
recognise post-employment 
liabilities. Instead, these are 
disclosed in the notes to the 

 
 
Observation 
Open 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

liability is recognised in accordance with the 
NATO Accounting Framework (IPSAS 39 
Employee Benefits). 
 

financial statements of the two 
defined benefit schemes. As of 
31 December 2021, the post-
employment liability amounted 
to EUR 4.7 billion for the NATO 
Retirees Medical Claims Fund.  
 
The NATO Accounting 
Framework (IPSAS 39) 
requires NATO Reporting 
Entities with employees 
contributing to the benefit funds 
to recognise a post-
employment liability in their 
financial statements. 
Therefore, all NATO Reporting 
Entities with employees 
contributing to the benefit funds 
need in principle to recognise 
their share of the EUR 4.7 
billion post-employment 
liability. Not doing so would 
normally require an adaptation 
to the NATO Accounting 
Framework.  
 
In 1997, Council decided not to 
account for the post-
employment benefit liability (C-
M(97)85) regarding defined 
benefit schemes. With the 
subsequent Council decision to 
implement IPSAS and the 
following Council approval of 
the NATO Accounting 
Framework, it is unclear 
whether the Council decision 
not to account for the post-
employment benefit liability still 
applies. Clarification in NATO’s 
regulatory and accounting 
framework is needed in this 
respect. 
 

(4) RMCF FY 2012  
IBA-AR(2013)25, paragraph 5 
 
RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND 
(RMCF) NET ASSETS INADEQUATE TO 
FUND PROMISED FUTURE EXPECTED 
BENEFITS  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
The Board draws the attention of the 
Council that there are currently not 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Supervisory Committee of 
the NATO RMCF has 

 
 
 
Observation 
In-Progress 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

sufficient funds available to enable NATO to 
meet its promised future obligations as was 
the intention of the plan, and recommends 
that, as was proposed in SG(2009)0302, on 
the basis of the results of the asset and 
liability study presented in the December 
2012 Supervisory Committee and the 
related final report issued dated 30 April 
2013, that the IS provides an estimate of 
the minimum financial injection necessary 
to make the RMCF sustainable.  
 
The Board recommends also that the IS 
provides all necessary information and any 
remedial actions undertaken to limit the 
level of obligations.  This should be 
presented to the nations as soon as 
possible in order to allow for appropriate 
remedial actions, where still feasible, to be 
made. 
 

requested to ISRP an update of 
the RMCF Asset and Liability 
Management study (‘Estimated 
future expenses versus income 
and Investment Return‘).  A 
preliminary report was 
delivered to the Supervisory 
Committee in May 2022 by 
ISRP. IBAN will assess the 
results of this as part of our 
audit of the RMCF 2022 
Financial Statements. 
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INTERNATIONAL STAFF (IS) FORMAL COMMENTS ON THE AUDIT REPORT 
AND THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 
 

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 

(1) RMCF 2020 FY 
IBA-AR(2021)0035, paragraph 1 
DISCLOSURE OF PRIOR PERIOD ERRORS IN THE ESTIMATION OF THE POST-
EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL SCHEME OBLIGATION 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 
 

(2) RMCF 2020 FY 
IBA-AR(2021)0035, paragraph 2 
ORGANISATION OF RMCF SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE MEETINGS IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH NATO CPRS 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 
 

(3) RMCF 2018 FY 
IBA-AR(2019)0026, paragraph 1 
NEED FOR NATO AS A WHOLE TO DISCLOSE POST-EMPLOYMENT 
LIABILITIES TO COMPLY WITH THE NATO ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK (IPSAS 
39 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS) 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 
The analysis of the applicability of IPSAS 39 is ongoing and will be addressed 
through a separate RPPB report. 

 
 

(4) RMCF 2012 FY 
IBA-AR(2013)25, paragraph 5 
RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND (RMCF) NET ASSETS INADEQUATE TO 
FUND PROMISED FUTURE EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 
The updated long-term sustainability forecast will be delivered at the earliest 
possibility.  
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 
 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 

express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 
 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 

pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 
In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 
 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 

attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements. 

 
 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 

matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report. 
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International Board of Auditors for NATO  

1110 Brussels, Belgium 

Email: mailbox.IBAN@hq.nato.int 

 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Chair, MSIAC Steering Committee 
 Project Manager, MSIAC 
 Financial Controller, International Staff 
 Chair, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Resource Management Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
 
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Audit Report on the audit 

of the Munitions Safety Information Analysis Center’s (MSIAC) Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 – IBA-AR(2022)0008 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Audit Report with a Summary Note for 
distribution to the Council.   
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
MSIAC and on compliance for financial year 2021. 
  

Yours sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 Daniela Morgante 
 Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
Munitions Safety Information Analysis Center (MSIAC) 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
 
The Munitions Safety Information Analysis Center (MSIAC) provides a focal point 
within NATO to assist national and NATO munitions development programmes. The 
MSIAC project is directed and administered by a Steering Committee and a Project 
Manager. Revenue for the year 2021 amounted to EUR 2.0 million, while expenses 
amounted to EUR 1.8 million. 
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance 
for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
IBAN made no observations and recommendations. 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that two remain in progress. 
 
The Audit Report was issued to the International Staff whose comments have been 
included, with the IBAN’s position on those comments where necessary. 
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20 July 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDIT REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
 

MUNITIONS SAFETY INFORMATION ANALYSIS CENTER 
 

(MSIAC) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC 
COUNCIL 
 
Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of MSIAC, for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2021, issued 
under document reference FC(2022)0044, and submitted to IBAN on 31/03/2022. 
These Financial Statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 
31 December 2021, the Statement of Financial Performance, the Statement of 
Changes in Net Assets/Equity and the Statement of Cash Flow, for the 12 month period 
ended 31 December 2021, including a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes. In addition, the Financial Statements include a Budget 
Execution Statement for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2021.  
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of MSIAC as at 31 December 2021, and of its financial performance, its cash 
flows and budget execution for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2021, in 
accordance with accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with the 
NATO Accounting Framework (NAF).  
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of MSIAC are drawn up in accordance with accounting 
requirements and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting 
Framework as approved by the Council. The Financial Controller is responsible for 
submitting the Financial Statements for audit to IBAN not later than 31st March following 
the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
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Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Project Manager is responsible and accountable for sound financial management. 
The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must incorporate the 
principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, risk 
management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud prevention 
and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 20 July 2022 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair  
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
IBAN made no observations and recommendations.  

 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that two remain in progress.   
 
The Audit Report was issued to the International Staff whose comments have been 
included, with the IBAN’s position on those comments where necessary. 
 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations and recommendations, the actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by 
IBAN, and their status are summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 
 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

(1) MSIAC FY 2020 
IBA-AR(2021)0025, paragraph 1 
 
IMPROVEMENT NEEDED IN THE 
INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESS FOR 
THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND THE STATEMENT 
OF BUDGET EXECUTION 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that MSIAC improves 
internal controls and develops cross review 
procedures of its final Financial Statements 
before their issuance, to be able to correct 
potential errors and ensure accuracy of 
information disclosed in MSIAC Financial 
Statements. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We found an error in note 18 to the 
MSIAC 2021 Financial Statements 
in the Reconciliation between 
Budget Execution and Statement of 
Financial Performance, where non-
current assets amounting to 
EUR 8,381 should have been 
reported under Provisions as it 
concerns the movement for the 
provision of untaken leave and 
provision for bad debts.  
 

 
 
 
 
Observation 
In-Progress. 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

Furthermore, the audit trail for the 
accounting treatment of Joining 
Fees can be strengthened.  When 
reconciling the financial statements 
with the trial balance, we found that 
the same account is mapped in the 
2021 Financial Statements to Non-
exchange Revenue, to Services, 
Joining Fees and Early Access 
Contributions and to the Surplus. 
Although this did not impact the 
2021 Financial Statements, the 
same account should not be 
mapped to different financial 
statements headings, in order to 
ensure that all balances and 
transactions are correctly 
accounted for and to avoid errors. 
 

(2) MSIAC FY 2015 
IBA-AR(2018)0001, paragraph 6  
 
EFFORTS TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE 
WITH THE REVISED NATO FINANCIAL 
REGULATIONS, PARTICURLARLY 
THOSE ARTICLES ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL, RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that MSIAC: 
 
a) Issues a risk management policy and 
that risk registers are developed and 
employed.  
 
 
 
 
 
b) As required by FRP XII 3) (e), chooses a 
specific internal control framework that it 
will use to assess its system of internal 
control. The assessment is required by 
Article 12 of the NFRs. Since other NATO 
entities, including ACT and NAPMA, have 
already adopted COSO as their internal 
control framework, and it is a framework 
that can be used by entities of all sizes, 
MSIAC should consider adopting COSO as 
their internal control framework.  

 
c) In coordination with the International 
Staff where applicable, begins the work of 
assessing and documenting the system of 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a) MSIAC is currently restructuring 
the Policy & Process Framework 
(an update of documents and risk 
management policy) as these are 
key elements of the MSIAC internal 
control system.  
Observation: In-Progress. 
 
b) This sub-observation was closed 
in IBA-AR(2021)0025. 
Observation: Closed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
c) MSIAC adopted the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO) 

 
 
 
 
Observation 
In-Progress. 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

internal control and risk management 
procedures to support compliance with 
NFR Articles 11 and 12, FRPs XI and XII, 
and the internal control framework that it 
chooses.  
 
 
 
d) Through outsourcing if considered to be 
more cost effective, ensure internal audit 
activities are evaluating MSIAC risk 
management and internal control.  
 

Internal Control Framework, which 
includes elements of risk 
management. MSIAC assessed 
how it was meeting the 
requirements of the COSO 
Principles.  
Observation: Closed. 
 
d) IBAN notes that the MSIAC 
Project Manager has engaged with 
the Head of NATO’s Office of 
Internal Audit and Risk 
Management (OIARM) regarding 
an independent assessment of the 
COSO Internal Control framework 
adopted by MSIAC in 2019.  As the 
OIARM’s Audit Plan is determined 
on a risk-based methodology, 
MSIAC will be included at an 
appropriate time. IBAN will 
reassess the progress done by 
MSIAC as part of the audit of the 
2022 Financial Statements.  
Observation: In-progress. 
 

  

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
3)

00
14

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 

IBA-AR(2022)0008 
 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
-10- 

INTERNATIONAL STAFF (IS) FORMAL COMMENTS ON THE AUDIT REPORT 
AND THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 
 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(1) MSIAC FY 2020 
IBA-AR(2021)0025, paragraph 1 
IMPROVEMENT NEEDED IN THE INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESS FOR THE 
PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE STATEMENT OF 
BUDGET EXECUTION 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 
MSIAC will continue to adequately address identified risks. 

 
(2) MSIAC FY 2015 
IBA-AR(2018)0001, paragraph 6  
EFFORTS TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REVISED NATO FINANCIAL 
REGULATIONS, PARTICURLARLY THOSE ARTICLES ON INTERNAL CONTROL, 
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT 
IS’ FORMAL COMMENTS 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Recommendation a): Agreed. 
 
a) The restructuring of our Policy and Process framework has been completed 
and will be presented to the MSIAC Steering Committee in September for 
approval.   
 
Recommendation d): Not agreed. 
 
d) Regarding internal audit activities, action in respect of this recommendation 
is considered complete. As the OIARM’s Audit Plan is determined on a risk-
based methodology, MSIAC will be included at an appropriate time.  Given the 
scale of MSIAC business, outsourcing internal audit activities would be 
disproportionate and wasteful of limited resources. 
 
Policy and Process framework updated and in place once approved by the 
Steering Committee, whose oversight additionally limits risks.   
 

IBAN’s Position 
  
The IS Office of Internal Audit and Risk Management (OIARM) may provide 
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outsourced audit services to MSIAC according to the NFRs. Nevertheless, given 
that MSIAC is a separate reporting entity from IS, MSIAC needs to ensure that 
internal audit activities are conducted to evaluate its risk management and 
internal control based on its own risk-based methodology. IBAN therefore 
maintains its recommendation. 
 
 
GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 
 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 

express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 
 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 

pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 
In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 
 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 

attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements.  

 
 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 
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matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report.  
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International Board of Auditors for NATO  

1110 Brussels, Belgium 

Email: mailbox.IBAN@hq.nato.int 

 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division 
 Financial Controller, International Staff 
 Chair, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Resource Management Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
 
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Audit Report on the audit 

of the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme’s Financial Statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2021 – IBA-AR(2022)0023 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Audit Report with a Summary Note for 
distribution to the Council.   
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme and on compliance for financial year 2021. 
  
 

Yours sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 On behalf of the IBAN Chair, 
 Amipal Manchanda  
 Board Member 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
The NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit plan and 
applies to all NATO Staff recruited between 1 July 1974 and 30 June 2005. Members 
of staff recruited prior to July 1974 were members of the Provident Fund. Staff members 
recruited after 1 July 2005 are members of the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme. 
 
The NATO Member states jointly guarantee the payment of benefits. The total increase 
in net assets available for benefits under the Pension Scheme for 2021 amounted to 
EUR 3 million. 
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements resubmitted to IBAN 
on 07 July 2022 and on compliance for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
IBAN made three observations and recommendations. These observations do not 
impact the audit opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance: 
 

1. Need to strengthen internal controls over the preparation of the financial 
statements and the budget execution statement. 

 
2. Need to strengthen internal controls over record keeping of pensioners files. 

 
3. Improvements needed in the disclosure of the number of beneficiaries. 
 

IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that two were closed, one remains in-progress and 
one remains open.   
 
The Audit Report was issued to the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme whose 
comments provided by the International Staff (IS) have been included, with the IBAN’s 
position on those comments where necessary. 
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24 August 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDIT REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
 

NATO COORDINATED PENSION SCHEME 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC 
COUNCIL 
 
Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme, also referred to as the Defined 
Benefit Pension Scheme (DBPS), for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2021, 
issued under document reference FC(2022)0053-REV1, and resubmitted to IBAN on 
07 July 2022. These Financial Statements comprise the Statement of Net Assets 
Available for Benefits as at 31 December 2021, the Statement of Changes in Net 
Assets Available for Benefits for the period ended 31 December 2021, and the 
explanatory notes.  
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the statement of 
Net Assets Available for Benefits of the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme as at 31 
December 2021, and of its Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits 
for the period ended 31 December 2021, in accordance with accounting requirements 
and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting Framework (NAF), 
including via the hierarchy in International Public Sector Accounting Standards 
(IPSAS) 3 with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 26, Accounting and Reporting 
by Retirement Benefit Plans. 
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme are drawn up in 
accordance with accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with the 
NATO Accounting Framework as approved by the Council and International Accounting 
Standard (IAS) 26, Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans. The 
Financial Controller is responsible for submitting the Financial Statements for audit to 
IBAN not later than 31st March following the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
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Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Secretary General is responsible and accountable for sound financial 
management. The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must 
incorporate the principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, 
risk management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud 
prevention and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 24 August 2022 
 
 
 
 

On behalf of the IBAN Chair, 
Amipal Manchanda  
Board Member 
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
IBAN made three observations and recommendations. These observations do not 
impact the audit opinion on the financial statements and on compliance: 
 

1. Need to strengthen internal controls over the preparation of the financial 
statements and the budget execution statement. 
 

2. Need to strengthen internal controls over record keeping of pensioners files. 
 

3. Improvements needed in the disclosure of the number of beneficiaries. 
 

IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that two were closed, one remains in-progress and 
one remains open.   
 
The Audit Report was issued to the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme whose 
comments provided by the International Staff (IS) have been included, with the IBAN’s 
position on those comments where necessary. 
 
 
1. NEED TO STRENGHTEN INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER THE 

PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE BUDGET 
EXECUTION STATEMENT 
 

Reasoning  
 
1.1 According to IPSAS 1, the Financial Statements shall present fairly the 
Financial Position, Financial Performance, and cash flows of an entity. Fair 
presentation requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other 
events, and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for 
assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses set out in IPSAS.  
 
1.2 Article 6 of the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs) requires the Financial 
Controller to exercise the responsibility of budgeting, accounting and reporting 
activities of the NATO entity. This includes being responsible for the Financial internal 
control system established, and for the preparation of the Financial Statements in 
accordance with the NATO Accounting Framework. 

 
1.3 A key part of any system of internal control is to ensure adequate processes 
are in place for the preparation, review and reporting of the Financial Statements. 
Adequate review procedures are necessary to provide a reasonable basis for 
obtaining assurance that financial statements are in compliance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework. 
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Observations 
 
1.4  IBAN identified material misstatements during the audit of the DBPS Financial 
Statements first submitted to IBAN on 31 March 2022, as described below. These 
misstatements were corrected in the Financial Statements resubmitted to IBAN on 07 
July 2022.  
 
1.5 As at 31 December 2021, DBPS funds amounting to EUR 109 million were 
temporarily transferred to and held on IS bank accounts (with two different banks) and 
accounted for in the International Staff (IS) general accounting ledger. These funds, 
which belong to the DBPS, were temporarily held in the bank accounts of IS, a 
separate NATO Reporting Entity from DBPS, in order to reduce the effect of negative 
interest rates, as described in the policy. 
 
1.6 As these funds are held on IS bank accounts, this created a financial asset for 
the DBPS as it has a contractual right to receive cash and financial investments from 
IS according to IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation.  
 
1.7 Although these bank balances and financial investments amounting to 
EUR 109 million were booked in the general accounting ledger of IS, DBPS did not 
recognise a financial asset (contractual right to receive cash and financial investment). 
Rather, these funds were directly recognised in its general purpose financial 
statements as cash and cash equivalents and financial investments, despite the funds 
being temporarily held on IS bank accounts. 
 
1.8 Furthermore, we also found that EUR 30,891 related to bank interest 
generated from DBPS funds, which were incorrectly recognised in the IS 2021 
Financial Statements as revenue. This interest should have been recognised as 
revenue and a receivable for DBPS.  
 
Recommendations 
 
1.9 IBAN recommends that the NATO Coordinated Pension strengthen internal 
controls over the preparation of the financial statements to provide a reasonable basis 
for obtaining assurance that financial statements are in compliance with the NATO 
Accounting Framework and NATO Financial Regulations. 
 
 
2. NEED TO STRENGTHEN INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER RECORD 

KEEPING OF PENSIONERS FILES 
 
Reasoning  
 
2.1 The NFR Article 12 on Internal Control states that: “Internal control activities 
shall include, but not be limited to: […] (c) adequate audit trails and data confidentiality, 
integrity and availability in information systems.” 
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2.2 Additionally, the Statement of Internal Controls, signed by the Secretary 
General and the Financial Controller of NATO-IS states that management is 
responsible for the system of internal controls that contributes to the objective of 
effective and efficient operations by NATO-IS to support the achievement of the 
Coordinated Pension Scheme mission. Thus, a deficiency in the system of controls, 
including and not limited to, a lack of record keeping, exposes the organisation to an 
increased risk of mismanagement or misappropriation of funds.  
 
2.3 The Pensions Unit requests pensioners to submit annual questionnaires, 
which gives a certain level of assurance that the pensioner is not deceased. The 
annual questionnaires are sent in September, requesting pensioners to respond within 
two months. In case no reply is received, a first reminder will be sent in December, 
with the request to respond by February. 
 
2.4 In case no reply is received, a second reminder will be sent in February/March, 
with the request to reply by April/May at the latest. When no reply is received from the 
pensioner, the payments will be frozen.  
 
2.5 An additional factor that is reducing the risk of paying to deceased pensioners 
is the fact that when the bank gets information on a Pensioner's death, their account 
is automatically blocked and the Pension Unit starts an investigation. In addition, when 
staff notices some unusual signs (non-recognisable signature in the questionnaire, 
etc.), they initiate an ad-hoc investigation (different services and institutions are 
contacted, etc...). 
 
2.6 This annual questionnaire is the main control that allows the Pensions Unit to 
determine that the pensioner is not deceased and prevents wrongful payment and 
misappropriations of funds.   
 
Observations 
 
2.7 IBAN requested a sample of DBPS pensioners’ annual questionnaires in order 
to confirm that pensioners tested are not deceased, and to gain assurance over the 
completeness and accuracy over the pensioners’ database. The Pensions Unit 
informed us that the questionnaires for 2021 were completed and processed, without 
being archived due to a lack of staff resources. No other documents were provided 
that could allow us to verify whether a pensioner is not deceased and wrongful 
payment was prevented. 
 
2.8 Not archiving any replies to pensioners’ annual questionnaires, represents a 
lack of adequate audit trail and therefore an internal control weakness. This limits our 
ability to gain sufficient audit evidence that the database of pensioners is complete 
and accurate and an increased risk of mismanagement or misappropriation of funds, 
to NATO. 
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Recommendations 
 
2.9 IBAN recommends that the International Staff Pensions Unit strengthen 
internal controls over record keeping of pensioners’ files. This can be achieved by 
maintaining an adequate audit trail ensuring that these files are complete, filed 
centrally and available on request in a timely manner. 
 
 
3. IMPROVEMENTS NEEDED IN THE DISCLOSURE OF THE NUMBER OF 

BENEFICIARIES 
 
Reasoning  
 
3.1 Financial statements need to be free from inconsistencies, mathematical 
errors, non-reconciling items and any other errors or omissions caused by ineffective 
controls over the preparation process. The NFRs require NATO Bodies to develop 
effective internal controls, including reviews and reconciliations, to ensure the 
consistency and accuracy of information presented in the financial statements. 
 
3.2 IPSAS 1 Presentation of financial statements specifies minimum disclosure 
requirements for the notes to the financial statements. In addition, the disclosure notes 
must be relevant for their users, as well as adequately supported by sufficient and 
appropriate underlying details, which are readily available for audit purposes.  
 
Observations 
 
3.3 The 2021 DBPS financial statements and related disclosure notes included 
the following errors and inconsistencies that could have been avoided if more effective 
internal controls and verification procedures had been performed prior to the financial 
statements being submitted for audit:  
 
3.4 According to Note 24 to the DBPS Financial Statements, the number of DBPS 
beneficiaries in 2021 is 4,181 beneficiaries. However, the underlying database of 
pensioners for 2021 shows an amount of 4,205 beneficiaries. Therefore, there is an 
unexplained difference of 24 beneficiaries between the supporting evidence provided 
during the audit and the disclosure note in the financial statements. 
 
3.5 Additionally, the auditee could not provide, in a timely manner, breakdown of 
affiliate data by NATO entities to support financial statements disclosure in their 
respective statements, including IS.  
 
Recommendations 
 
3.6 IBAN recommends that the International Staff Pensions Unit in cooperation 
with the Office of Financial Control (OFC): 
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a) improve the effectiveness of internal controls over the preparation of financial 
statements, in order to avoid errors in the financial statements and its notes 
related to number of DBPS beneficiaries. This can be achieved by developing 
a quality control checklist to document the reconciliation exercise between the 
number of DBPS beneficiaries in the financial statements and the underlying 
database of pensioners by the Human Resources Division. 

 
b) provide, in a timely manner, the breakdown of affiliate data by NATO entity to 

support financial statements disclosure. 
 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations and recommendations, the actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by 
IBAN, and their status are summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 
 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

(1) DBPS FY 2020 
IBA-AR(2021)0029, paragraph 1 
 
ERROR IN THE BANK ACCOUNT 
RECONCILIATION PROCESS 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that the Office of the 
Financial Controller strengthen its internal 
control over the preparation of the financial 
statements, in particular by ensuring that 
the GL accounts reconcile to the physical 
bank statement. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The IS improved the internal 
controls and no errors were 
found in the bank 
reconciliations. 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed 
 
 

(2) DBPS FY 2019 
IBA-A(2021)0036, paragraph 1 
 
IMPROVEMENTS REQUIRED IN THE 
MONITORING, PRESENTATION AND 
DISCLOSURE OF OVERDUE 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND 
PAYABLE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
In-progress 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that the Office of the 
Financial Controller:  
 
a) Disclose the amount of overdue 
accounts receivable and payable in the 
notes to the financial statements for the 
amounts that are more than 1 year, more 
than 2 years and more than 5 years old. 
This will improve the fair disclosure of 
overdue accounts receivable and payable 
for the user of the Coordinated Pension 
Scheme’s Financial Statements. 
 
b) Finalise the detailed analysis of the 
overdue accounts receivable and payable, 
jointly with the NATO Office of the Legal 
Advisor and determine the necessary 
actions to be taken. 
 

 
 
 
 
a) No disclosure of overdue 
accounts receivables and 
payables were made in the 
notes to the financial 
statements. Open.  
 
 
 
 
 
b) The IS Financial Controller 
has prepared an Action Memo 
providing a preliminary 
analysis of the overdue 
accounts. This analysis still 
needs to be finalised by IS.  In-
progress. 
 

(3) DBPS FY 2018 
IBA-AR(2019)0028, paragraph 1 
 
NEED FOR NATO AS A WHOLE TO 
DISCLOSE POST-EMPLOYMENT 
LIABILITIES TO COMPLY WITH THE 
NATO ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK 
(IPSAS 39 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS) 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that the IS OFC, being 
the Financial Controller of the NATO 
Coordinated Pension Scheme, define the 
recognition criteria for the post-employment 
liability, ensuring that this liability is 
recognised in accordance with the NATO 
Accounting Framework (IPSAS 39 
Employee Benefits). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NATO as a whole does not 
recognise post-employment 
liabilities. Instead, these are 
disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements of the two 
defined benefit schemes. As of 
31 December 2021, the post-
employment liability for the 
Coordinated Pension Scheme 
amounted to EUR 8.9 billion. 
The NATO Accounting 
Framework (IPSAS 39) 
requires NATO Reporting 
Entities with employees 
contributing to the benefit funds 
to recognise a post-
employment liability in their 
financial statements. 
Therefore, all NATO Reporting 
Entities with employees 
contributing to the benefit funds 
need in principle to recognise 
their share of the EUR 8.9 

 
 
 
Observation 
Open  
 
 

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
3)

00
14

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 

IBA-AR(2022)0023 
 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
-13- 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

billion post-employment 
liability. Not doing so would 
normally require an adaptation 
to the NATO Accounting 
Framework. 
 
In 1997, Council decided not to 
account for the post-
employment benefit liability (C-
M(97)85) regarding defined 
benefit schemes. With the 
subsequent Council decision to 
implement IPSAS and the 
following Council approval of 
the NATO Accounting 
Framework, it is unclear 
whether the Council decision 
not to account for the post-
employment benefit liability still 
applies. Clarification in NATO’s 
regulatory and accounting 
framework is needed in this 
respect.  
 

(4) DBPS FY 2018 
IBA-AR(2019)0028, paragraph 2 
 
NEED TO DEVELOP MORE EFFECTIVE 
INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
 
IBAN recommends that in order to prevent 
and detect errors, IS OFC develop more 
effective internal controls over the financial 
statements preparation process, such as by 
documenting verification procedures of 
information and amounts presented in the 
financial statements prior to their 
submission for audit. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Superseded by this year’s 
observation.  
 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed 
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INTERNATIONAL STAFF (IS) COMMENTS ON THE AUDIT REPORT AND THE 
INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 
 
OBSERVATION 1: 
NEED TO STRENGHTEN INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER THE PREPARATION OF 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE BUDGET EXECUTION STATEMENT 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 
The IS Treasury works with the banks that comply with strict European and 
national regulations and have limited understanding of the particularities of the 
international law under which NATO operates. The negative interest rates 
imposed by the European Central Bank discouraged banks from accepting 
new customers and/or new deposits. Within this challenging environment, IS 
Treasury needed to ensure that the entrusted funds are protected from the 
negative interest rate to the maximum extent possible. IS Treasury was forced 
to look for new banks willing to accept cash entrusted by the Allies and to do 
so, it needed to adjust and adhere to the banks’ requirements and limitations. 
 
The two new banks (Credit Agricole and Arkea) opened multiple bank 
accounts for the entities sharing the same legal personality. This resulted in 
the establishment of bank accounts for “OTAN” (Arkea) or “Association NATO 
HQ” (Credit Agricole), created for the use of all entities served by the IS 
Treasury. Each entity in need of additional banking space can use those bank 
accounts and the cash belongs to this entity, is managed by this entity and 
only this entity has a control over it.  
 
The 2021 Financial Statements have been restated considering IBAN's 
position. 

 
 
OBSERVATION 2: 
NEED TO STRENGTHEN INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER RECORD KEEPING OF 
PENSIONERS FILES 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
 
The IS Pensions’ Unit confirms there is a severe lack of resources in the Unit 
but concurs with the IBAN’s recommendation to maintain an adequate audit 
trail related to the annual questionnaires received in paper form. The IS 
pensions’ Unit proposes the questionnaires are filed centrally for one year and 
available on request. 
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OBSERVATION 3: 
IMPROVEMENTS NEEDED IN THE DISCLOSURE OF THE NUMBER OF 
BENEFICIARIES 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
 
The IS Staff Services, owner of affiliate data, confirms there is a severe lack 
of resources in the Unit. The IS Staff Services concur with IBAN’s 
recommendation to strengthen internal controls over the preparation of 
numbers of DBPS beneficiaries, which are provided to OFC for the financial 
statement preparation.  
 
The IS Staff Services points out that it can provide data regarding pensioners. 
Regarding active affiliates only data of the IS and those NATO entities that it 
supports (i.e. IMS, BICES, FORACS) can be provided. 

 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(1) DBPS 2020 FY 
IBA-AR(2021)0029, paragraph 1 
ERROR IN THE BANK ACCOUNT RECONCILIATION PROCESS 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 
 

(2) DBPS 2019 FY 
IBA-AR(2021)0036, paragraph 1 
IMPROVEMENTS REQUIRED IN THE MONITORING, PRESENTATION AND 
DISCLOSURE OF OVERDUE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Not agreed. 
 
IS-OFC has initiated the first steps in addressing this recommendation; pace 
strictly depends on available resources. 
 
IS OFC proposes to change the status of the recommendation to In-Progress. 
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IBAN’s Position 
 
IBAN acknowledges that the IS Financial Controller has prepared an Action 
Memo providing a preliminary analysis of the overdue accounts. The status of 
sub-recommendation b) and the overall recommendation has been changed to 
In-Progress in this Audit Report to reflect this first step in addressing this 
recommendation. 
 

 
 

(3) DBPS 2018 FY 
IBA-AR(2019)0028, paragraph 1 
NEED FOR NATO AS A WHOLE TO DISCLOSE POST-EMPLOYMENT 
LIABILITIES TO COMPLY WITH THE NATO ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK (IPSAS 
39 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS) 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 
The analysis of the applicability of IPSAS 39 is ongoing and will be addressed 
through a separate RPPB report. 
 
 

(4) DBPS 2018 FY 
IBA-AR(2019)0028, paragraph 2 
NEED TO DEVELOP MORE EFFECTIVE INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 
 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 

express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 
 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 

pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 
In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 
 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 

attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements.  

 
 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 

matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report.  
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International Board of Auditors for NATO  

1110 Brussels, Belgium 

Email: mailbox.IBAN@hq.nato.int 

 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Chair, NATO FORACS Office Steering Committee  

Project Manager and Technical Director, NATO FORACS Office  
 Financial Controller, International Staff 
 Chair, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Resource Management Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
 
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Audit Report on the audit 

of the NATO Naval Forces Sensor and Weapons Accuracy Check Sites 
Office’s (NATO FORACS Office (NFO)) Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 – IBA-AR(2022)0007 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Audit Report with a Summary Note for 
distribution to the Council.   
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
NFO and on compliance for financial year 2021. 
  

Yours sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 On behalf of the IBAN Chair, 
 Amipal Manchanda  
 Board Member 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Naval Forces Sensor and Weapons Accuracy Check Sites Office 

(NATO FORACS Office (NFO)) 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 

 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) audited the NATO Naval Forces 
Sensors and Weapon Accuracy Check Sites Office (NATO FORACS) Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.   The NATO Naval Forces Sensors 
and Weapon Accuracy Check Sites Office (NATO FORACS) provide a comprehensive 
calibration of sensors associated with the weapon systems of NATO naval units such 
as surface ships, submarines and anti-submarines helicopters. These tests are 
conducted at three FORACS ranges under the jurisdiction of Norway, Greece, and the 
United States of America.  
 
The Financial Statements relate to NFO, which is a NATO Reporting Entity only in 
respect of activities carried out by the International Staff in relation to it. The audit 
competence regarding the financial information related to the NATO FORACS Ranges 
(NATO FORACS Atlantic Undersea Test and Evaluation Center (AUTEC), NATO 
FORACS Greece (NFG) and NATO FORACS Norway (NFN)), falls under the 
responsibility of the competent national audit authorities. 
 
The overall management of the programme is under the responsibility of the FORACS 
Steering Committee. The NATO FORACS Office (NFO) is located at the NATO 
Headquarters in Brussels and serves as the executive staff of the Steering Committee. 
The NFO budget for 2021 (including brought forward credits) amounted to EUR 2.6 
million while total spent amounted to EUR 1.3 million. 
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance 
for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
IBAN made one observation and recommendation. This observation does not impact 
the audit opinion on the financial statements and on compliance: 
 

1. Improvement needed in Year-End confirmations of budgetary surpluses of the 
Ranges. 

 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that two were closed, one remains open and one 
remains in progress.   
 
The Audit Report was issued to NFO whose comments have been included, with the 
IBAN’s position on those comments where necessary. 
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24 August 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDIT REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
 

NATO NAVAL FORCES SENSOR AND 
WEAPONS ACCURACY CHECK SITES OFFICE 

 
(NATO FORACS OFFICE (NFO)) 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC 
COUNCIL 
 
Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of NATO FORACS Office (NFO), for the 12 month period ended 
31 December 2021, issued under document reference (FC(2022)0047), and 
submitted to IBAN on 31 March 2022. These Financial Statements comprise the 
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021, the Statement of Financial 
Performance, the Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity and the Statement of 
Cash Flow, for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2021, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. In addition, the 
Financial Statements include a Budget Execution Statement for the 12 month period 
ended 31 December 2021.  
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of NFO as at 31 December 2021, and of its financial performance, its cash 
flows and budget execution for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2021, in 
accordance with accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with the 
NATO Accounting Framework (NAF).  
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
The Financial Statements relate to NFO, which is a NATO Reporting Entity only in 
respect of activities carried out by the International Staff in relation to it. The audit 
competence regarding the financial information related to the NATO FORACS Ranges 
(NATO FORACS Atlantic Undersea Test and Evaluation Center (AUTEC), NATO 
FORACS Greece (NFG) and NATO FORACS Norway (NFN)), falls under the 
responsibility of the competent national audit authorities. 
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of NFO are drawn up in accordance with accounting requirements 
and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting Framework as approved 
by the Council. The Financial Controller is responsible for submitting the Financial 
Statements for audit to IBAN not later than 31st March following the end of the financial 
year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
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detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
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Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulation. 
 
The Project Manager is responsible and accountable for sound financial management. 
The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must incorporate the 
principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, risk 
management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud prevention 
and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 24 August 2022 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the IBAN Chair, 
Amipal Manchanda  
Board Member 
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
IBAN made one observation and recommendation. This observation does not impact 
the audit opinion on the financial statements and on compliance: 
 

1. Improvement needed in Year-End confirmations of budgetary surpluses of the 
Ranges. 

 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that two were closed, one remains open and one 
remains in progress.   
 
The Audit Report was issued to NFO whose comments have been included, with the 
IBAN’s position on those comments where necessary. 
 
 
1. IMPROVEMENT NEEDED IN YEAR-END CONFIRMATIONS OF 

BUDGETARY SURPLUSES OF THE RANGES   
 
Reasoning  
 
1.1 Article 6, paragraph f. of the FORACS Memorandum of Understanding (MoU), 
covers accounting and audit. It states that: “Separate accounts will be kept for each of 
the ranges and the NFO. After the end of each calendar year, host Governments will 
forward the FORACS expenditure and the record of range use for the preceding year 
to the NFO. The accounts will be audited by the NATO Board of Auditors in accordance 
with NATO Financial Regulations.”  
 
1.2 The NATO FORACS Standing Instructions under paragraph 18 (b) on 
Accounting and Audit, state that “NATO FORACS range accounts will be audited by 
Host Participants' national audit authorities. The International Board of Auditors for 
NATO will audit costs incurred by the NFO, in accordance with NATO Headquarters 
Financial Regulations.” However, under paragraph 1. of the same document it is stated 
that: “These directives are in amplification of, and subordinate to, regulations stated in 
the NATO FORACS Memorandum of Understanding (MOU).”  
 
1.3 The 2021 NFO Financial Statements cite that “These financial statements 
relate only to the NFO. The three NATO FORACS Ranges (NFA, NFG and NFN, 
referred to also as the Ranges) are responsible for executing their own budgets and 
issuing their own financial statements under their national budgeting and financial 
rules.” 
 
1.4 Article 6 of the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs) requires the Financial 
Controller to exercise the responsibility of budgeting, accounting and reporting 
activities of the NATO entity. This includes being responsible for the financial internal 
control system established and for the preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with NATO accounting Framework. 
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1.5 In addition, Article 12.3 of the NFRs states that “Internal control activities shall 
include […] adequate audit trails and data confidentiality, integrity and availability in 
information systems.” 
 
Observations 
 
1.6 The FORACS MOU includes provisions regarding accounting and audit that 
contradict the NATO FORACS Standing Instructions and operating practices. If the 
current Standing Instructions are to apply, the MOU would need to be amended 
accordingly. 
 
1.7 The budgetary surpluses of the three Ranges (NFA, NFG, and NFN) are 
included under Other Current Liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position. These 
surpluses affect the total liabilities and the total net assets in the NFO Financial 
Statements.  
 
1.8 The three ranges provide Audit Certificates confirming the balances to be 
included under Other Current Liabilities. However, although the documents are called 
audit certificates, they are not issued by the range’s respective national external audit 
authorities, and the basis of the audit (such as a budget execution statement of the 
range) is not attached. Furthermore, it is not clear what auditing standards are followed 
in order to issue these national audit certificate. In addition, one range has not 
confirmed its balances since 2018. These audit certificates are not addressed to IBAN, 
two are addressed to NFO and one to the Office of the Financial Controller (OFC). 
 
1.9 Furthermore, the NFO 2021 Financial Statements state that the Ranges are 
responsible for issuing their own financial statements under their national budgeting 
and financial rules. However, NFO could not provide us with any financial statements 
issued by the ranges, as stated in the NFO financial statements, in order to support 
this disclosure. 
 
1.10 IBAN highlights that management takes responsibility for the preparation and 
presentation of the entity’s financial statements. Review procedures are necessary to 
provide a reasonable basis for obtaining assurance that information included in the 
financial statements is supported by both sufficient and appropriate audit evidence. 
 
Recommendations 
 
1.11 IBAN recommends that NFO: 
 

a) Request the NATO FORACS Steering Committee to consider amending the 
FORACS MOU to reflect the NATO FORACS Standing Instructions and 
current practices regarding accounting and audit. 
 

b) Request national authorities responsible for the Ranges to confirm directly to 
IBAN that the budgetary accounts presented to the Steering Committee and 
surpluses to be included in Other Liabilities in the NFO financial statements, 
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were subject to independent external audit in accordance with national rules 
and that no audit findings were raised regarding these accounts.  
 

c) Ensure with the IS OFC that all account balances and disclosures in the 
financial statements and notes are supported by sufficient and appropriate 
documentation. 
 

 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations and recommendations, the actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by 
IBAN, and their status are summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 
 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

(1) FORACS FY 2020 
IBA-AR(2021)0023, paragraph 1 
 
IMPROVEMENT NEEDED IN THE 
INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESS FOR 
THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends the IS Office of the 
Financial Controller (OFC) to strengthen its 
internal controls over the preparation and 
review of the NFO financial statements 
before their issuance, in particular 
regarding the recognition of exchange rate 
differences. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
OFC has formalised the policy 
on accounting and reporting of 
transactions in foreign 
currencies to ensure that the 
NFO transactions in foreign 
currencies are captured in line 
with the nature of the 
operations. 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed. 
 
 
 

(2) FORACS FY 2019 
IBA-AR(2021)0012, paragraph 1 
 
INCONSISTENT RECOGNITION AND 
DISCLOSURE  OF UNCOMMITTED 
APPROPRIATIONS OF THE RANGES  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that NFO: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed. 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

 
a) Ensures the completeness and 
accuracy of receivables by verifying the 
consistency between the amounts of 
receivables recognised in the financial 
statements of NFO and surpluses shown 
both in the budgetary execution of the 
Ranges and third party audit certificates, 
and  
 
b) Updates the method of estimating 
receivables in its accounting policy 
accordingly. 
 

 
This sub-observation was 
closed in IBA-AR(2021)0023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This sub-observation is 
superseded by Observation 1 
in this Audit Report. 
 

(3) FORACS FY 2019 
IBA-AR(2021)0012, paragraph 2 
 
INSUFFICIENT DOCUMENTATION IN 
SUPPORT OF THE NOTE TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ON RELATED 
PARTIES  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that NFO: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a) Implements a procedure for identifying 
related party transactions and monitor the 
absence of conflicts of interest in support of 
the disclosure notes to the financial 
statements.  
 
 
b) Complies with the NATO Accounting 
Framework (IPSAS 20) by ensuring that all 
members of key management personnel, 
including Steering committee members, 
complete and sign declarations concerning 
related party relationships or transactions 
that could affect the operation of the 
reporting entity.  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IBAN notes that according to 
the Resource Policy and 
Planning Board (RPPB) Report 
agreed by Council, 
(PO(2022)0119-AS1), the 
observation regards obtaining 
related party declarations from 
key management personnel 
will be assessed following a 
NATO-wide review of the 
interpretation of key 
management personnel […]. 
 
a) NFO has not yet 
implemented a procedure for 
identifying related party 
transactions and monitoring 
the absence of conflicts of 
interest. Observation: Open. 
 
b) Key management personnel 
did not sign declarations 
concerning related party 
relationships or transactions.   
Observation: Open. 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Open. 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

(4) FORACS FY 2015 
IBA-AR(2017)22, paragraph 7 
 
EFFORT TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE 
WITH THE REVISED NATO FINANCIAL 
REGULATIONS,PARTICULARLY THOSE 
ARTICLES ON INTERNAL CONTROL, 
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
AUDIT 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that NFO: 
 
 
 
 
a) Ensure its risk management policy and 
risk registers include financial reporting and 
compliance risks. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
b)  As required by FRP XII 3) (e), choose a 
specific internal control framework that it 
will use to assess its system of internal 
control.  The assessment is required by 
Article 12 of the NFRs.  Since other NATO 
entities have already adopted COSO as 
their internal control framework, and it is a 
framework that can be used by entities of all 
sizes, the NFO should consider adopting 
COSO as their internal control framework.   
 
c) In coordination with the IS where 
applicable, begin the work of assessing and 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IBAN acknowledges the 
progress made in internal 
controls and risk management 
procedures.  
 
a) NFO established a risk 
assessment process covering 
all identified risks whereby the 
Strategic Planning Group 
(SPG) reviews the Project 
Level risk and mitigation at 
every meeting using a pre-
established definition of both 
‘Likelihood’ and 
‘Consequence’. This is part of 
the Corporate Plan that is 
updated annually. The risk 
matrix is reviewed and updated 
at each SPG and is referred to 
the Steering Committee in the 
autumn of each year for formal 
endorsement, after which the 
revised version is incorporated 
within the Corporate Plan.  
The financial reporting and 
compliance risks are part of the 
International Staff risk 
management policy and risk 
registers. Observation: 
Closed. 
 
This sub-observation was 
closed in IBA-AR(2021)0012. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
c) NFO has selected the 
COSO internal control 

 
 
 
Observation 
In-progress. 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN  
BY AUDITEE STATUS 

documenting the system of internal control 
and risk management procedures to 
support compliance with NFR Articles 11 
and 12, FRPs XI and XII, and the internal 
control framework that it chooses.  
 
 
d) Through outsourcing if considered to be 
more cost effective, ensure internal audit 
activities are evaluating NFO risk 
management and internal control. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
e)  Ensure that the supplementary budget 
credits are only used to enter into 
commitments for goods and services to be 
rendered during the financial year.  
Contract authority should be used for goods 
and services to be received in future years.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

framework and began the work 
of assessing and documenting 
the system of internal control 
and risk management 
procedures. 
Observation: Closed 
 
d) IBAN notes that the NFO 
Project Manager has engaged 
with the Head of NATO’s Office 
of Internal Audit and Risk 
Management (OIARM) 
regarding an independent 
assessment of the COSO 
Internal Control framework 
adopted by NFO in 2019.  As 
the OIARM’s Audit Plan is 
determined on a risk-based 
methodology, NFO will be 
included at an appropriate 
time. Outsourcing is not 
considers from NFO as an 
option. Observation: In-
progress. 
 
This sub-observation was 
closed in IBA-AR(2019)0022. 
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NATO FORACS OFFICE (NFO) (FORMAL COMMENTS ON THE AUDIT REPORT 
AND THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 
 
OBSERVATION 1: 
IMPROVEMENT NEEDED IN YEAR-END CONFIRMATIONS OF BUDGETARY 
SURPLUSES OF THE RANGES 
 
NFO’s Formal Comments 
 

Recommendation a): Not agreed. 
 
NFO notes the IBAN recommendation but would contend that the 
responsibility for considering any proposal to amend the NATO FORACS 
MOU lies with the NATO FORACS Steering Committee (8 Nations) rather than 
the 3 national authorities responsible for Ranges (Range Host Nations – 
RHN). 
 
At their most recent meeting in May 2022, the NATO FORACS Steering 
Committee (NFSC) considered the proposal to amend the MOU to clarify the 
accounting and audit practice which has been practically implemented and 
accepted over the past 48 years since the Project’s inception. 
 
It was determined that there was no appetite amongst the Nations to incur the 
attendant significant bureaucratic and legal staffing burden for such a minor 
amendment to the MOU text. Instead, it was agreed that the NFSC’s 
acceptance of current accounting and audit practice would be formally 
recorded in the NFSC Minutes of the May 22 meeting (Complete). 
 
Furthermore, the NFO (Project Manager) was directed to produce a draft 
update to the associated NATO FORACS Standing Instructions which clarifies 
this position and removes any apparent inconsistency with the MOU. This will 
be presented to the NFSC in Oct 2022 for formal approval.  

 
IBAN’s Position 
 
IBAN acknowledges that the responsibility for considering a proposal to amend 
the NATO FORACS MOU lies with the NATO FORACS Steering Committee and 
has amended sub-recommendation a) accordingly.  
 
IBAN performs the audit of the financial statements of the NATO FORACS Office 
and does not audit the accounts of the ranges. Therefore, Article 6, paragraph f. 
of the FORACS MoU incorrectly states that the accounts of the ranges will be 
audited by IBAN in accordance with NATO Financial Regulations. The suitability 
of the above proposed way forward will be reviewed as part of next year’s 
financial audit. 
 

Recommendation b): Agreed. 
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This proposal was also considered by the NFSC in May 22, where it was 
supported in principle. On receipt of the final IBAN NFO 2022 FS Audit Report, 
NFO will engage formally with the national authorities in each RHN requesting 
that they consider a proposal to amend and address the outputs of their 
national audit processes accordingly. 

 
 

Recommendation c): Agreed. 
 
NFO and IS OFC staff will continue to work together to optimise the 
presentation of the Project’s Financial Statements. 

 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(3) FORACS FY 2019 
IBA-AR(2021)0012, paragraph 2 
INSUFFICIENT DOCUMENTATION IN SUPPORT OF THE NOTE TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ON RELATED PARTIES 
 
NFO’s Formal Comments 
 

Recommendations a) and b): Not agreed. 
 
NFO notes the IBAN recommendation regarding related party relationships or 
transactions but believes the information provided is sufficient. Nevertheless, 
as noted by the IBAN, during periodic COSO framework assessments, we will 
investigate whether any change can be introduced to the process of gathering 
information, in terms of improving the effectiveness and efficiency of the 
administrative process and possible added value. As previously noted, IPSAS 
20—Related Party Disclosures does not prescribe any particular method in 
which the information to be disclosed should be gathered. We believe that the 
current system of gathering information on related parties is adequate to the 
governance structure of the entity and that the disclosures in the Financial 
Statements, being in line with IPSAS 20, provides a reliable and true picture. 
 
Equally, the RPPB in their report to the NAC (AC/335-D(2021)0040, noted the 
IBAN’s recommendation and supported that NFO implement a procedure 
proportional to the NFO operations scale, for identifying related party 
transactions and monitoring the absence of conflicts of interest. 

 
IBAN’s Position 
  
Heads of NATO bodies are, in accordance with Article 12 of the NATO Financial 
Regulations, responsible to ensure that necessary internal management 
functions are in place to support effective internal control, which includes 
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maintaining adequate audit trails.  
 
In the absence of signed declarations concerning related party relationships or 
transactions, NFO does not maintain an adequate audit trail in order to 
demonstrate the accuracy of the disclosures made in its financial statements. 
Such a statement would provide minimum assurance that NFO has included in 
its internal control system a procedure to verify the absence of conflicts of 
interest and is able to identify related party relationships that could affect its 
operations. IBAN therefore maintains the status of this recommendation as 
open. 
  
 
(4) FORACS FY 2015 
IBA-AR(2017)22, paragraph 7 
EFFORT TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REVISED NATO FINANCIAL 
REGULATIONS, PARTICULARLY THOSE ARTICLES ON INTERNAL CONTROL, 
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
NFO’s Formal Comments 
 

Recommendation d): Not agreed. 
Action in respect of this recommendation is considered to be complete. The 
NFO Project Manager has engaged with the Head of NATO’s Office of Internal 
Audit and Risk Management (OIARM) regarding an independent assessment 
of the COSO Internal Control framework adopted by NFO in 2019. A further 
updated has been provided to OIARM following a recent NFO/OFC joint 
review of ongoing compliance. As the OIARM’s Audit Plan is determined on a 
risk-based methodology, NFO will be included at an appropriate time. Out-
sourcing of this activity is not considered to be cost effective, given that thus 
oversight is within the purview of OIARM and its accepted approach to audit 
scheduling. 
 

IBAN’s Position 
  
The IS Office of Internal Audit and Risk Management (OIARM) may provide 
outsourced audit services to NFO according to the NFRs. Nevertheless, given 
that NFO is a separate reporting entity from IS, NFO needs to ensure that internal 
audit activities are conducted to evaluate its risk management and internal 
control based on its own risk-based methodology. IBAN therefore maintains its 
recommendation. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 
 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 

express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 
 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 

pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 
In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 
 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 

attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements.  

 
 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 

matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report.  
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Annexes 

2 

3 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATO DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION SCHEME 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Statement of Net Assets Available for Benefits 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

FC(2022)0050 

Secretary General 
Miroslawa BORYCZKA 

Financial Controller 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
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PO(2022)0518 (INV)



(all amounts in EUR) 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Funds held by investment manager 

Accounts receivable 
Other receivables 

Total Assets 

Liabilities 

Provisions claims and disputes 
Payable 
Other payables 
Surplus investment/desinvestment 
Current year surplus financial results 

Total Liabilities 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATO DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION SCHEME 
Statement of Net Assets Available for Benefits 

Current Year 

Notes 31-Dec-21 

Investments T Benefits T Total 

3 7,705,064.30 393,119.56 8,098,183.86 

4 734,900,251.14 - 734,900,251.14 

5 165.89 167,240.20 167,406.09 
- - -

742,605,481.33 560,359.76 743,165,841.09 

- - -
6 (319,082.71) (562,306.03) (881,388.74) 
6 - (456.35) (456.35) 
7 (80,016.59) - (80,016.59) 
8 434,304.46 2,402.62 436,707.08 

35,205.16 (560,359.76) (525,154.60) 

Prior Year 

31-Dec-20 

Investments I Benefits 

7,112,637.82 324,810.85 

588,716,610.24 -

366.70 238,328.24 
- -

595,829,614.76 563,139.09 

- -
(560,763.29) (558,918.50) 

- (456.35) 
(80,016.59) -
281,965.48 (3,764.24) 

(358,814.40) (563,139.09) 

I 

ANNEX 1 to 
FC(2022)0050 

Total 

7,437,448.67 

588,716,610.24 

238,694.94 

-
596,392,753.85 

-
(1,119,681.79) 

(456.35) 
(80,016.59) 
278,201 .24 

(921,953.49) 

I Net Assets Available for Benefits I I 742,640,686.49 I - I 742,640,686.491 595,470,800.36 I :=::::r595,470,800:3!J 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

1-1 
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(all amounts In EUR) 

Notes 

Increase In Net Assets 
Net unrealized profit in market value of investments 9 
Contributions 10 
Inward transfer of penSion nghts 11 
Transfers from Insurer 12 
Transfers from Annuity Provider 12 
Contribution for Tax Adjustments Due 16 
Miscellaneous receipts 17 

Total Increase In Net Assets Available for Benefits 

Decrease In Net Assets 
Net unrealized loss 1n market value of investments 9 
Accounts closed (Staff) 13 
Hous1ng Withdrawal 13 
Outward transfer of pension rights 13 
Transfers to 10surer and annuity providers 14 
Pension Benefits 15 
Invalidity, Survivor and Dependant Benefits 15 
Tax Adjustment Paid to Beneficiaries 16 
Employer Contributions to DCPS 15 
Miscellaneous Expenses 17 

Total Decrease In Net Assets Available for Benefits 

Net Increase for the Year 

Net Assets Ava~able for Benefits, Beginnll'lg of Year 

Net Assets Available for Benefits, End of Year 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATO DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION SCHEME 
Statement of Changes In Net Assets Available for Benefits 

Investments I 

106,635,857.82 
81,724,675.07 

1,737,513.53 

-
-
-
-

190,098,046.42 

-
32,240,809.40 
10,402,371.12 

284,979.77 

-
-
-
-
-
-

42,928,160.29 

147,169,886.13 

595,470,800.36 

742,640,686.49 

Current Year 

31-Dec-21 

Benefits I 

-
-
-

1,478,477.34 
121,760.78 
142,571.36 

1,293.15 

1,744,102.63 

-
-
-
-
-

122,076.97 
1,345,527.99 

142,571 .36 
126,946.48 

6,979.83 

1,744,102.63 

-

-

-

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
2-1 

Total 

106,635,857.82 
81 ,724,675.07 

1,737,513.53 
1,478,477.34 

121 ,760.78 
142,571.36 

1,293,15 

191,842,149.05 

-
32,240,809.40 
10,402,371 .12 

284,979.77 

-
122,076.97 

1,345,527.99 
142,571 .36 
126,946.48 

6,979,83 

44,672,262.92 

147,169,886.13 

595,470,800.36 

742,640,686.49 

Prior Year 

31-Dec-20 

Investments I Benefits 

22,876,185.44 -
72,568,349.50 -

804,419,51 -
- 1 '160,555.00 

- 119,412.52 

- 128,261.47 

- 11,655.43 

96,248,954.45 1,419,884.42 

- -
24,660,836.01 -

- -
648,811 .46 -

- -
- 118,606.91 

- 1,050,239.66 

- 128,261.47 
118,157.66 

- 4,618.72 

25,309,647.47 1,419,884.42 

70,939,306.98 -
524,531 ,493,38 -

595,470,800.36 -

I 

ANNEX 2to 
FC(2022)0050 

Total 

22,876,185.44 
72,568,349.50 

804,419.51 
1,160,555.00 

119,412.52 
128,261.47 
11,655.43 

97,668,838.87 

-
24,660,836.01 

-
648,811 .46 

-
118,606.91 

1,050,239.66 
128,261.47 
118,157.66 

4,618.72 

26,729,531.89 

70,939,306.98 

524,531 ,493.38 

595,470,800.36 
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EXPLANATORY NOTES 
NATO DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION SCHEME 

NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION 

Description of the Fund 

ANNEX 3 to 
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The NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme (DCPS) was implemented with effect from 
1 July 2005 based on Council's approval of C-M(2000)53 and C-M(2005)0057. The DCPS aims 
to provide retirement benefits for NATO staff who are employed for the minimum six-year 
vesting period and to make cash payments to staff who leave before satisfying the vesting 
requirement. All new entrants recruited on or after 1 July 2005 are compulsorily affiliated to the 
NATO DCPS. 

The DCPS is a cash purchase pension scheme. Both staff and NATO contribute to the Scheme. 
There is no long-term liability for NATO related to the DCPS. 

An account is opened for each member of the Scheme. Contributions are invested according 
to the member's instructions within the eleven funds currently available, described below. 
Members can check the status of their accounts and give instructions via a secure web portal. 

Upon departure, the member's account is disinvested. Until 20 December 2012, the effective 
date of changes to related NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations (CPR), if the member had 
vested in the Scheme and was at least 50 years old, the member could take up to 25% of the 
proceeds as a cash lump sum and the balance had to be applied to the purchase of a retirement 
pension from a commercial provider. In 2009, the vesting period was five years; in 2010 the 
vesting period was increased to six years. Members who leave the NATO employer prior to 
vesting withdraw the entire proceeds as a cash lump sum. 

On 20 December 2012 the NATO Council approved the current disinvestment rules which 
provide choice and flexibility for affiliates regarding their retirement benefits. There is no upper 
or lower limits on ages at which affiliates can take benefits. Affiliates leaving the DCPS may 
take any percentage of their holdings in cash. Affiliates' accounts no longer have to be closed 
when they reach 65. Affiliates may remain indefinitely as passive investors, with no further 
investments or switches until full disinvestment, beyond the age of 65. 

As at 31 December 2021, there were 5162 NATO DCPS affiliates (members). Note 21 provides 
a summary of the evolution of the membership since inception. 

Financing 

Staff make a compulsory contribution of 8% of basic salary to the Scheme. Staff may make 
additional voluntary contributions to the Scheme up to 5% of basic salary. NATO pays employer 
contributions of 12% of basic salary of each active scheme member. Contributions to the DCPS 
are part of pay and are made monthly. 

Scheme members may, under certain circumstances, transfer into their DCPS account any 
amounts corresponding to pension rights accrued under the pension scheme to which they were 
previously affiliated. 
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Governance 
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The DCPS is administered in accordance with NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations (CPRs), 
Annex VI, governing the DCPS approved by the Council under C-M(2005)0057. 

The Secretary General is responsible for the administration and management of the Scheme, 
assisted by a consultative committee, the DCPS Management Board, whose Chairman is 
appointed by the Secretary General. 

The committee also includes: seven representatives of the Administrative Services for the 
International Staff, the International Military Staff, the NATO Standardization Agency and the 
NATO Defense College, the Assistant Secretary General (ASG) Executive Management and 
the Financial Controller of the International Staff or their representatives; two representatives of 
the Administrative Services for the NATO Production and Logistics Organizations and other 
bodies not listed above; a representative from SHAPE J1 Manpower and Personnel, and the 
Financial Controller, Allied Command Operations, or their representatives; one representative 
from the Administrative Services of a NATO military body in Allied Command Transformation; 
six representatives nominated by the Confederation of NATO Civilian Staff Committees from 
among the members of the Scheme. At least one representative shall be a member of the NATO 
International Staff; one representative of retired NATO staff nominated by the Confederation of 
NATO Retired Civilian Staff Associations. 

The Assistant Secretary General for Executive Management was appointed permanent 
Chairperson of the DCPS Management Board in late 2010 and remains as such since then. 

The members of the DCPS Management Board, who are also NATO staff members, receive no 
additional remuneration or benefits in return for their participation. 

Investments 

The Management Board oversees the investment options of the Scheme. 

Members of the NATO DCPS invest in their choice of several funds, consisting of equity, bond 
and cash funds. Investments are made in units in the respective funds; the unit price fluctuates 
according to its market value. Four additional investment funds, passively-managed (indexed) 
funds offered by Vanguard were selected by the NATO Contract Awards Committee in 
consultation with the DCPS Management Board in November 2013 and became available to 
DCPS affiliates in February 2014. 

Affiliates of the DCPS can move their investments between the available funds. Such transfers 
between funds are known as switches. Until 2020 switches were executed on a bi-weekly basis. 
From 2021 onwards, switches are effected on a weekly basis. 
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The funds are available in EUR and/or in USD, as presented in the table below: 

I SIN* 

Equity Funds: 

Mellon Global Equity Portfolio EUR C IEOOB82M6789 

Mellon Global Equity Portfolio USD C IEOOB7X4LZ98 

Vanguard Global Stock Index Fund EUR IEOOB03HD191 

Vanguard Global Stock Index Fund USD IEOOB03HD209 

Bond Funds: 

Mellon Global Bond Portfolio EUR C IE0003932385 

Mellon Global Bond Portfolio USD C IE0003932492 

Mellon Euroland Bond Portfolio EUR C IE0032722484 

Vanguard Global Bond Index Fund USD IEOOB18GCB14 

Vanguard Euro Go~rnment Bond Index Fund EUR IE0007472990 

Cash Funds: 

Mellon Uni~rsal Liquidity Funds -Liquidity Plus USD IE0032713202 

BNP Paribas lnstiCash Fund- EUR LU0094219127 

*International Securities Identification Number 

NATO shall not be held responsible for any losses on investments incurred by movement in the 
investment markets (Annex VI, Article 10.3 of the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations). 

Benefits 

Upon retirement of a staff member, transfers are made to the pension provider in order to 
purchase the annuity for members who leave the DCPS and choose to take a DCPS retirement 
pension. 

Until 30 June 2017 the insurer's company was responsible for annuity payments in cases of 
death in service and had a claim on the proceeds of the redemption of the affected deceased 
staff member's holdings. Nowadays the redemption proceedings are paid to the person(s) 
designated by the deceased staff member and the survivors' benefits, in cases of eligibility, are 
covered by the insurance. Since July 2020 the benefits for paid to orphans have increased. 

Contributions, in the case of invalidity, are made to the DCPS and invested, until the beneficiary 
reaches retirement age. In the case of invalidity, contributions for medical insurance are also 
paid as required. 

Retirement annuities received from commercial pension providers pending augmentation by the 
adjustment related to income tax and further transfer to the retired beneficiary are held in a 
separate bank account separate from that of the Investment element of the DCPS. The benefits 
received from the insurer pending augmentation plus the adjustment related to income tax are 
subject to a follow-on transfer to the survivor or disabled beneficiary. 

Benefits are paid for retirement, survivor and invalidity pensions. They are paid at the end of 
each month. 
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The following table gives the number of beneficiaries per category of benefits. 

As per end Retirement Survivor Invalidity Total 

2013 4 3 3 10 
2014 8 4 6 18 

2015 8 5 7 20 
2016 9 12 9 30 
2017 10 12 10 32 
2018 10 12 12 34 
2019 12 11 11 34 
2020 12 20 20 52 
2021 12 24 21 57 

Housing Withdrawals 

Since 2021 active members of the DCPS may, up to two times during their NATO employment, 
withdraw not more than 95% of from their DCPS holdings to finance a primary residence or to 
reduce the amount owing on an existing property. 

Since it roll-out in the 3rd quarter of 2021 a total amount of EUR 7,460,635.44 and USD 
3,378,019.27 has been processed for active staff members as housing withdrawals. 

Pension Tax Adjustment 

The Scheme is not subject to income tax under the terms of Articles IX and X of the Agreement 
on the Status of the North Atlantic Treaty Organization signed in Ottawa on 20 September 1951 
(the Ottawa Treaty). 

In accordance with Annex VI, Article 15 of the CPRs, beneficiaries are subject to tax by national 
authorities on their annuity receipts and receive an adjustment equivalent to 50% of the amount 
by which the recipient's pension would theoretically need to be increased, were the balance 
remaining after deduction of the amount of national income tax or taxes on the total to 
correspond to the amount of the pension calculated in accordance with the CPRs. This 
adjustment is paid out of the DCPS Retirement Pensions and Invalidity accounts and is funded 
by specific calls for contributions handled in the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme accounts. 
Related information is disclosed in the Financial Statements of the NATO Coordinated Pension 
Scheme. 

Amounts paid are disclosed in the Statement of Change in Net Assets. 

Management of the DCPS 

Previnet SPA (Italy} was selected as the Third Party Administrator of the DCPS at the 
introduction of the Scheme in July 2005, and has been administering the scheme on behalf of 
NATO since that date. Previnet is responsible for the individual accounts administration, benefit 
administration, reporting, customer services and maintenance of the DCPS web site with on­
line facilities for the scheme members. 
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Previnet tracks contributions and individual holdings of scheme members. It also provides 
aggregated accounting data and investment instructions destined for NATO-IS and the 
Investment Managers. 

NATO-IS Office of Financial Control (OFC) receives the monthly contributions from the various 
NATO body payroll centers in a custodial bank account and its bank converts the funds, based 
on the instructions prepared by the Scheme Administrator, into EUR or USD, as required, for 
the investment accounts. The OFC is responsible for transfer of the funds from the relevant 
bank account to the appropriate accounts with the Investment Managers, BNY Mellon, 
Vanguard and BNP Paribas, based on the Scheme Administrator's reconciliation of the global 
amount and validation of the amounts to be invested for each staff member. 

NATO-IS Executive Management Human Resources Pensions Unit reconciles the number of 
units per member received from the Scheme Administrator against the accounts of the staff 
members leaving the scheme. OFC then transfers the redemption/lump sum amounts as per 
the bank account instructions provided by the leaving scheme members. 

DCPS amounts redeemed for the purchase of pension annuities and amounts due from an 
outside insurer for invalidity pensions of former DCPS members are administered by the OFC. 
The member's holdings are transferred to the relevant pension provider when a leaving DCPS 
member has instructed NATO to purchase an annuity. OFC also transfers monthly invalidity 
pensions and the adjustments related to income tax to former DCPS members who qualify. 

NOTE 2: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The DCPS applies the NATO IS Accounting Policies which have been published through 
ON(2021 )0079. 

Declaration of conformity 

The financial statements of the NATO DCPS have been prepared in accordance with the NATO 
Financial Regulations and International Accounting Standard 26, "Accounting and Reporting by 
Retirement Benefit Plans". The NATO Accounting Framework, which is an adapted version of 
the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), does not have a specific 
standard for accounting and reporting by retirement benefit plans. 

The accounting system used by the NATO DCPS is accrual based. 

Basis of presentation 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis: the DCPS will continue 
in operation for the foreseeable future. 

The amounts shown in these financial statements are presented in EUR. 

Changes in accounting policy 

None in 2021 . 

Reclassification of financial statements for previous years 

None in 2021. 
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Use of estimates 
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In the application of accounting policies, described below, management is required to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. 

Foreign currency transactions 

Contributions are made in the currency of the respective payroll center. Investments are made 
in USD and in EUR as chosen by the scheme member. NATO Parity Rates do not apply to 
purchases or sales in the DCPS. All bank transactions are processed at the market rate. 
Contributions received in currencies other than EUR and USD are converted in the latter at 
investment dates and payments to the Investment Managers are made in EUR and USD. 
Balance sheet amounts at year-end are reported using the NATO Parity Rates in effect on 
31 December. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term assets. They include short term deposits 
held with banks and short term highly liquid investments. 

Investments 

Investments reported under these DCPS financial statements consist of equity funds, bond 
funds and cash funds. These investments are non-current assets with respect to the purpose 
ofthe DCPS. 

Investments are recorded at market value on the reporting date. 

Receivables 

Receivables are stated at net realizable value. No allowance for loss is recorded for receivables 
relating to NATO bodies' statutory contributions. 

Payables 

Payables are amounts due to third parties based on services provided that remain unpaid. This 
includes, as required, an estimate of accrued obligation for services provided but not yet 
invoiced. 

Net Assets 

The net assets available at year-end correspond to investments at market value plus 
receivables and contributions awaiting investment less payables. Also included are interest 
earned on the custodial bank accounts, surpluses gained on transactions with the insurance 
company and miscellaneous gains and losses related to corrective transactions. 
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The DCPS uses only non-derivative financial instruments as part of its normal operations. These 
financial elements include cash, investment funds, bank accounts and accounts receivable. 

All financial instruments are recognized in the statement of financial position at their fair value. 

The DCPS is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, market (price) risk and 
liquidity risk. The maximum exposure as at year end is equal to the total amount of bank 
balances and receivables. NATO shall not be held responsible for any losses on investments 
incurred by movement in the investment markets (Annex VI, Article 10.3 of the NATO Civilian 
Personnel Regulations). 

Credit risk 

The DCPS incurs credit risks from cash and cash equivalent held with banks and receivables. 
There is very limited credit risk associated with the realization of these elements. 

Concerning cash and cash equivalent the DCPS credit risk is managed by holding current bank 
accounts and short term liquid deposits that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 
held with lNG Bank (Belgium) which has the following short-term credit ratings: 

SHORT TERM RATINGS 

BANK NAME COUNTRY OF HQ FITCH I S&PGLOBAI... I MOODY'S 

Rating !Last review date !Rating !Last review date !Rating !Last review date 

lNG BANK Netherlands F1 + I 25-Nov-2021 I A-1 I 24-Jun-2021 I P-1 I 2-0ct-2020 

Concerning receivables, the credit risk is managed by maintaining control procedures over 
receivables. These consist essentially of contributions due by NATO bodies' payroll centers. 
This risk is considered limited since these bodies are primarily funded by member nations which 
are considered creditworthy. 

Price risk 

The DCPS individual member holdings are exposed to equity and bond securities market risk. 
NATO shall not be held responsible for any losses on investments incurred by movement in the 
investment markets (Annex VI, Article 10.3 of the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations). 

Currency risk 

The DCPS is exposed to a limited foreign currency exchange risk arising from fluctuations in 
currency rates. The contributions received in various currencies are converted into EUR or USD 
as required by the members' investment decisions. The converted amounts are invested in 
funds held in EUR or USD accordingly. With regards to benefits there is a limited currency risk 
since payments are sometimes made in another currency than the amounts received from the 
insurer or the annuity provider. However, so far, such costs have been immaterial. 

Liquidity risk 

A liquidity risk could arise from a short term liquidity requirement in relation to amounts due to 
departing staff. There is a very limited exposure to liquidity risk because the amounts due to 
departing staff are equal to their holdings, and because amounts transferred to the investment 
manager are equal to the contributions received from the payroll centers of NATO bodies which 
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receive resources from member states funding the related budgets, or income from their 
customers which generally are other NATO bodies funded through their approved budgets. 

However, there is a limited liquidity risk in relation to the payment of annuities to eligible 
members. These transactions are handled on bank accounts separate from those used for 
investments and disinvestments. Amounts due by the insurers arrive later than when annuities 
are due to members. Pension Adjustment is paid in advance from contributions due by the 
Coordinated Pension Scheme. This situation is managed through cash advances from the 
NATO International Staff (IS). 

Below table provides the evolution on the standing advances DCPS has received from IS at 
year-end for the last 3 years. 

End of Year Cash Advance in EUR 

2019 500,000.00 

2020 550,000.00 

2021 550,000.00 

The level of cash advances, used to manage the liquidity risk during the year, has remained 
unchanged since last year. 

Interest rate risk 

The DCPS is restricted from entering into borrowings. 

A portion of DCPS is invested in bond funds. The market value of bonds fluctuates according to 
market perception of the issuer's creditworthiness and to projected interest rates. The value of 
DCPS individual member accounts is therefore subject to some interest rate risk. 
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Statement of Net Assets Available for Benefits 

NOTE 3: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
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The various NATO entities pay their contributions into custodial bank accounts. Those accounts 
serve to effect the transfer of funds to be invested by the Investment Manager and to receive 
redemptions for departing staff or housing withdrawals. The total presented in the financial 
statements corresponds mainly to contributions received in December and awaiting transfer to 
the Investment Managers. 

Separate bank accounts are held for transactions relating to the payment of pension and 
invalidity benefits. 

NOTE 4: FUNDS HELD BY THE INVESTMENT MANAGER 

Investments at Market Value 

BNY Mellon is the Investment Manager for six of the funds listed below; BNP Pari bas Investment 
Partners manages the BNP Paribas lnstiCash Fund in Euro, while Vanguard Asset 
Management manages the four index funds. 

Table below provides comparative data on the Investments at Market Value for two consecutive 
years· 

2021 2020 

EUR or EUR 
I SIN equivalent of USD USD EUR 

Equity Funds: 

Mellon Global Equity Portfolio EUR C IEOOB82M6789 343,153,262.62 - 263,491,605.67 
Mellon Global Equity Portfolio USD C IEOOB7X4l.Z98 30.722,216.69 34,479,543.79 22,128,557.66 

Vanguard Global Stock Index Fund EUR IEOOB03HD191 94,442,764.72 - 56,491,507.45 
Vanguard Global Stock Index Fund USD IEOOB03HD209 27,382,857.07 30,731 '780.49 17,054,909.39 

Bond Funds: 
Mellon Global Bond Portfolio EUR C IE0003932385 42,747,844.56 - 42,842,912.19 
Mellon Global Bond Portfolio USD C IE0003932492 6,392,945.08 7,174,802.27 6,971,329.53 
Mellon Euroland Bond Portfolio EUR C IEOOBF8HK850 14,670,541.99 - 12,894,361 .14 
Vanguard Global Bond Index Fund USD IEOOB18GCB14 7,649,304.40 8,584,814.34 6,124,214.43 
Vanguard Euro Government Bond Index Fund EUR IE0007472990 17,566,902.86 - 17,902,114.97 

Cash Funds: 
Mellon Unil.ersal Liquidity Funds -Liquidity Plus USD IE0032713202 11,233,692.78 12,607,573.44 7,976,486.10 
BNP Pari bas lnstiCash Fund- EUR LU0094219127 138,937,918.37 - 134,838,611.71 

I TOTAL 734,900,251.14 588,716,610.251 

Dividends stemming from BNY Mellon equity investments funds are received the following year. 
For 2021, the dividends amount to EUR 1 ,531,764.98 and USD 151,596.30 and will be reflected 
in the price of the accumulated share class at distribution date of 11 February 2022. 
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Unit Price per Fund 
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New investments and redemptions take place between the funds and the unit price for each 
fund fluctuates continuously. Income is therefore not reported by fund in absolute terms. The 
appropriate performance measure per fund is the unit price. The unit prices for each of the 
funds at year-end and the resulting annualized income per unit were as follows: 

Annualized 
I SIN 2021 2020 Income per Unit 

Equity Funds: 
Mellon Global Equity Portfolio EUR C IEOOB82M6789 1.9032 1.4886 0.4146 
Mellon Global Equity Portfolio USO C IEOOB7X4LZ98 1.9167 1.6249 0 .2918 
Vanguard Global Stock Index Fund EUR IEOOB03HD191 39.3940 30.0772 9.3168 
Vanguard Global Stock Index Fund USD IEOOB03HD209 45.0074 36.9723 8.0351 

Bond Funds: 

Mellon Global Bond Portfolio EUR C IE0003932385 2.0471 2.0384 0.0087 
Mellon Global Bond Portfolio USD C IE0003932492 2.5813 2.7872 (0.2059) 
Vanguard Global Bond Index Fund USD IEOOB18GCB14 166.2024 169.6067 (3.4043) 
Vanguard Euro Government Bond Index Fund EUR IE0007472990 240.0118 248.6867 (8.6749) 

Cash Funds: 

Mellon Universal Liquidity Funds- Liquidity Plus USD IE0032713202 1.2647 1.2646 0.0001 
BNP Paribas lnstiCash Fund- EUR LU0094219127 137.2172 138.0671 (0.8499\ 

NOTE 5: RECEIVABLES 

Amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

lnwslments Benefits Tolal lnwslments Benefits Tolal 
Contributions from NATO bodies - - - 366.70 - 366.70 
Reimbursement of Tax Adjustment Paid - 145,701 .36 145,701.36 - 128,261.47 128,261.47 
Insurer - 21,404.24 21,404.24 - 103,572.17 103,572.17 
Beneficiaries - 134.60 134.60 - 6,494.60 6,494.60 
Others 165.89 - 165.89 - - -
Tolal 165.89 167,240.20 167,406.09 366.70 238,328.24 238,694.94 

Contnbuttons for further Investment are patd on a monthly basts by NATO bodtes to the DCPS 
account. The process normally results in no such contributions receivable, or of limited amount, 
at year-end. Some transactions may still be pending regularization. 

Tax adjustment payments are made to beneficiaries from the DCPS Benefits (Retirement, 
Invalidity and Survivor) accounts as an advance to be settled by the NATO Coordinated Pension 
Scheme budget which handles all tax adjustment operations NATO-wide and calls the related 
contributions by the nations concerned (i.e. in which the beneficiaries paid their income taxes). 
This resulted in amounts receivable from the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme. 

Amounts receivable from the insurer and the pension provider relate to individual cases to be 
settled. 

Amounts receivable from beneficiaries relate to overpayment of specific allowances attached to 
their monthly benefits. 
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NOTE 6: PAYABLES AND OTHER PAY ABLES 

Payables in EUR 
2021 

Investments Benefits To1al 
NATO International S1aff 134.76 550,000.00 550,134.76 
Departing Staff 14,665.52 - 14,665.52 
Housing Withdrawals 172,341.30 - 172,341.30 
Insurer - 8,301.41 8,301.41 
Allianz Refund & Pavables 3rd Parties 131,941.13 4,004.62 135,945.75 
Total 319,082.71 562,306.03 881,388.74 

Investments 
5,030.85 

-
-
-

555,732.44 
560,763.29 

ANNEX 3 to 
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2020 
Benefits To1al 
550,000.00 555,030.85 

- -
- -

6,496.53 6,496.53 
2,421.97 558,154.41 

558,918.50 1,119,681.79 

Payables to NATO International Staff (IS) correspond to cash advances made by IS to allow for 
the timely payment of pension and invalidity benefits, tax adjustments and to the USD bank 
account. 

Payables to Departing Staff and Housing Withdrawals to be paid to Staff are transactions 
pending final payment. 

In cases where Allianz has made overpayments to beneficiaries, these need to be reimbursed 
to the insurer. These cases are included under the item Insurer payable. 

Allianz Refund and Payables 3m parties correspond mainly to the payments to former DCPS 
affiliates for the compensatory payment received from Allianz, accruals and unpaid invoices to 
suppliers. In 2021 the distribution of the Allianz compensatory payment to NATO staff who were 
members of the DCPS during the period 2012-2015 continued. As per 31 December, the not 
yet distributed amount was EUR 117,764.71. This amount corresponds to the dues towards 
non active DCPS members whereby the NATO Pensions Unit has to reach out to each individual 
to obtain correct data in order to proceed with the payment. The latter has proven to be a 
cumbersome and lengthy process and will continue in 2022. 

Other Payables in EUR 

2021 2020 

Investments Benefits Total Investments Benefits Total 

!Payable to Allianz - 456.35 456.35 - 456.35 456.35 

!Total - 456.35 456.35 - 456.35 456.35 

Others payables corresponds to an Allianz payment for a staff member to be paid. 

NOTE 7: SURPLUS INVESTMENT/DESINVESTMENT 

Until 1 July 2017, in cases of death in service, the insurance company providing the survivor's 
annuity had a claim on the proceeds of the redemption of the affected member's holdings in an 
amount equal to the lesser of the member's holdings on 31 October of the previous year or the 
insurer's previously established cost of that annuity. Until that date no shortfalls have occurred 
and the accumulated excess, amounting to EUR 80,016.59, has been kept on a suspense 
account. 

NOTE 8: CURRENT YEAR SURPLUS FINANCIAL RESULTS 

The DCPS current year deficit results from the offset between the cumulated realized interest 
earned on the custodial bank account, bank charges, from miscellaneous profit and loss on 
exchange rates and corrective investments effected by the third party administrator at year-end 
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with the unrealized profit/loss recognized at 31 December 2021, as part of the mandatory foreign 
currency assets/liabilities revaluation. 

Below we present a table with comparative figures for both realized and unrealized profit/loss: 

Amounts in EUR 2021 

Unrealized profit/loss on exchange rates (513,365.49) 

Realized net financial result 76,658.41 
Surplus or (Deficit) (436,707.08) 
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2020 

(430,500.04) 

152,298.80 
(278,201.24) 
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Statement of Changes of Net Assets Available for Benefits 
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FC(2022)0050 

NOTE 9: NET UNREALIZED PROFIT OR LOSS IN MARKET VALUE INVESTMENTS 

Unrealized profit or loss in the market value of investments vary according to the volume of 
contributions invested, redemptions, currency fluctuations, and changes in the unit prices of the 
investment funds. 

Below we present a table with comparative figures for the end 2020 and end 2021. 

Amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

Net unrealized rofit in market wlue imestments 106,635,857.82 22,876,185.44 

The below table indicates the origin of this significant increase in unrealized profit; the all over 
growth in share value of the equity investments funds in combination with its share in the total 
investment portfolio. 

31/1212020 31/1212021 2021 Change Share In 

Fund Currency Share Price Number of Shares Shan~ Price Number of Shares In Share Price 2021 Portfolio 

BNP Panbas lnsticash (EUR) EUR 138.0671 976,616.53 137 2172 1,012 540 11 -0.62% 0.41% 

MLF BNYM Liq. Cash (USD) USD 1.2646 7.664,276.14 1 2647 9.969 006 GG 0.01% 4.02% 

Total Cash 8,640,892.67 10,981,546.77 4.42% 

MGF Eurobond Class S (EUR) EUR 1.2599 t0,234,432.21 12188 12.036 873 97 -3.26% 4.85% 

MGF Global Bond (EUR) EUR 2.0384 21 ,017,912.18 2 0474 20.882 147 70 0.44% 8.41% 

MGF Global Bond (USD) USD 2.7872 3,039,201.53 2 5813 2. 779.530 58 ·7.39'Y. 1.12% 

VNG Euro Gowmment Bond Index Fund (EUR) EUR 248.6867 71,986.62 240 0118 73 191 83 -3.4 9% 0.03% 

VNG Global Bond Index Fund (USD) USD 169.6067 43,875.23 166 2024 51,652 77 -2.01% 0.02% 

Total Bonds 34,407,407.77 35,823,396.84 14.43% 

MGF Global Equity Class W (EUR) EUR 1.4A86 177,006,318.47 19032 180,303 311 59 27. 85% 72.65% 

MGF Global Equity Class W (USD) USD 1.6249 16,547,732.42 19167 17.989 014 34 17.96% 725% 

VNG Global Stock Index Fund (EUR) EUR 30.0772 1,878,216.97 393940 2 397.389 57 30.98% 0.97% 

VNG Global Stock Index Fund (USO) USD 36.9723 560,512.07 45 0074 682.816 17 21.73% 028% 

Total Equity 195,992,779.93 201 ,372,531.67 81.14% 

TOTAL INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 239,041,080.37 248,177,475.29 100.00% 

NOTE 10: CONTRIBUTIONS 

A minimum of 8% is deducted from staff emoluments monthly and transferred to DCPS together 
with the NATO employers' contributions of 12% of emoluments. Staff may make additional 
voluntary contributions up to 5%, therefore bringing to 13% the maximum contribution that a 
staff member can pay into its DCPS account (8% mandatory + 5% voluntary). 

There is also an employer contribution to the DCPS, paid by the insurance company, for the 
cases of invalidity benefits. 

The normal trend is that both contributions increase every year due to the combined effect of 
increased membership and annual salary adjustments. 
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NOTE 11: INWARD TRANSFERS OF PENSION RIGHTS 

The NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations (Annex VI, Article 6) provide that staff may, under 
certain circumstances, arrange for payment to the Organization of any amounts corresponding 
to the retirement pension rights accrued under the pension scheme to which the staff member 
was previously affiliated in so far as that scheme allows such a transfer. These payments are 
called inward transfers. 

NOTE 12: TRANSFERS FROM INSURER AND ANNUITY PROVIDER 

Transfers are received from the insurer in relation to amounts due to staff entitled to invalidity 
survivors' benefits (spouses and dependent children of serving staff who are DCPS members 
who die in service). 

NOTE 13: ACCOUNTS CLOSED (STAFF), HOUSING WITHDRAWALS AND OUTWARD 
TRANSFERS OF THE PENSION RIGHTS 

These correspond to accounts of former staff members leaving DCPS that are closed and the 
proceeds paid in whole or in part either to the former staff member. 

Housing withdrawals are amounts withdrawn by active members of the DCPS from their 
holdings to finance a primary residence or to reduce the amount owing on an existing property 
(CPR Annex VI, Article 21 ). 

Outward transfers are also allowed, in which cases the proceeds of ex-DCPS member's closed 
account are paid to the eligible pension scheme (CPR Annex VI, Article 11 ). 

NOTE 14: TRANSFERS TO INSURER OR ANNUITY PROVIDER 

These correspond to staff holdings transferred to the pension provider in order to purchase the 
annuity for members who leave the DCPS and take a DCPS retirement pension. 

When these transactions occur, they are duly disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Net 
Assets Available for Benefits. 
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NOTE 15: PENSION, INVALIDITY, SURVIVOR AND DEPENDANT BENEFITS 

Benefits are paid for retirement, survivor and invalidity pensions. They are paid at the end of 
each month. The following table gives the number of beneficiaries per category of benefits. 

As per end Retirement Survivor Invalidity Total 

2013 4 3 3 10 
2014 8 4 6 18 
2015 8 5 7 20 
2016 9 12 9 30 
2017 10 12 10 32 
2018 10 12 12 34 
2019 12 11 11 34 

2020 12 20 20 52 
2021 12 24 21 57 

In case of invalidity, for eligible staff, an employer contribution is made to the DCPS holdings of 
the individual concerned. 

NOTE 16: PENSION TAX ADJUSTMENT 

More information on this item is provided under Note 1 (Pension Tax Adjustment). 

NOTE 17: MISCELLANEOUS RECEIPTS AND EXPENSES 

Miscellaneous receipts and payments correspond essentially to regularizations. For 2021, the 
costs resulting from payments to former DCPS affiliates during 2012-2015 in relation to DCPS 
group insurance compensatory payment was also booked under these items. 

NOTE 18: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

There are no material contingent liabilities arising from legal actions and claims that are likely 
to result in significant liability to the DCPS. 

Adjustments related to income tax may be due to certain annuity recipients. The amounts are 
yet to be determined but the total of possible obligations relating to this item is not expected to 
be material. 

NOTE 19: CONTINGENT ASSETS 

None to report. 
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NOTE 20: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Members of the DCPS Management Board receive no additional remuneration or benefits in 
return for their participation. The Chairperson of the DCPS Management Board is the Assistant 
Secretary General for Executive Management. The NATO International Staff (IS) Financial 
Controller is a member of the DCPS Management Board. 

NATO International Staff, in particular Executive Management and the Office of Financial 
Control, are responsible for the day-to-day management of the DCPS. No management fees 
corresponding to the related costs are charged to the DCPS. In the global framework of the 
Administrative Support process, the NATO bodies are charged by the IS on a pro rata basis for 
these costs, including the fees paid to the Third Party Administrator. The related income reduces 
the contributions due from Nations to fund the NATO Civil Budget. 

NATO International Staff, under Human Resources Shared Services (HRSS), supports legal 
proceedings of one ongoing precedential court case of a former DCPS affiliate whose lump sum 
payment, received upon departure, has been taxed. 

Since DCPS does not have its own cash holdings to pay the benefits, advances are made by 
NATO IS, to allow the timely payment of annuities for Pensioners, Invalids and Survivors. 

The table below provides an overview of the extant Cash advances at year-end, for the last 3 
years. 

End of Year Cash Advance in EUR 

2019 500,000.00 

2020 550,000.00 

2021 550,000.00 

Conversely, tax adjustment payments are made to beneficiaries from the DCPS Retirement and 
Invalidity accounts as an advance to be settled by the Defined Benefit Pension Scheme budget, 
which handles all tax adjustment operations NATO-wide. This resulted in amounts receivable 
from the latter. 

As provided for by the CPRs (Annex VI , articles 13 and 14), survivors' benefits for the surviving 
spouses and dependent children of serving staff who die in service and invalidity benefits to 
serving staff are funded (partially for survivor benefits, totally for invalidity benefits) through the 
payment of insurance premiums which are paid directly by the NATO bodies to the insurance 
company and are not accounted for in the present financial statements. The table below 
provides comparative data on the insurance premiums paid for Death and Invalidity, over last 
two years: 

Death 
Invalidity 

Death and Invalidity Premiums in EUR 
2021 

4,750,955.59 
5,230,992.71 
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2020 
4,227,589.99 
4,654,745.96 
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NOTE 21: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
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For the purposes of these financial statements, Key Management Personnel are considered to 
be the NATO International Staff (IS) Assistant Secretary General for Executive Management 
and the Financial Controller. Their remuneration is totally covered by the NATO International 
Staff. 

Members of the DCPS Management Board do not receive any additional remuneration or 
benefits in return for their responsibilities. The DCPS Management Board is chaired by the 
Assistant Secretary General for Executive Management. The IS Financial Controller is a 
member of the Board. 

NOTE 22: STATISTICAL INFORMATION 

Calendar Year 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 

Evolution of DCPS memberships 
(number of affiliates) 

Members Joined Members Departed Members Cancelled 
274 0 
527 6 
501 23 
511 43 
443 71 
477 208 
454 260 
274 188 
310 190 
433 214 
345 174 
454 207 
469 220 
547 241 
618 240 
644 200 
642 275 
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Total 
0 274 
0 795 
0 1,273 
0 1,741 
0 2,113 
0 2,382 
0 2,576 
0 2,662 
0 2,782 
0 3,001 
0 3,172 
0 3,419 
0 3,668 
0 3,974 
0 4,352 
1 4,795 
0 5,162 
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NOTE 23: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

As at 31 December 2021 the DCPS Investments portfolio had a market value of EUR 
734,900,251 .14 having recorded at year-end an unrealized market value gain of EUR 
106,635,857.82 

The financial markets have reacted to the deteriorating political situation in Europe, and as 
such the IS-OFC is disclosing the latest available information on the market value of such 
investments. 

The below graphic shows the evolution of the market value of DCPS investments, since the end 
of 2021 until 17 March 2022: 

740 
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640 

DCPS investment portfolio in MEUR 

As of 17 March 2022 the DCPS Investment portfolio decreased by 6.58% in comparison to the 
end of 2021 . 

The total value of holdings is adjusted by the monthly contributions (increase), redemptions 
(decrease) at the first trade date of each month and the housing withdrawals. So, apart from the 
unit price variation from market fluctuations and the switches done by the members (which may 
magnify or dampen the market effect), the contributions invested into/disinvested from the funds 
also affect the total value of DCPS Investment portfolio. 

Given the ongoing Russia's invasion of Ukraine, it is very difficult to predict the short to 
medium term behavior of the markets, but it is not unreasonable to expect that the high 
volatility will persist in the coming months. 
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NATO RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND 
Statement of Net Assets Available for Benefits 

(All amounts in EUR) 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments at market value 
Accounts receivable 

Total Assets 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable 

Total Liabilities 

Net Assets Available for Benefits 

Notes 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
1-1 

Current Year 
31-Dec-21 

3,385,393.35 

428, 123,983.08 

654,026.21 

432,163,402.64 

4,218,652.58 

4,218,652.58 

427,944,750.06 

ANNEX 1 to 

FC(2022)0056 

Prior Year 
31-Dec-20 

1 ,235,185.05 

378,594,921 .63 

905,924.17 

380,736,030.85 

2,474,985.43 

2,474,985.43 

378,261,045.42 
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NATO RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits 

(All amounts in EUR) Notes 

Increase in net assets 
Net unrealized gain in market value of investments (5) 

Investments (5) 
Contributions for current year (8) 

Profit sharing per agreement with insurer (9) 

Fund rebates (5) 

Interest income (10) 

Miscellaneous (12) 

Total Increase in net Assets Available for Benefits 

Decrease in net assets 
Redemptions (5) 

Insurance premiums (11) 
Insurance management fee (11) 

Fund purchase fees/financial costs (1 0) 
Miscellaneous (12) 

Total Decrease in Net Assets Available for Benefits 

Net Increase for the Year 

Net Assets Available for Benefits, Beginning of Year 

Net Assets Available for Benefits, End of Year 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
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Current Year 

31-Dec-21 

49,297,682.20 

30,770,769.55 

231,379.25 

13,420.09 

80,313,251.09 

29,053,337.00 
1,554,446.16 

21,571.33 

191.96 

30,629,546.45 

49,683,704.64 

378,261,045.42 

427,944,750.06 

ANNEX2to 

FC(2022)0056 

Prior Year 

31-Dec-20 

13,523,008.91 

28,637,329.45 
31,082.00 

203,496.35 

5,269.39 

42,400,186.10 

2,500,000.00 
27,408,482.00 

1,466,219.52 
18,442.93 

231.19 

31,393,375.64 

11,006,810.46 

367,254,234.96 

378,261,045.42 
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE 
2021 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 

NATO RETIREES' MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND 

NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION 

ANNEX 3to 
FC(2022)0056 

The Retirees' Medical Claims Fund (RMCF) was set up with effect from 1 January 2001 pursuant 
to Council approval of P0(2000)123. The purpose was to establish a reserve to ensure that 
sufficient funds are available for the years to come to enable NATO to meet its obligations to pay 
the medical expenses of eligible retired staff members and their recognised dependants. 

Description of the Fund 

Staff leaving the Organization after 1 0 consecutive years of service and having reached the age 
of 55 are eligible to reimbursement of medical costs for themselves and their recognized 
dependants (Article 51 .2 of the Civilian Personnel Regulations (CPR)). 

Until 31 December 2000, any staff who had at least 10 years consecutive service and reached 
the age of 65, was covered for life for their medical expenses through Organization's insurers. 
However, with the rise in the number of retirees and the increasing medical costs, the insurers 
were no longer able to cover the expenses. Accordingly, the Organization assumed this 
responsibility as from 1 January 2001 . 

For this purpose, the Retirees' Medical Claims Fund was set up with effect from 1 January 2001 
pursuant to Council approval of P0(2000)123. The Council agreed to the establishment of a 
reserve to ensure that sufficient funds are available for the years to come to enable NATO to meet 
its obligations. 

However, on the date of the creation of the RMCF there existed a potential liability towards staff 
who filled the age and service conditions mentioned above but had not yet retired. No asset was 
provided to fund this initial liability; therefore, from its inception the RMCF was underfunded. 

The Fund only finances retirees from the age of 65. Former staff between the ages of 55 and 65 
are insured under a different financing scheme. 

The RMCF is maintained primarily by the annual premiums paid as continuing insurance. The 
surplus funds collected are invested with the Investment Manager. Funds are disinvested when 
the due premiums exceed the collected funds. 

Financing 

The Fund receives the following contributions: 

• 4.5% of the active agents' emoluments (1/3 borne by the staff, 2/3 by NATO). 
• 5% of the last basic salary of the retirees who are required to contribute (1/3 borne by the 

staff, 2/3 by NATO). 
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In 2015, changes to the Civilian Personnel Regulations were introduced to put an end to situations 
that enabled staff recruited before 1 January 2001 and having contributed at least 25 years not to 
pay a premium after the age of 65. 

Governance 

The rules and principles governing the RMCF are provided at Annex XIII of the NATO CPRs. 
A consultative committee, called the Supervisory Committee, oversees the management of the 
RMCF with the object of ensuring that sufficient funds will always be available to cover medical 
costs until the last NATO pensioner or his/her dependants die. It acts as advisor to the NATO 
Secretary General. 

The composition of the Supervisory Committee is as follows: a Chair appointed by the Secretary 
General (Director of Economics or Financial Controller, NATO-IS- the Chair shall be neutral); one 
representative of the International Staff (Director of Economics or Financial Controller, NATO-IS); 
two representatives for the NATO Production and Logistics Organisations; one representative for 
bodies governed by the Paris Protocol; two staff representatives appointed by the Confederation 
of NATO Civilian Staff Committees and two representatives appointed by the Confederation of 
NATO Retired Civilian Staff Associations. 

The Fund, held in the name of NATO, is entrusted to an independent Investment Manager. 

The Supervisory Committee determines the investment strategy and decides in which funds to 
invest. The Investment Manager executes purchases and sells according to instructions received 
from NATO-IS Treasury within the Office of Financial Control, which are in accordance with 
Supervisory Committee decisions. 

The Investment Manager keeps the Supervisory Committee informed of all matters relating to the 
composition and performance of the funds through regular meetings with the Committee 
members. 

Members of the RMCF Supervisory Committee do not receive any additional remuneration or 
benefits in return for their responsibilities. 

Investment strategy 

For 2021, as since 2009, the Supervisory Committee left unchanged the strategy of investing in 
index funds and maintaining holdings approximately as follows: 

• 50% in European government (sovereign) bonds 
• 25% in global equities 
• 25% in European equities 

With a tolerance of 3% for equities (22-28%) and 5% for bonds (45-55%). 

Vanguard Investment Series pic, a prominent index-fund manager, known as the Investment 
Manager, buys and sells bonds and equities on behalf of the Fund within the objectives and 
restrictions set out in the contract signed with the Organization. Investments are in Euro. 
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Management of the RMCF 

ANNEX 3 to 
FC(2022)0056 

NATO International Staff, in particular Executive Management- Human Resources and the Office 
of Financial Control, are responsible for the day-to-day management of the RMCF. Financial 
services are provided by the Office of Financial Control, NATO-IS. Administrative services and 
secretarial support are provided by Human Resources, Personnel Support. 

NOTE 2: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

RMCF applies the NATO IS Accounting Policies which have been published through 
ON(2021 )0079. 

Declaration of conformity 

The financial statements of the NATO RMCF have been prepared in accordance with the NATO 
Financial Regulations and International Accounting Standard 26 (lAS 26), "Accounting and 
Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans". The NATO Accounting Framework, which is an adapted 
version of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), does not have a specific 
standard for accounting and reporting for post-employment benefits. 

The accounting system used by the NATO RMCF is accrual based. 

The financial statements summarize the transactions and net assets of the Fund. The statements 
do not take into account the liability to pay benefits that fall due after the year end of the reporting 
period. The actuarial position of the NATO RMCF, which takes these liabilities into account, is 
disclosed in Note 3. 

Basis of presentation 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis: the RMCF will continue 
in operation for the foreseeable future. 

The amounts shown in these financial statements are presented in EUR. 

Changes in accounting policy 

There are no changes to report. 

Use of estimates 

In the application of accounting policies, which are described below, management is required to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. Estimates include, but are not limited to: the long term obligation 
of the continued medical coverage and contingent assets. 
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Foreign currency transactions 

The insurance premiums are calculated and paid in EUR and the accounting is in EUR. Since 
mid-2009, contributions are made in EUR; consequently, foreign currency transactions are not 
material. Realized profit and loss resulting from such transactions appear in the Statement of 
Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits. 

Accounting for the RMCF is subject to FC(FAC)(2020)004 which sets out IS/OFC policy for 
accounting and reporting transactions in foreign currency. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term assets. They include deposits held with 
banks and short term highly liquid investments. 

Investments 

Investments reported under these RMCF financial statements consist of equities and government 
bonds in indexed investment funds. These investments are reported as non-current assets 
reflecting the long term financial strategy of the RMCF. 

An index fund is a collective investment scheme that aims to replicate the movements of an index 
of a specific financial market, regardless of market conditions. It does not aim to out-perform the 
market. Index funds are commonly composed of a representative sample rather than all the 
securities in a given market, in appropriate weights. They are subject to a form of passive 
management rather than active management. 

At the end of each reporting period a valuation is made by the Investment Manager at fair value 
by reference to official prices quoted on the day of valuation. The Account Statement received 
from Vanguard's transfer agent uses the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) 
methodology to calculate the Daily Net Asset Value (Daily NAV), a tradable, realisable value on 
the last trading day of the month. These are the values generally reported in financial statements 
by fund investors. 

Amounts are net of purchase costs and increased by rebates. 

Receivables 

Receivables are stated at net realisable value. No allowance for loss is recorded for receivables 
relating to NATO bodies' statutory contributions. 

Payables 

Payables are amounts due to third parties based on goods received or services provided that 
remain unpaid. This includes, as required, an estimate of accrued obligation for goods received 
or services provided but not yet invoiced. 
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The net assets available at year-end correspond essentially to the surplus contributions that were 
not used to pay the insurance premiums and were invested with the Investment Manager or 
awaiting transfer. 

Financial Risks 

The RMCF uses only non-derivative financial instruments as part as its normal operations. These 
financial elements include cash, indexed investment funds, bank accounts, deposit accounts and 
accounts receivable. 

All financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position at their fair value. 

The RMCF is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, market (price) risk and 
liquidity risk. The maximum exposure as at 31 December 2021 is equal to the total amount of 
bank balances, short term deposits, investment funds, and receivables. 

Credit risk 

The RMCF incurs credit risks from cash and cash equivalent held with banks and receivables. 
There is very limited credit risk associated with the realization of these elements. 

Concerning cash and cash equivalent the RMCF credit risk is managed by holding current bank 
accounts and short term highly liquid deposits that are readily convertible to a known amount of 
cash held with lNG Bank (Belgium) which has the following short term credit ratings: 

SHORT TERM RATINGS 

BANK NAME COUNTRY OF HQ FITCH S&P GLOBAL MOODY'S 

Rating I Last review date Rating I Last review date Rating I Last review date 
lNG BANK Netherlands Fl+ I 25-Nov-21 A-1 I 24-Jun-21 P-1 I 02-0ct-20 

Concerning receivables, the credit risk is managed by maintaining control procedures over 
receivables. These consist essentially of contributions due by NATO payroll centers and the 
NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme. This risk is considered limited since these entities are 
funded by member nations which are considered credit worthy. 

Price risk 

The RMCF is exposed to equity securities market risk. 

The two index equity funds in which RMCF funds are invested are not rated. The European 
Government Bond Index Fund is comprised of bonds with ratings as indicated below: 

Rating 

At31.12.2021 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
3-5 

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
3)

00
14

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

ANNEX 3to 
FC(2022)0056 

3-6 

Credit ratings are derived from Moody's, S&P and Fitch. When ratings from all three are 
available, the median rating is used. When ratings are available from two of the agencies, the 
lower rating is used. When one rating is available, that rating is used. 

Currency risk 

Since mid-2009, RMCF is not exposed to foreign currency exchange risk arising from fluctuations 
in currency rates. The scheme receives contributions only in EUR. As explained above, funds 
are invested in EUR and insurance premiums are due in EUR. 

Liquidity risk 

A liquidity risk could arise from a short term liquidity requirement. There is a very limited exposure 
to liquidity risk because contributions from NATO payroll centers are received on a monthly basis, 
are higher than the insurance premiums and are paid by NATO bodies; the NATO bodies receive 
either contributions from their member states or income from their customers, generally other 
NATO bodies funded through their approved budgets. It is only the excess funds (after payment 
of insurance premiums) that are invested with Vanguard Investment Series pic, the Investment 
Manager, with the aim of increasing the assets available for benefits over time. 

In 2021 the RMCF did not make any investments nor disinvestments. 

Interest rate risk 

The RMCF is restricted from entering into borrowings. 

A portion of RMCF is invested in bonds. The market value of bonds fluctuates according to market 
perception of the issuer's creditworthiness and to projected interest rates. The value of assets 
available for benefits is therefore subject to some interest rate risk. 

NOTE 3: ACTUARIAL VALUATION 

The ISRP Actuarial Study Introduction 

The International Service for Remunerations and Pensions (ISRP) is an organization that provides 
statistical, mathematical and actuarial support to the following organizations: 

North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) 
Council or Europe (CoE) 
Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) 
European Space Agency (ESA) 
European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecast (ECMWF) 
European Organization for the Exploitation of Meteorological Satellites (EU METSAT) 
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In accordance with the requirements of the Letter of Mission (LM/SIRP/NAT0(2012)35) signed 
by NATO and the ISRP, the later performed an actuarial study aiming at: 

Estimating the accrued pension and medical coverage liabilities at 31 December 2021 
according to the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS); and 
Producing the IPSAS accounting disclosures related to these liabilities. 

The study is based on comprehensive data of the affiliated population at the end of 2021 provided 
to ISRP by NATO. 

NATO has also supplied data regarding RMCF cash flows over 2021 and asset information for 
the RMCF up to 31 December 2021. 

NATO believes that the results of this report represent a reasonable measure of the RMCF 
underlying liabilities. 

The previous full valuation was performed as at 31 December 2020. 

The study has been conducted in accordance with generally accepted actuarial practices, in close 
collaboration with NATO. Whilst the report complies with IPSAS 39, RMCF financial statements 
are prepared under lAS 26. 

Actuarial Valuation Method 

ISRP used the Projected Unit Credit approach. 

Only the rights accrued up to the valuation date have been taken into account. The rights of 
employees with less than 10 years of service are taken into account proportionally. 

For the calculation of NATO's medical liabilities, the expected post-retirement reimbursements of 
the current DBPS and DCPS population have been estimated, and the expected post-retirement 
contributions from current and future pensioners have been subtracted. 

Actuarial Assumptions 

Actuarial assumptions can be classified as either financial or demographic assumptions. Financial 
assumptions impact the amount of benefits to be paid over time and the net present value whilst 
demographic assumptions reflect the likelihood of payment and factors internal to NATO. 
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The below financial assumptions were considered: 

Assumption Assumption as at 31 

December 2020 

Discount Rate 

-Post-Employment Medical Scheme -0.17% 

Price Inflation 2.00% 

-Medical Inflation 4.00% 

Assumption as at 31 

December 2021 

0.11% 

2.00% 

4.00% 

The discount rate used was the Euro area AAA Government Yield Curve, as at 31 December 
2021. The change in discount rate is due to the change in financial market conditions over 2021. 

In accordance with past practice, as a long-term inflation rate, the European Central Bank's long­
term inflation rate target of 2.0% is used. 

Medical inflation is calculated as a 4.0% increase to the derived rate of inflation. 

Demographic Assumptions 

The demographics at this year-end are the same as those used for the previous year end. 

Mortality tables are a set of probabilities of a person dying within the year at a specific age and 
are an important assumption for the calculation of pension obligations. The ISRP, have produced 
mortality tables specific to international civil servants based in Europe since 2008 in order to have 
more appropriate results, compared to national or regional tables, on the life expectancy of the 
relevant population. This series of tables is known as the International Civil Servants Life Table 
(ICSLT). 

Set out below is a comparison of life expectancies based on the ICSL T 2018 mortality table 
projected from 2018 and the ICSL T 2018 projected from 2021: 

ICSLT 2018 ICSLT 2018 
(2020 Projection) (2021 Projection) 

Males 
60 year old 28.5 28.5 
40 year old now at 60 29.0 29.0 

Females 
60 year old 31.1 31.2 
40 year old now at 60 31.5 31.5 
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The medical inflation assumption remains at 4.0%, like previous year. 

The administrative costs remains estimated at 6.6% of medical reimbursements paid to 
pensioners. 

100% of the current active staff, who become vested deferred members after age 55, are 
assumed to return to claim medical benefits during their retirement. 

Results for RMCF current obligation 

The RMCF obligation as estimated at the end year 2021 is KEUR 4,675,135 (12% decrease 
compared to the 2020 valuation). 

The estimation of the present value of the Post-Employment Medical Scheme Obligation at the 
end of 2020 was KEUR 5,338,722. The change in the liability during 2021 can be summarized as 
follows: 

(amount in KEUR) 2021 
Obligation at 1 January 2021 5,338,722 
Interest Cost -9,055 
Current Service Cost 373,113 
Benefits Paid -24,664 
ktualial (Gains)/Losses -1,002,981 
Obligation at 31 December 2021 4,675,135 

Overall, the currently estimated medical obligation is lower by KEUR 663,587 than estimated last 
year. 

An actuarial gain of KEUR 1 ,002,981 on the liabilities is calculated for 2021 . This is explained by 
a number of factors including the demographic assumptions and the increased discount rate. 

An analysis of the impact of the actuarial gain is included below: 

Impact of change in ... Type of Loss/( Gain) AmountKEUR 
Population Experience 
Updated TtmOver Before Vesting Assumptions Demographic 

Updated Turnover After Vesting Assumptions Demographic 
Updated TtmOver After Vesting Assumptions Demographic 
Updated Turnover After Vesting Assumptions Demographic 
Updated Proportions Married Assumption Demographic 
Updated Orphan Pension Suspension Age Demographic 
Financial Assumptions Financial 
Total actuariallossl(gain) 
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23,212 
-78,811 

-445,436 
-45,395 
-34,192 
-36,055 

nil 
-386,305 

-1,002,981 

% of 2021 YE Liability 
0.3% 

-0.9% 

-5.0% 
-0.5% 
-0.4% 
-0.4% 

-
-4.3% 

-11.2% 
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NOTE 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

The various NATO entities and pensioners pay their contributions into a suspense account. This 
account serves to pay insurance premiums and effect the transfers of funds to be invested by the 
Investment Manager. Short term investments are made as required. 

NOTE 5: FUNDS HELD BY THE INVESTMENT MANAGER 

Distribution of Assets as of 31 December 

2021 2020 

EUR % EUR % 
Euro Gov't Bond Index Fund 207,772,894.20 48.53% 172,399,712.15 45.54% 

Europe Stock Index Fund 109,538,182.13 25.59% 95,456,436.14 25.21% 

Global Stock Index Fund 110,812,906.75 25.88% 110,738,773.34 29.25% 

TOTAL 428,123,983.08 100.00% 378,594,921.63 100.00% 

Details of the changes in investment fund balances available for benefits over the past two years 
are as follows: 

Euro Govt Bond Europe Stock Index Global Stock Index 
inEUR Index Fund Fund Fund TOTAL 

31 Dec 2019 balance 164,663,770.78 98,489,666.72 106,714,978.87 369,868,416.37 
Purchases before purchase fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 000 
Withdrawals 0.00 0.00 -2,500,000.00 -2,500,000 00 
Distributions 0,00 0.00 0.00 000 
Rebates received 67,116.15 35,284.00 101,096.20 203,496.35 
Purchase Fees 000 0.00 0.00 000 
2020 net transactions 67,116.15 35,284.00 -2,398,903.80 -2,296,503 65 

Sum of 31 Dec 2019 balance and 2020 net transactions 164,730,886.93 98,524,950.72 104,316,075.07 367,571,912.72 

Increase/decrease in market wh.Je excluding 2020 net transactions 7,668,825 21 -3,068,514.58 6,422,698.28 11,023,008.91 
31 Dec 2020 balance 172,399,712.15 95,456,436.14 110,738,773.34 378,594,921.63 
Purchases before purchase fees 42,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 42,000,000.00 
Withdrawals 0.00 ·10,000,000.00 ·32,000,000.00 ·42,000,000.00 
Distributions 0.00 0.00 0.00 000 
Rebates received 70,465.68 42,878.55 118,035.02 231,379.25 
Purchase Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
2021 net transactions 42,070,465.68 -9,957,121.45 -31,881,964.98 231,379.25 

Sum of 31 Dec 2020 balance and 2021 net transactions 214,470,177.83 85,499,314.69 78,856,808.36 378,826,300 88 

Increase/decrease in market wh.Je excluding 2021 net transactions ·6,697,283.63 24,038,867.43 31,956,098.39 49,297,682.20 

31 Dec 2021 balance 207,m,894.20 109,538,1112.13 110,812,906.75 428,123,983.08 
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In 2021, Vanguard Investment Series pic index funds tracked their respective benchmarks during 
the period. Their returns, net of expenses and including the effect of reinvested dividends, are 
compared below to that of the corresponding benchmarks for the past two years: 

Returns 
Vanguard index fund Benchmark 

ISIN* Fund name 2021 2020 2021 2020 

IE0007472990 
Euro Government Bond Index Fund 

-3.49% 4.66% 
Spliced Euro Govt Float Adj 

-3.39% 4.72% 
EUR Institutional Shares Bond Index 

IE0007987708 
European Stock Index Fund EUR 

25.49% -3.12% MSCI Europe 25.13% -3.32% 
Institutional Shares 

IEOOB031-D191 
Global Stock Index Fund EUR 

30.98% 6.25% MSCI World 31 .07% 6.33% 
Institutional Shares 

The number of units and daily NAV per unit for the RMCF at year end, together with the resulting 
year-end market values, were as follows: 

2021 2020 
Units NAVin EUR Market Value in EUR Units NAVin EUR Market Value in EUR 

Euro Gov't Bond Index Fund 865,677.83 240.0118 207,772,894.20 693,240.58 248.6867 172,399,712.15 
Europe Stock Index Fund 3,956,260.89 27.6873 109,538,182.13 4,326,343.19 22.064 95,456,436.14 
Global Stock Index Fund 2,812,938.69 39.394 110,812,906.75 3,681 ,817.90 30.0772 110,738,773.34 
TOTAL 428,123,983.08 378,594,921 .63 

The below table provides comparative data of the increase in market value for the last two 
consecutive years: 

Amounts in EUR 2021 2020 
lncrease/(Decrease) in Market Value 49,297,682.20 13,523,008.91 
I nvestments/(Redemptions) 0.00 -2,500,000.00 

In 2021 the financial markets continued a steady growth after a slow recovery in 2020 from the 
COVID 19 crisis. This resulted in a substantial increase in the unrealized profit. 

NOTE 6: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Receivables at year-end were as follows: 

{amounts in EUR) 2021 2020 
Contributions 622,944.21 874,842.17 
Receivable from insurer 31,082.00 31,082.00 
Total accounts receivable 654,026.21 905,924.17 

Contributions are paid on a monthly basis. At the date of issuance of these financial statements, 
no contributions were a year or more past due. 
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There are profit sharing agreements in place for the periods 2012-2016 and 2017-2021 (see note 
9). The RMCF is not entitled to a profit share for 2021. The receivable from the insurer 
corresponds to the 2020 the profit share, which will be settled in 2022. 

NOTE 7: ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

The table below provides comparative data of the amounts payable at year-end for the last two 
consecutive years: 

(amounts in EUR) 2021 2020 
Insurance Premiums 4,093,337.00 2,623,620.20 
Insurer Management Fee 114,446.16 (148,918.68) 
Cash Advance - -
Miscellaneous 10,869.42 283.91 
Total accounts payable 4,218,652.58 2,474,985.43 .. 

For 2021, the RMCF has net payable pos1t1on of EUR 4,207, 783.16 to the 1nsurer. This equals 
to the final 2021 settlement whereby the advances paid to the insurer are regularized against the 
2021 actual insurance premium and management cost. 

Miscellaneous amounts correspond to operations to be regularised with contributors and accrued 
bank fees. 

NOTE 8: CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED 

Contributions received in the course of the year were as follows: 

Contributions (in EUR) 2021 2020 
Active Staff and NATO Employer 29,676,433.55 27,739,437.32 
Retired Staff from DBPS (Defined Benefit Pension Scheme) 986,180.91 826,577.38 
Retired Staff from DCPS (Defined Contribution Pension Scheme) 19,895.97 12,334.16 
Other Retired Staff 88,259.12 58,980.59 
Total 30,770,769.55 28,637,329.45 

NOTE 9: PROFIT SHARING AGREEMENT WITH INSURER 

A profit-sharing arrangement has been entered into, covering the period 2012-2016, whereby 
NATO would be refunded the totality of the difference Premiums X 97% - Reimbursements, if it 
is positive. 

A similar arrangement is in place covering the period 2017-2021, being tacitly renewed annually. 

No profit share has been awarded for 2021. 
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Interest is earned on the bank account for the period during which cash holdings are pending 
investment. Amounts presented are netted of bank charges. 

No interests were earned in 2021. 

NOTE 11: INSURANCE PREMIUMS AND MANAGEMENT FEES 

The insurance premium to cover the medical expenses of the retirees is subject to the NATO 
Group Insurance Policy agreement. 

The value of the insurance premium paid to the insurance company is essentially based on the 
number and age of the beneficiaries. 

The Management Fee is payable annually to the third party administrator, i.e. Allianz. 

In accordance with the group insurance contract, NATO IS pays a monthly advance to the third 
party administrator. Around February of the following year, when the final costs are known, these 
are offset against the advances paid during the year. 

The below table provides comparative data on the insurance premiums and management fee 
costs over the last two consecutive years: 

(amounts in EUR) 2021 2020 
Insurance Premiuns 29,053,337.00 27,408,482. 00 
Management fees 1,554,446.16 1,466,219.52 

The increase in insurance premiums and management fees between 2020 and 2021 is caused 
by increased number of affiliates and the aging factor. 

The table below provides comparative data for the two last consecutive years: 

(amounts in EUR) 2021 2020 
Contributions 30,770,769.55 28,637,329.45 
Insurance Premiuns 29,053,337.00 27,408,482.00 
Management fees 1,554,446.16 1,466,219.52 
Net Result 162,986.39 -237,372.07 

In 2020 the contributions have sufficiently covered the insurance premium and management fee 
for the year. 
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Corresponds to miscellaneous transactions essentially net financial results and foreign exchange 
results. 

NOTE 13: CONTINGENT ASSETS 

None to report. 

NOTE 14: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

There are no material contingent liabilities arising from legal actions and claims that are likely to 
result in significant liability to the RMCF. 

NOTE 15: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The following related party transactions took place during the year ended 31 December 2021. 

NATO International Staff, in particular Executive Management- Human Resources and the Office 
of Financial Control, are responsible for the day-to-day management of the RMCF. None of the 
costs related to the administrative services provided by NATO International Staff are charged to 
the RMCF. 

NOTE 16: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

For the purpose of these financial statements, key management personnel are considered to be 
the Assistant Secretary General for Executive Management and the Financial Controller of the 
International Staff. Their remuneration is entirely covered by the International Staff. 

Members of the RMCF Supervisory Committee do not receive any additional remuneration or 
benefits in return for their responsibilities. The International Staff Financial Controller is the 
Chairperson of the Supervisory Committee. 

The Fund does not hold any securities of the employer sponsor or, directly, of its related parties. PU
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NOTE 17: STATISTICAL INFORMATION 

Evolution of RMCF 
(number of beneficiaries) 

Calendar Year Members Joined Members Departed 
2001 166 0 

2002 250 1 
2003 229 4 
2004 242 14 

2005 328 15 
2006 258 27 
2007 259 25 

2008 333 37 
2009 330 32 
2010 316 37 

2011 401 39 
2012 265 27 
2013 268 63 

2014 533 62 
2015 386 163 
2016 729 136 

2017 286 211 
2018 305 146 
2019 350 214 

2020 392 227 
2021 347 123 

NOTE 18: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

Total 
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166 

415 
640 
868 

1,181 
1,412 
1,646 

1,942 
2,240 
2,519 

2,881 
3,119 
3,324 

3,795 
4,018 
4,611 

4,686 

4,845 
4,981 

5,146 

5,370 

As at 31 December 2021 the RMCF Investments had a market value of EUR 428,123,983 
having recorded at year-end a unrealized market value gain of EUR 49,297,628. 

The financial markets have reacted to the deteriorating political situation in Europe, and as such 
the IS-OFC is disclosing the latest available information on the market value of such 
investments. 
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The below graphic shows the evolution of the market value of RMCF investments, since the end 
of 2021 until 18 March 2022. 

435 

415 
410 
405 
400 

395 
390 
385 
380 

RMCF Assets in MEUR 

411 410 
408 

399 

As of 18 March 2022 the RMCF Investment portfolio still shows an unrealized gain of EUR 
35,937,439.64 comparing to the end of 2020. 

Given the ongoing Russia's invasion of Ukraine, it is very difficult to predict the short to medium 
term behavior of the markets, but it's not unreasonable to expect that the high volatility will persist 
in the coming months. · 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

ANNEX 1 to 

FC(2022}0044 

NATO MSIAC 

Statement of financial position 
As at 31 December 2021 

(in EUR) 

Notes Current Year Prior Year Variance 

2021 2020 CY-PY 

Assets 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 3 1,024,909.70 986,141.68 38,768.02 
Short term investments 3 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Receivables 4 800.00 83,097.75 -82,297.75 
Prepayments 5 13,817.33 28,794.00 -14,976.67 
Other current assets 5 67,577.86 62,024.68 5,553.18 
Inventories 6 0.00 

1,107,104.89 1,160,058.11 -52,953.22 

Non-current assets 
Receivables 8 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Property, plant & equipment 7 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Intangible assets 7 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Other non-current assets 8 0.00 0.00 0.00 

0.00 0.00 0.00 

Total assets 1,107,104.89 1,160,058.11 -52,953.22 

Liabilities 
Current /labilities 
Payables 9 295,681.07 323,451.65 -27,770.58 
Deferred revenue 10 43,374.97 35,000.57 8,374.40 
Advances 11 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Provisions 12 67,344.56 58,963.38 8,381.18 
Other current liabilities 13 53,613.91 145,073.57 -91,459.66 

460,014.51 562,489.17 -102,474.66 

Non-current liabilities 
Payables 14 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Long term provisions 14 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Non Current Deferred revenue 14 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Other non-current liabilities 14 0.00 0.00 0.00 

0.00 0.00 0.00 

Total liabilities 460,014.51 562,489.17 -102,474.66 

Net assets 
Capital assets 
Reserves 
Accumulated surplus I (deficit} 470,077.16 596,768.94 -126,691.78 
Current year surplus I (deficit} 177,013.22 800.00 176,213.22 

Total net assets/ eguity 15 647,090.38 597,568.94 49,521.44 
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Revenue 
Non exchange revenue 
Services, Joining Fees and Early Access 
Contributions 

Exchange revenue 

Other revenue 

Financial revenue 

Total revenue 

Expenses 
Personnel 

Contractual supplies and services 

Depreciation and amortization 

Impairment 

Provisions 

Other expenses 

Finance costs 

Total ex~enses 

Sur~lus/(Deficit) for the period 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATO MSIAC 

Statement of financial performance 

As at 31 December 2021 

Notes Current Year 

2021 

16 

1,809,564.25 

177,013.22 

0.00 

16,958.51 

43.79 

2,003,579.77 

17 

1 ,394,296.73 

420,814.85 

0.00 

0.00 

8,381.18 

0.00 

3,073.79 

1,826,566.55 

177,013.22 
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Prior Year 

2020 

1 ,651,035.22 

800.00 

0.00 

33,600.24 

1,300.60 

1 ,686, 736.06 

1,346,759.14 

311,917.36 

0.00 

0.00 

25,750.97 

0.00 

1,508.59 

1,685,936.06 

800.00 

ANNEX 2 to 

FC(2022)0044 

(in EUR) 

Variance 

CY-PY 

158,529.03 

176,213.22 

0.00 

-16,641.73 

-1,256.81 

316,843.71 

47,537.59 

108,897.49 

0.00 

0.00 

-17,369.79 

0.00 

1,565.20 

140,630.49 

176,213.22 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATO MSIAC 
Statement of cash flow 

As at 31 December 2021 

Cash flow from operating activities 
Surplus/(Deficit) 

Non-cash movements 
Depreciation/ Amortisation 

Impairment 

Use of Cash Reserves 

Increase /(decrease) in payables 

Increase/ (decrease) in other current liabilities 

Increase/ (decrease) in provisions 

(Gains)/losses on sale of property, plant and equipment 

Decrease/ (Increase) in other current assets 

Decrease/ (Increase) in receivables 

Decrease/ (Increase) in other non-current assets 

Net cash flow from operating activities 

Cash flow from investing activities 
Purchase of property plant and equipment /Intangible assets 

Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment 

Net cash flow from investing activities 

Cash flow from financing activities 

Net cash flow from financing activities 

Net increase/( decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the period 

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the period 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
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2021 

177,013.22 

-127,491 .78 

-27.770.58 

-83,085.26 

8,381 .18 

9,423.49 

82,297.75 

38,768.02 

0.00 

0.00 

38,768.02 

986,141.68 

1,024,909.70 

ANNEX 3 to 

FC(2022)0044 

(in EUR) 

2020 

800.00 

-22,942.53 

-266,581.41 

-42,427.34 

25,750.97 

-25,749.31 

-78,097.75 

-409,247.37 

0.00 

0.00 

-409,247.37 

1,395,389.05 

986,141.68 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATO MSIAC 

ANNEX4to 

FC(2022)0044 

Statement of Change in Net Assets/Equity 
As at 31 December 2021 

Balance at the beginning of the period 2020 

Changes in accounting policy 

Restated balance 

Net gains/(losses) recognised directly in net assets/equity 

Exchange difference on translating foreign operations 

Gain on property revaluation 

Use of Cash Reserves 

Surplus/( deficit) for the period 

Change in net assets/equity for the year ended 2020 

Balance at the beginning of the period 2021 

Changes in accounting policy 

Restated balance 

Exchange difference on translating foreign operations 

Gain on property revaluation 

Use of Cash Reserves 

Surplus/( deficit) for the period 

Change in net assets/equity for the year ended 2021 

Balance at the end of the period 2021 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
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(In EUR) 

619,711.47 

-22,942.53 
800.00 

~.568.94 

597,568.94 

-127,491.78 
177,013.22 
647,090.38 

647,090.38 
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In itial budget Transfers 
(Amounts 1n euro) 

Budget 2021 
Chapter 1 1,453,500 0 

Chapter2 342,600 0 
Chapter3 0 

Chapter4 0 
Total FY 2021 1,796,100 0 

Budget 2020 
Chapter 1 0 
Chapter2 35,001 
Chapter3 0 
Chapter4 0 
Total FY 2020 35,001 0 

Budget2019 
Chapter 1 0 
Chapter2 0 
Chapter3 0 
Total FY 2019 0 0 

Total all budgets 1,831,101 0 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATOMSIAC 
Statement of Budget Execution 

BA2 

1,453,500 

342,600 

0 
0 

1,796,100 

0 
35,001 

0 
0 

35,001 

0 
0 
0 
0 

1,831,101 

as al31 December 2021 

Transfers BA3 

-59,200 1 394,300 

59,200 401 ,800 

0 
0 

0 1,796,100 

0 
35,001 

0 
0 

0 35,001 

0 
0 
0 

0 0 

0 1,831,101 
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Increase/De 
crease 

58 ,000 

58,000 

0 

0 

58,000 

ANNEX 5to 

FC(2022)0044 

Final budget Actuals Carry forward Lapsed 

1,394,300 1,394,297 0 3 
459,800 414,180 43,375 2,245 

0 0 
0 0 

1,854,100 1,808,477 43,375 2,248 

0 0 0 0 
35,001 6,634 0 28,366 

0 0 
0 0 

35,001 6,634 0 28,366 

0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 
0 0 
0 0 0 0 

1,889,101 1,815,112 43,375 30,614 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-1 

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO MSIAC 

2021 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION 

ANNEX 6 to 

FC(2022)0044 

At the October 1990 Conference of National Armaments Directors (CNAD) meeting, the MOU establishing 
NATO Insensitive Munitions Information Centre (NIMIC) as a Project Office under CNAD was signed. The 
project transitioned to cover the wider aspects of Munition Safety in 2004 becoming the Munitions Safety 
Information Analysis Centre (MSIAC) 

MSIAC is a member nations' funded and directed NATO Project office. Its goal is to help nations reduce 
and eliminate the risk to personnel and materiel from explosive incidents associated with own munitions. 
To help nations realise this goal, the project exchanges and analyses information and technology related 
to munition safety. MSIAC plays a central role in facilitating member nation's efforts to safely store, design, 
develop, procure and use safer munitions. 

At the end of 2020, MSIAC had fifteen participating countries: Australia, Belgium, Canada, Finland, France, 
Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Spain, Sweden, the United Kingdom, the United States, Poland 
and the Republic of Korea. In December 2021, Switzerland joined MSIAC bringing the total membership to 
sixteen nations. 

MSIAC allows other nations to participate in selected MSIAC sponsored courses or training events. These 
are called MSIAC Partner Nations. 

The MSIAC Steering Committee (one representative per member nation) is the governing body of the 
MSIAC. Steering Committee members are nominated by their respective national authorities. 

For administrative purposes only, MSIAC is attached to the Defence Investment Division of the IS. 

The member countries pay all operational and administrative costs relating to the Project office, in 
accordance with an agreed cost-sharing formula which is based on a share value. As of 2019, the cost 
share amounts to EUR 88,000. 

In 2021, there were 11 nations paying 1 share and 4 nations paying 2 shares and Switzerland paid its 
proportional part of its share. In total there are 20 shares from official members. 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

ANNEX6to 

FC(2022)0044 

NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

6-2 

MSIAC applies the NATO IS Accounting Policies which have been published through ON(2021 )0079. 

Declaration of Conformity 

The MSIAC financial statements have been prepared in accordance with NATO Financial Regulations 
(NFR), the Financial Rules and Procedures (FRP) and the NATO Accounting Framework, which is an 
adapted version of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). 

Basis of Preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis. The assumption is that MSIAC 
is a going concern and will continue in operation and meet its objectives and obligations for the foreseeable 
future. 

The financial year is from 1 January to 31 December. 

The amounts shown in these financial statements are presented in EUR. 

MSIAC applied IPSAS 9 Revenue from exchange transactions and IPSAS 23 Revenue from non-exchange 
transactions. 

The following IPSAS have no material effect on the 2020 MSIAC financial statements: 

• IPSAS 5: Borrowing Costs 

• IPSAS 6: Consolidated and Separate Financial 

• IPSAS 7: Investments in Associates. 

• IPSAS 8: Interests in Joint Ventures 

• IPSAS 10: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 

• IPSAS 11: Construction Contracts 

• IPSAS 16: Investment Property 

• IPSAS 21: Impairment of non-cash generating assets 

• IPSAS 26: Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets 

• IPSAS 27: Agriculture 

• IPSAS 32: Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor 
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Changes in accounting policy 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-3 ANNEX 6 to 

FC(2022)0044 

In 2021 MSIAC has aligned its accounting policy to all entities under control of NATO IS Office of Financial 
Control. 

The prepayments done in the context of the education allowances are therefore reported under 
"Prepayments" instead of "Other current assets" as part of "Assets" in the Statement of Financial Position. 

The revenue resulting from the provisions for untaken leave has been classified under "Other Revenue" 
instead of "Non exchange revenue" in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

Reclassification of Financial Statements of Previous Years 

As a result of to the above mentioned change in accounting policy, below you can find the 2020 
reclassified Statement of Financial Position for comparative purposes: 

(in EUR) 
Notes Current Year Prior Year Prior Year 

2021 2020 2020 

Assets 

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 3 1 ,024,909. 70 986,141.68 986,141.68 
Short term investments 3 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Receivables 4 800.00 83,097.75 83,097.75 
Prepayments 5 13,817.33 28,794.00L_ 0.00 
Other current assets 5 67,577.86 62,024.68 90,818.68 
Inventories 6 

1,039,880.33 1,160,058.11 1,160,058.11 

Non-current assets 
Receivables 8 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Property, plant & equipment 7 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Intangible assets 7 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Other non-current assets 8 0.00 0.00 0.00 

0.00 0.00 0.00 

Total assets 1,039,880.33 1,160,058.11 1,160,058.11 
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ANNEX 6 to 

FC(2022)0044 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-4 

Below you find the 2020 reclassified Statement of Financial Performance for comparative purposes: 

(in EUR) 

Notes Current Year Prior Year Prior Year 

2021 2020 2020 

Revenue 16 

1,809,564.25 1 ,651 ,035.22 1,676,786.19 Non exchange revenue 
Sennces, Joining Fees and 
Early Access Contributions 

Exchange revenue 

Other revenue 

177,013.22 

0.00 

16,958.51 

mro.oo J 800.00 

0.00 0.00 

33,600.24 7,849.27 
Financial revenue 43.79 1,300.60 1,300.60 

Total revenue 2,003,579. 77 1,686,736.06 1,686,736.06 

Restatement of Financial Statements of Previous Years 

None. 

Use of Estimates 

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the financial statements include amounts 
based on estimates and assumptions by management, according to the most reliable information available, 
judgement and assumptions. Estimates include accrued revenue and expenses. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. Changes in estimates are reflected in the period in which they become known. 

Foreign Currency Transactions 

The MSIAC budget is authorized and managed in EUR so contributions called are made in EUR. Foreign 
currency transactions as required are accounted for at the NATO exchange rates prevailing on the date of 
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities at year-end which were denominated in foreign currencies 
were converted into EUR using the NATO rates of exchange applicable at year end. 

Realised and unrealised gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
revaluation of monetary assets at the reporting dates, and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

MSIAC does not have any unrealised gains and losses resulting from the translation of statements. 

MSIAC accounting is subject to FC(FAC)(2020)004 which sets out IS/OFC policy for accounting and 
reporting transactions in foreign currency. 
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Financial Risks 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-5 ANNEX 6 to 

FC(2022)0044 

MSIAC uses only non-derivative financial instruments as part of its normal operations. These financial 
instruments include cash, bank accounts and deposit accounts. 

All the financial instruments are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at their fair value. 

The organisation is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including foreign exchange risk, credit risk, 
currency risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. 

a. Foreign currency exchange risk 

The exposure to foreign currency risk is limited as the majority of the NATO-MSIAC's expenditures are 
made in EUR, the currency of its budget. The current bank accounts are held in EURO. 

b. Credit risk 

NATO MSIAC incurs credit risks from cash and cash equivalent held with banks and from receivables. 

The maximum exposure as of year-end is equal to the total amount of bank balances, short-term deposits 
and receivables. There is very limited credit risk associated with the realization of these elements. 

Concerning cash and cash equivalent NATO MSIAC credit risk is managed by holding current bank 
accounts and short-term, highly liquid deposits that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash held 
with lNG Bank (Belgium) which has the following short-term credit ratings: 

SHORT TERM RATINGS 
BANK NAME ~OUNTRY OF HQ FITCH I S&P GLOBAL I MOODY'S 

Rating ILastreviewdate !Rating ILastreviewdate !Rating I Last review date 

liNG BANK !Netherlands I F1+ I 25-Nov-2021 I A-1 I 24-Jun-2021 I P-1 I 2-0ct-2020 

The MSIAC outstanding accounts receivable are managed by maintaining control procedures over 
receivables. Most cash receivables are due from Member Nations, which are considered credit worthy. 

c. Liquidity risk 

The liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is based on the assessment as to whether the Organisation 
will encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations associated with financial liabilities. A liquidity risk could 
arise from a short-term liquidity requirement. There is a very limited exposure to liquidity risk since MSIAC 
funding mechanism guarantees contributions in relation to approved budgets. Some limited risk could be 
due to the accuracy of budget forecasts. However, history shows that the budgetary process results in 
surpluses and, in any case, the applicable rules allow the revision of budgets. 

d. Interest rate risk 

Except for certain cash and cash equivalent balances, MSIAC's financial assets and liabilities do not have 
associated interest rates. MSIAC is restricted from entering into borrowings and investments, and, 
therefore, there is an insignificant interest rate risk. Interest earned is not a budgetary resource but 
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ANNEX 6to 

FC(2022)0044 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-6 

contributes to the surplus owed to Nations. In case of negative interest rates, these are added to the 
amounts called from Member Nations. 

Current Assets 

a. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term assets. They include cash in hand, short-term 
deposits held with banks, and other short-term, highly liquid investments. 

b. Receivables 

Receivables are stated at net realisable value, after provision for doubtful and uncollectible debts. 

Contributions receivable are recognised when a call for contribution has been issued to the funding nations. 
No allowance for loss is recorded with respect to Member countries' assessed contributions receivable. 

c. Prepayments 

A prepayment is a payment in advance of the period to which it pertains and is mainly in respect of an 
advance payment made to a third party. This item may include advances made to staff in accordance with 
Civilian Personnel Regulations (such as advances on salary or on education allowance in consideration of 
the fact that these are the advances on future staff benefits). 

d. Inventories 

NATO's adaptations of IPSAS are spelled out in C-M(2016)0023 of April 2016, which includes IPSAS 12 
Inventories. Furthermore, C-M(2017)0043 of September 2017, approved the NATO Accounting Policy for 
Inventory. 

When it comes to assessing the control of NATO Inventory, these documents define a set of 10 criteria to 
be used in assessing the level of control of an inventory asset. A positive response on six of the criteria 
will lead to the asset being capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the capitalization threshold. 
This is applied from January 2013 under the initial NATO Accounting Framework C-M(2013)0039 of July 
2013. 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-7 

Criteria that may indicate control of an asset: 

ANNEX 6 to 

FC(2022)0044 

• The act of purchasing the asset carried out (or resulted from instructions given) by the NATO 
Reporting Entity. 

• The legal title is in the name of the NATO Reporting Entity. 

• The asset is physically located on the premises or locations used by the NATO Reporting Entity. 

• The asset is physically used by staff employed by the NATO Reporting Entity or staff working under 
the NATO Reporting Entity's instructions. 

• The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity can decide on an alternative use of the asset. 

• The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity can decide to sell or to dispose the asset. 

• The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity, if it has to remove or destroy the asset, can take the 
decision to replace it. 

• The fact that a representative of the NATO Reporting Entity regularly inspects the asset to 
determine its current condition. 

• The fact that the asset is used in achieving the objectives of the NATO Reporting Entity. 

• The fact that the asset will be retained by the NATO Reporting Entity at the end of the activity. 

Capitalization thresholds relevant to the financial statement are as follows: 

Category Threshold Basis 

Consumables €50,000 Per location/warehouse 

Spare Parts €50,000 Per location/warehouse 

Ammunition €50,000 Per location/warehouse 

Strategic stocks €50,000 Per location/warehouse 

The MSIAC will capitalize inventory which it controls in its financial statements. Where there is a conflict 
between more than one NATO Reporting Entity as to the control of inventory, only the end-user entity will 
report the inventory in its financial statements, based on reliable information provided by the NATO services 
provider entity as defined in individual agreements between the two entities. 

The MSIAC will include transportation costs involved in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition in the initial valuation of inventory. These costs will be measured on the actual cost of 
transportation per item of inventory or by using an apportionment of the global transportation costs of 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition across all inventory items in the period. 
Transportation costs involved in the subsequent movement of inventory which brings them into operational 
use will not be included in the value of inventory. The method of measuring these costs will be disclosed. 

The MSIAC considers inventory acquired prior to 1 January 2013 as fully expensed. 

For inventory held prior to 1 January 2013, and not previously recognized as an asset, the MSIAC will 
provide a brief description of inventory held within their inventory recording systems in the notes to the 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-8 

financial statements. Such disclosure will include as a minimum the types of inventories held, locations 
where inventories are held and the approximate number of items held per asset category. 

Where this adaptation conflicts with another requirement of IPSAS this adaptation shall apply. For the 
remainder, IPSAS 12 shall apply. 

The MSIAC assesses inventories under IPSAS 12. The outcome of this assessment is that the value of 
the inventories is immaterial both in value and in terms of the nature of the items held. Consequently, 
inventory is fully expensed on receipt. The materiality will be assessed each year. 

In consideration of all the above, MSIAC currently has no inventory. 

Non-current assets- Fixed assets (Property, Plant & Equipment and Intangible Assets) 

a. Property, Plant & Equipment 

NATO's adaptation of IPSAS are spelled out in C-M(2016)0023 of April 2016 among which are specific 
items addressing IPSAS 17 PPE. Furthermore, C-M(2017)0022 (INV) approved the NATO Accounting 
Policy for Property, Plant and Equipment. 

When it comes to assessing the control of NATO over PPE, these documents define a set of 10 criteria to 
be used in assessing the level of control of a tangible asset. A positive response on six of the criteria will 
lead to the asset being capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the capitalization threshold. This 
is applied from January 2013 under the initial NATO Accounting Framework C-M(2013)0039 of July 2013. 

Capitalization thresholds relevant to the financial statement are as follows: 

Category Threshold Depreciation Life 

Land €200,000 N/A 

Buildings €200,000 40 years 

Other infrastructure €200,000 40 years 

Installed eguipment € 30,000 10 years 

Machinery € 30,000 10 years 

Vehicles € 10,000 5 years 

Aircraft €200,000 Dependent on type 

Vessels €200,000 Dependent on type 

Mission equipment € 50,000 3 years 

Furniture € 30,000 10 years 

Communications € 50,000 3 years 

Automated information systems € 50,000 3 years 
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The MSIAC considers PPE acquired prior to 1 January 2013 as fully expensed. However, existing 
accounting policies will continue to be applied for any PPE assets already capitalized prior to 1 January 
2013. For PPE upgraded after 1 January 2013, only the portion related to the modification will be capitalized. 

In consideration of the above thresholds, MSIAC currently has no PPE. 

b. Intangible Assets 

NATO's adaptations of IPSAS are spelled out in C-M(2017)0023 of April 2013, which includes IPSAS 31 
Intangible Assets. Furthermore, C-M(2017)0044 approved the NATO Accounting Policy for Intangible 
Assets. 

When it comes to assessing the control of NATO over Intangible Assets, these documents define a set of 
10 criteria to be used in assessing the level of control of an Intangible Asset -they are the same as 
mentioned above under Inventory. A positive response on six of the criteria will lead to the asset being 
capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the capitalization threshold. This is applied from 
January, 2013, under the initial NATO Accounting Framework C-M(2013)0039 of July 2013. 

MSIAC will capitalize each intangible asset item above the following agreed NATO thresholds: 

Category Threshold Depreciation Life Method 

Computer software (commercial off the shelf) €50,000 4_y_ears Straight line 

Computer software (bespoke) €50,000 10 years Stra_jg_ht line 

Computer database €50,000 4_years Straight line 

Integrated system €50,000 4_y_ears Straight line 

For anything below the threshold, the MSIAC will have the flexibility to expense specific items. 

MSIAC will capitalize integrated systems and include research, development, implementation and can 
include both software and hardware elements. But the MSIAC will not capitalize the following types of 
intangible assets in their financial statements: 

• rights of use (air, land and water); 

• landing rights; 

• airport gates and slots; 

• historical documents; and, 

• publications 
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MSIAC will capitalize other types of intangible assets acquired after 1 January 2013 including: 

• Copyright 

• Intellectual Property Rights 

• Software development 

MSIAC considers Intangible Assets acquired prior to 1 January 2013 as fully expensed. 

MSIAC will report controlled Intangible assets in its financial statements. Where there is a conflict between 
more than one NATO Reporting Entity as to the control of intangible assets. only the end-use entity will 
capitalize the intangible asset in its financial statements based on reliable information provided by the NATO 
services provider entity as defined in individual agreements between the two entities. 

For intangible assets held prior to the 1 January 2013, and not previously recognized as an asset, MSIAC 
will provide a brief description of intangible assets held in its intangible asset recording systems in the notes 
to the financial statements. Such disclosure will include as a minimum the types of intangible held, locations 
where intangible assets are held and the approximate number of items held per asset category. 

If an intangible asset is upgraded after 1 January 2013, only the portion related to the modification will be 
capitalized. 

Where this adaptation conflicts with another requirement of IPSAS this adaptation will apply. For the 
remainder, IPSAS 31 shall apply. This adaptation is effective for financial reporting periods beginning on 1 
January 2013. 

In consideration of the above thresholds, MSIAC has no Intangible Assets. 

Non-Current Assets other than PPE 

In case there are any non-current assets, these will be disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Current Liabilities 

a. Payables 

Payables are amounts due to third parties, including Member Nations, based on goods received or services 
provided that remain unpaid. These include estimates of accrued obligations to third parties for goods and 
services received but not yet invoiced. Amounts due to Member Nations in the context of their budget 
contributions are booked under Other Current Liabilities. 

b. Advances and Unearned revenue 

Advances are contributions received related to future year's budgets. Funds are called in advance of their 
need because MSIAC has no capital that would allow it to pre-finance any of its activities. 

Unearned revenue represents Member Nations contributions which have been called for current budgets 
but that have not yet been recognised as revenue in the absence of any related budgetary expenditure. 
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c. Other Current Liabilities 
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Amounts corresponding to the current budgetary surplus (lapsed credits + net interests + miscellaneous 
income) are considered a liability towards the Member Nations. The settlement does not follow the normal 
accounts payable process, since the standard approach is to return them to Member Nations via a 
deduction of the following year's call for budget contributions. This liability is therefore classified under Other 
Current Liabilities. 

This item may include other liabilities that do not result from the standard procure-to-pay process, such as 
miscellaneous transactions to be regularized between entities managed by the IS Office of Financial 
Control. 

Non-Current Liabilities 

The MSIAC has no non-current liabilities. 

Net Assets 

Net Assets correspond to MSIAC's Project Accumulated Surplus. Project Accumulated Surplus relates to 
funds resulting from past years' contributions by MSIAC member Nations in excess of budget execution 
that the Steering Committee decided not to redistribute to the member nations but keep for the needs of 
MSIAC. It is held at the direction of the Steering Committee. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue comprises contributions from Member Nations, pro-rated contributions (partial calls), joining fees 
from new Member Nations and services, such as training sessions, provided. 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
the revenue can be measured reliably. The balance of unspent contributions and other revenues that relate 
to future periods are deferred accordingly. 

Where a transfer is subject to conditions that, if unfulfilled, require the return of the transferred resources, 
the entity recognises a liability until the condition is fulfilled . 

Contributions to be called from Member Nations, based on the budget they approved, are initially recorded 
as unearned revenue liabilities. They are recognised as revenue in the statement of financial performance 
when such contributions are used for their intended purpose as envisioned in the approved Budget. 

On the other hand, calls related to non-budgeted contributions (new membership early access, access 
during the year, and Joining Fees from new Member Nations) are recognized when they are issued and as 
Non-Exchange revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance, considering that it is not possible to 
directly identify and value the consideration provided by MSIAC directly in return for the resources received. 
There are no expenses to be matched against these resources which are not refundable to nations. 

Segment Reporting 

A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities for which it is appropriate to separately report 
financial information. There is no segment in MSIAC. 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-11 

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
3)

00
14

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

ANNEX6to 

FC(2022)0044 

Statement of Financial Position 

6-12 

NOTE 3: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS- SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS 

The current bank accounts are held in EUR. Cash deposited is immediately available. There are no short­
term investments. 

Below is a snapshot of MSIAC's cash and cash equivalents at the year-end: 

Amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

Cash at bank 1 '024,909. 70 986,141 .68 
Petty cash - -
Total 1 ,024,909. 70 986,141.68 

NOTE 4: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Below is a snapshot of MSIAC's receivables at the year-end: 

Amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

!Others 800.00 83,097.75 
I Total 800.00 83,097.75 

The receivables correspond to one open invoice to be paid by a Partner Nation for a training participation. 

NOTE 5: PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

Prepayments and Other Current Assets relate to miscellaneous amounts due to the Project Office in relation 
to services to be received in the following years and advances made to staff in relation to benefits of the 
following year (essentially advances to staff for education allowances or for travel, etc.). 

Following table presents a snapshot of MSIAC's Prepayments and Other Current Assets at the year-end: 

Amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

Prepayments to Staff 13,817.33 28,794.00 
Other Current Assets 67,577.86 62,024.68 
Total 81,395.19 90,818.68 

Prepayments to staff correspond to Education Allowance advances for an amount of EUR 13,817.33. 

Other Current Assets include the counterpart of untaken leave as a valuation of the potential budgetary 
contribution that would be required if this untaken leave were to be paid. Even though NATO policy (both 
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Civilian Personnel Regulations and IS HR directives) is that untaken leave must be paid only as a last 
recourse (Staff is compelled to take all their leave before retiring), for informative purposes we have chosen 
to disclose the amount payable, if MSIAC would shut down its activities as of 31 December 2021. For 2021 
the recognized Untaken Leave amount is EUR 67,224.56. This item also includes EUR 353.30 related to 
a cash advance paid by NATO-IS. 

NOTE 6: INVENTORIES 

Nothing to report, inventories are not considered material. 

NOTE 7: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPEMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

MSIAC does not hold any property, plant and equipment. Nor does MSIAC hold any intangible assets. 

NOTE 8: NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES AND OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

MSIAC has registered no non-current receivables or other non-current assets. 

NOTE 9: PAY ABLES 

Payables and accrued expenses may relate to commercial suppliers, staff, other NATO bodies or MSIAC 
Member Nations. 

Payable to suppliers relates to goods and services for which an invoice has been received, checked, and 
queued for payment but for which payment was still pending at year-end. 

Accrued expenses correspond to EUR 68,904.99 and is the estimated accrual obligation to third parties for 
goods and services received but not yet invoiced. 

Payable to nations 

The payable to Member Nations is linked to the reimbursable salaries and represents the amount due to 
the United States (US) for one civilian staff member who is paid directly by the US government. This amount 
remains to be regularised . Similar to 2020, in2021, the US MSIAC contribution (EUR 176,000.00) was offset 
with part of this payable item. At the end of the year, this payable account showed a balance of EUR 
94,218.98. 
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Below is a snapshot of MSIAC's payables at the year-end: 

Amounts in EUR 
2021 

Suppliers 132,557.10 
Member Nations 94,218.98 
Accruals 68,904.99 
Total 295,681.07 

NOTE 10: DEFERRED REVENUE 

2020 
37,018.97 

270,218.98 
16,213.70 

323,451.65 

Deferred revenue corresponds to contributions called for the current year or before (received or 
receivable) that MSIAC intends to use for its initial purpose, but for which corresponding goods or 
services could not be received in the course of the current budget year but will be incurred after the end 
of the reporting period. If these amounts carried forward are not spent by the end of the second year 
following the year for which they were approved, these funds lapse, unless a specific decision is taken by 
Member Nations for a further carry-forward. At the end of 2021 there were no appropriations subject to a 
special carry-forward. 

NOTE 11: ADVANCES 

None. 

NOTE 12: PROVISIONS 

At year-end 2021 a provision for Untaken Leave has been recognized for an amount of EUR 67,224.56 
(EUR 58,963.37 end 2020). 

A provision for bad debts has been recorded for EUR 120.00 and relates to an open invoice. 

NOTE 13: OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Other Current Liabilities include the Current Year Budget Surplus. Amounts corresponding to the current 
year budgetary surplus of MSIAC, i.e. lapsed credits, net interests, miscellaneous income, are considered 
a liability towards the Member Nations. The settlement does not follow the standard accounts payable 
process, since the surplus is to be returned to Member Nations via a deduction of the following year's call 
for budget contributions. To date, the agreed practice of the MSIAC Steering Committee has been to add 
these amounts to the Project Accumulated Surplus (see note on Net Assets). 
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Below is a snapshot of MSIAC's other current liabilities at the year-end: 

Amounts in EUR 
2021 

Lapsed Appropriations 30,614.02 
Net Financial Income - 3,030.00 
Miscellaneous Income 8,577.33 
Cash Advance Received from Partner Nations 16,938.06 
Others 514.50 
Total 53,613.91 

ANNEX6to 

FC(2022)0044 

2020 
46,668.88 

90.07 
8,649.27 

82,297.75 
8,167.60 

145,873.57 

NOTE 14: NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES AND LONG TERM UNEARNED REVENUE 

The long term unearned revenue is unearned revenue in relation to net carrying amounts of Property, Plant 
and Equipment and intangible assets. Revenue is recognised over the estimated life cycle of the Property, 
plant and equipment and the intangible assets. 

There are no non-current liabilities. 

NOTE 15: TOTAL NET ASSETS I EQUITY 

Net Assets correspond to MSIAC's Project Accumulated Surplus from previous years and the surplus 
(deficit) from the current year. 

Project Accumulated Surplus relates to funds resulting from past contributions by MSIAC Member Nations 
in excess of budget execution that the Steering Committee decided not to redistribute to the Member 
Nations but keep for the needs of MSIAC. This reserve also includes the former surpluses originating, for 
instance, from non-budgeted new membership contributions and joining fees paid by incoming Member 
Nations to contribute to the products and services developed over the entire lifespan of MSIAC operations. 
It is held at the direction of the Steering Committee. The Steering Committee may use these funds to 
contribute to future costs associated with MSIAC operations, or in case of emergency funding needs for the 
Project. The growth in accumulated surplus over previous years reflects more Nations entering the Project 
but zero growth in Project staff. A five-year plan is agreed yearly and incrementally reduces this fund to 
target levels agreed by the MSIAC Steering Committee. 

In May 2020 a deviation from Articles 24.2 and 29.3 of the NATO Financial Regulations has been approved 
by Council. As per C-M(2020)0012 the decision entails the use of MSIAC accumulated surpluses in an 
emergency fund and as an operational reserve up to a limit of EUR 650,000.00. 
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Amounts in EUR 

Cumulated Surplus beginning of the year 
+ Lapses from previous year 

6-16 

+ Net Financial Income (Interest, Bank Fees) previous year 
+ Miscellaneous Income previous year 
- Surplus allocated to current year budget 
Cumulated Surplus end of the year 
Current Year Extraordinary Surplus 
Net Assets as off 01 Jan 2020 

Statement of Financial Performance 

NOTE 16: REVENUE 

Non-Exchange Revenue 

2021 
597,568.94 
46,668.88 

90.07 
7,849.27 

- 182,100.00 
470,077.16 
177,013.22 
647,090.38 

2020 
619,711 .47 

45,701 .47 

- 68,644.00 
596,768.94 

800.00 
597,568.94 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
the revenue can be measured reliably. 

Revenue from Member Nations' budgetary contributions is considered as non-exchange revenue in 
consideration of the fact that the contributions by Member Nations are based on the number of shares and 
not in proportion of the service they receive. Non-exchange revenue is matched with expenses stemming 
from budget execution. 
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Below a snapshot of the 2021 non-exchange revenue breakdown: 

amounts in EUR 

Budget Execution 
Current Year Budget 
Automatic carry forward from pre'Jious year 
Lapses at year end 
Automatic carry forward into next year 

Financial Result 
Financial result 

Miscellaneous Result 

Current year income 
Overaccrual 
Pro'Jision Bad Debt 
Pro'Jision untaken leave (-) 
Pro'Jision untaken leave ( +) 

Non Exchange Revenue 

Services, Joining Fees and Early Access Contributions 

ANNEX 6 to 

FC(2022)0044 

2021 2020 
1,815,111.58 1,658,974.55 
1,854,100.00 1,740,644.00 

35,000.57 0.00 
-30,614.02 -46,668.88 
-43,374.97 -35,000.57 
-3,030.00 90.07 
-3,030.00 90.07 
8,577.33 7,849.27 

8,697.33 7,849.27 
-120.00 0.00 

-67,224.56 -25,750.97 
67,224.56 25,750.97 

1,809,564.25 1,651,035.21 

Services, Joining Fees and Early Access Contributions are non-budgeted contributions (new membership 
early access, access during the year, training fees, and Joining Fees from new Member Nations) whilst 
being also recognized as Non-exchange revenue, do not follow the matching principle since it is not 
possible to directly identify and value the consideration provided by MSIAC directly in return for the 
resources received. There are no expenses to be matched against this revenue and thus is not refundable 
to nations. Therefore, this is not recognized as non-exchange revenue. 

Exchange Revenue 

Nothing to report. 

Other Revenue 

This includes the regularization of overestimated accruals from previous year and the net change in the 
provision for Untaken Leave. 

Financial Revenue 

This includes exchange rate differences. 
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NOTE 17: EXPENSES 

Wages, Salaries and Employee Benefits 

6-18 

The personnel costs include all civilian personnel expenses as well as other non-salary related expenses 
in support of funded activities. They also include expenses for salaries and emoluments for approved NATO 
permanent civilian positions and temporary personnel, for other salary related and non-related allowances 
including overtime, medical examinations, recruitment, installation and removal, and for contracted 
consultants and training. 

Services rendered, Supplies and Consumables Used 

This item may also include expenses attributed to Capital Expenses (Property, Plant and Equipment) from 
a budget perspective, if they do not meet the criteria of PPE or Intangible Assets. 

Provisions 

This position reflects the change of the provision for Untaken Leave as of 31 December 2021 and a 
provision for Bad Debts. 

Other Expenses 

There are no such expenses in 2021. 

Finance Costs 

This item comprises miscellaneous financial costs like bank charges, exchange rates losses, etc. 

NOTE 18: BUDGET INFORMATION 

NATO MSIAC Budget 

Presently, the NATO MSIAC Budget is not publicly available. 

The actual amounts referred to by IPSAS 24 ("amounts that result from execution of the budget") are 
expenses incurred during the execution of the budget and appearing under the heading "Actuals" in the 
Budget Execution Statement. 

Presentation of budget information in the financial statements 

An analysis of the budget execution for the current and the previous year carry-forward amounts is provided 
in Annex 5. The MSIAC budget execution compares the budget's authorized credits against the amounts 
committed and expended. 
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The MSIAC budget classification is based on the economic nature of the expenses broken down into three 
chapters as follows: 

Chapter I 

Chapter II 

Chapter Ill 

Personnel Expenses 

Operating Expenses 

Capital Costs 

The MSIAC Budget is prepared for the same period (1 January to 31 December) and encompasses the 
same entity as these financial statements. 

Changes to the budgetary regulations were introduced by the North Atlantic Council in 2015 in approving a 
new set of NATO Financial Regulations. They have in particular instilled an accruals based approach to 
budget preparation and budget execution, whereas before the approach was largely commitment and cash 
based. 

Despite a stronger emphasis on this principle in annual budgets, the approved and executed budget cannot 
be considered as fully accruals-based, since the new regulations allow for a number of exceptions, such as 
carrying forward commitments for goods and services that were expected to be delivered in the course of 
the year but for various reasons were not, or authority given to the member Nations to allow for special 
carry forward of appropriations unused at year-end. 

The MSIAC budget is prepared and executed as follows: 

1) The commitment of appropriations is the advance acceptance and recording of the financial 
consequence resulting from a legal obligation incurred during the financial year. Therefore, 
appropriations are allocated, and commitments are approved, for goods, services and works to be 
delivered at a later stage. Commitments are settled when the service is rendered or goods 
delivered as is the case for expenses under accrual accounting. 

2) Approved Commitments for which no goods could be received or services rendered at year-end 
will normally lapse. However, if they are supported by a legal obligation and correspond to goods 
or services that could not be received during the course of the year for specific reasons, they may 
be carried forward and added to the budget of the following financial year. Uncommitted 
appropriations may be subject of a special carry forward to the following year if a specific agreement 
is given by the Steering Committee. Outstanding commitments can be carried forward for two 
years. As a consequence, the services or goods received may relate to a commitment of 
appropriations from previous years' budgets. The carry-forward should be justified by a reason for 
which the services or goods could not be received in the course of the year. In addition, in 
accordance with Financial Regulations, Member Nations may agree to a further carry-forward of 
commitments that were already carried forward twice. 

3) Commitments, because they are an advance acceptance, and because payments cannot be made 
above approved appropriations levels, typically include an estimation factor and are (if only slightly) 
higher than the actual amount eventually paid. This results in commitments being higher than the 
actual expenses and in appropriations eventually lapsing. 

4) Commitments are only made in respect of expenses relating to the initial purpose of the 
commitment. Commitments for capital expenditures are normally made in the year during which 
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the purchase order is issued. In accrual accounting, the related costs would not appear in the 
Statement of Financial Performance but in the Balance Sheet and only upon reception of the works, 
goods or services. Conversely, there is no budgetary commitment of appropriations for non-cash 
flow transactions such as capital depreciation or provisions which would normally appear in the 
Statement of Financial Performance under accrual accounting. 

5) On an exceptional basis, the Steering Committee may approve the special carry-forward of credits 
without any prior legal commitment, for instance for projects at their initiation stage or planned 
expenditures. In accrual accounting there would be no expense recorded. 

6) The balance of unused budgetary appropriations (not committed) lapses and is returned to Member 
Nations at year-end. Lapses may include cases where a project was eventually not completed or 
started, and therefore lead to no expense. 

7) As per Council decision, C-M(2020)0012, surpluses can be accumulated in an emergency fund 
and as an operational reserve up to a limit of EUR 650,000.00. 

Reconciliation between Budget Execution and Statement of Financial Performance 

BUDGET EXECUTION 
Total Budget (including carried-forward from previous year) (a) 1 ,889,101 

Credits Carried-Forward in Following Year (b) . 43,375 

Lapsed Appropriations (c) 30,614 

Budget Execution Expenses (d)= (a-b-c) 1,815,112 

RECONCILIATION 
Financial Performance Expenses (Excluding financial costs) (e) 1,823,493 
Increase in Non-Current Assets (f) 8,381 
Provisions (g) -
Other Expenses (h) -
Sub-Total (i)=(e+f-g-h) 1,815,112 

I Difference to Budget Expenses (d-i) 

Budget execution 

The MSIAC budget execution for the current year appropriations and previous year carry-forwards is shown 
at Annex 5, which compares the budget's authorized appropriations against the amounts committed and 
expended. 

Credits are transferred under the authority delegated to the NATO-IS Financial Controller by the NATO 
Financial Regulations and Financial Rules and Procedures. 
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Reconciliation between Budget and Calls for Contributions 

ANNEX 6to 

FC(2022)0044 

The funding of the budget is made of a call for contributions, carried over credits and a part of previous 
years' surplus. There is one call for contributions per year, which is usually issued at the beginning of the 
year. No advances are called for the following financial year. 

In accordance with MSIAC's Steering Committee decision, new Member Nations have to contribute a one­
off Joining Fee, besides the normal annual contributions. 

Member Nations' contributions are assessed based on a share value of EUR 88,000. In 2021, eleven 
nations paid 1 share and four nations paid 2 shares. 

Because of the accession of Switzerland in December 2021, EUR 165,000 has been recognized as joining 
fees and EUR 7,333 as early access fee, the latter being the proportional contribution for the year 2021 
based on one share. These fees are considered non-budgetary revenue, recognizable as a period surplus. 

As directed by the Steering Committee, the calls covered EUR 1,672,000 in 2021. 

During 2021, MSIAC also collected 4,680 EUR of training fees, due to training provided to staff of a partner 
nation. 

These proceedings are considered non-budgetary revenue, recognizable directly as a period surplus and 
will be moved to equity. 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-22 

The below table details the MSIAC 2021 contributions and other revenue (including Services, Joining Fees 
and Early Access Contributions): 

Amounts in EUR 
Contributions Other Revenue 

1 - Member Nations 1,320,000.00 0.00 
Belgium 88,000.00 
Canada 88,000.00 
France 176,000.00 
Germany 176,000.00 
Italy_ 88,000.00 
Netherlands 88,000.00 
Norway 88,000.00 
Poland 88,000.00 
Spain 88,000.00 
United Kingdom 176,000.00 
United States 176,000.00 
2 - Partner Nations 352,000.00 177,013.22 
Australia 88,000.00 
Finland 88,000.00 
Re~>_ublic of Korea 88,000.00 
Sweden 88,000.00 
Ministry of Defence of the Republic of Bulgaria 1,000.00 
Headquarters KFOR 
Army of Luxemburg 
Lithuania 
Institute of Explosive Engineers 
Switzerland 
Grand Total 1,672,000.00 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
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1,000.00 
1,000.00 
1,000.00 

680.22 
172,333.00 
177,013.22 

Total 
1,320,000.00 

88,000.00 
88,000.00 

176,000.00 
176,000.00 
88,000.00 
88,000.00 
88,000.00 
88,000.00 
88,000.00 

176,000.00 
176,000.00 
529,013.22 

88,000.00 
88,000.00 
88,000.00 
88,000.00 

1,000.00 
1,000.00 
1,000.00 
1,000.00 

680.22 
172,333.00 

1,849,013.22 
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The table below reconciles the approved budget by the Steering Committee and the sources of funding: 

Amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

Initial Budget 1,796,100.00 1,740,644.00 
Revised Budget 58,000.00 -
Total Annual Budget 1,854,100.00 1,740,644.00 

Advance called previous year - -
Call in current year 1,672,000.00 1,672,000.00 
Total Cash Calls 1,672,000.00 1,672,000.00 

Use of Previous Year's Surplus -
Use of Project Accumulated Surplus 182,100.00 68,644.00 
Other Funding Sources 182,100.00 68,644.00 

!Total Funding I 1,854,1oo.oo I 1,740,644.oo I 

NOTE 19: WRITE-OFFS 

There are no write-offs to report in 2021. 

NOTE 20: LEASES 

MSIAC does not have any financial leases. 

NOTE 21: RESTRICTIONS ON FIXED ASSETS 

There are no restrictions on fixed assets. 

NOTE 22: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

There have been no contingent liabilities identified that would be expected to result in a material obligation. 

NOTE 23: CONTINGENT ASSETS 

Nothing to report in 2021. 
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6-24 

NOTE 24: EMPLOYEE DISCLOSURE 

Accounting for employee benefits is accounting for any liability in relation to all forms of consideration given 
by an entity in exchange of service rendered by employees. 

Paid leave is an employee benefit and as such part of overall personnel expenses. In accordance with 
personnel regulations, the remaining balance at year-end may be carried forward but must be taken before 
30 April of the following year. It can be exceptionally expanded to 31 October in accordance with Civilian 
Personnel Regulations art. 42.3.5 and 42.3.6. After this date it lapses and is not paid to staff. For these 
financial statements, untaken leave is specifically reported if its monetary value is more than 1 0% of the 
total annual leave entitlement. The cost of untaken leave days is usually absorbed during the year through 
the monthly salaries; leave to be taken carried forward into the next year constitutes a liability towards the 
future and would notionally require funding from Member Nations. 

End 2021, the provision for Untaken Leave was estimated EUR 67,224.56 

MSIAC's employee breakdown as of 31 December 2021 , is shown below: 

Total Approved PE Total Filled Positions 

Ci\Aiian (PE) 10 10 
VNC 0 0 
Short term 0 0 
Interns 0 0 
Others - explain 0 0 

For 2021, MSIAC had an approved Personnel Establishment of 10 positions funded by the MSIAC budget. 

It should be noted that the NATO-IS is managing centrally two pension programmes, namely the Defined 
Benefit Pension Scheme (DBPS) and the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme (DCPS) as well as the 
Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF), covering staff employed by all NATO bodies. NATO-wide financial 
statements are issued by NATO-IS Office of Financial Control for the two Pension Schemes and the RMCF, 
therefore, no post-employment benefit related assets or liabilities are recognised in the MSIAC financial 
statements. 

End 2021, all 10 staff members (9 in 2020) participated in the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme 
(DCPS) administered by NATO. The DCPS provides that the MSIAC budget makes a 12 percent monthly 
matching contribution to the staff members' contributions for current service. 

Until November 2021 one employee participated in NATO's Defined Benefit Pension Scheme (DBPS): a 
deduction of 11.8% of the salary was made and contributed to the annual financing of this Plan. In addition, 
the MSIAC budget made a monthly matching contribution of 19% to the DBPS. These contributions are 
expensed during the year concerned and represent the sole pension related obligation of the entity. 
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The table below presents a list of contributions paid to the different Pension Schemes: 

Amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

Co-ordinated Pension Scheme Staff 6,324.72 7,403.64 
Employer 13,916.04 14,807.28 
Total 20,240.76 22,210.92 

Defined Contribution Pension Sche Staff 87,438.45 81 ,566.83 
Employer 106,897.44 101 ,889.82 
Total 194,335.89 183,456.65 

TOTAL Staff 93,763.17 88,970.47 
Employer 120,813.48 116,697.10 
Total 214,576.65 205,667.57 

NOTE 25: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

The MSIAC Steering Committee (one representative per Member Nation) is the governing body of the 
MSIAC. Steering Committee members are nominated by their respective national authorities. They are paid 
on the basis of applicable national pay scales. The Steering Committee members do not receive from 
MSIAC or NATO any additional remuneration for Steering Committee responsibilities or access to benefits. 

The key management personnel of the MSIAC Office consists of the Project Manager established post 
(AS). The Project Manager is responsible for the overall operational management of MSIAC. 

There are no other remunerations or benefits to key management personnel or their family members. NOTE 

NOTE 26: RELATED PARTIES 

Key management personnel have no significant party relationships that could affect the operation of the 
MSIAC Office. 

In 2021, NATO International Staff charged MSIAC for the following burden sharing costs: 

Amounts in EUR 
Burden Sharing Charges 
2021 2020 

ICOMOPS 37,571 .00 39,345.00 
!Admin Costs 52,495.01 44,053.02 

••••• 
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List of acronyms: 

CNAD 

DBPS 

DCPS 

IPSAS 

IS 

MOU 

MSIAC 

NIMIC 

OFC 

PPE 

RPPB 

NAC 

RMCF 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-26 

Conference of National Armaments Directors 

Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 

Defined Contribution Pension Scheme 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards 

International Staff 

Memorandum of Understanding 

Munitions Safety Information Analysis Centre 

NATO Insensitive Munitions Information Centre 

Office of Financial Control 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Resource Planning and Prioritization Board 

North Atlantic Council 

Retirees Medical Claims Fund 
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Annexes: 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATO FORACS OFFICE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Financial Year 2021 

1 Statement of Financial Position 

2 Statement of Financial Performance 

3 Statement of Cash Flow 

4 Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity 

5 Statement of Budget Execution 

6 Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements 

FC(2022)0047 

Michael MAGAN 
Project Manager FORACS 

Miroslawa BORYCZKA 
Financial Controller NATO-IS 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATO FORACS OFFICE 

Statement of Financial Position 

Assets 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Short term investments 
Receivables 
Prepayments 
Other current assets 
Inventories 

Non-current assets 
Receivables 
Property, plant & equipment 
Intangible assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Payables 
Deferred revenue 
Advances 
Provisions 
Other current liabilities 

Non-current liabilities 
Provisions 
Deferred revenue 
Other non-current liab1l1t1es 

Total liabilities 

Surplus/Deficit 
Retained earnings 
Reserves 

Total net assets 

As at 31 December 2021 

Notes Current Year 

2021 

(3) 5,998,118.95 
(4) 0.00 
(5) 812,688.66 
(6) 1,797 ,887.16 
(7) 20,475.57 
(8) 

8,629,170.34 

(9) 1,685,581.64 
1 ,685,581.64 

10,314,751.98 

(10) 209,903.19 
(11) 67,578 .58 
(12) 5,694,733.13 
(13) 20,226.51 
(14) 2,050,406.41 

8,042,847.82 

0.00 
(15) 1,685,581 .64 

1,685,581.64 

9,728,429.46 

0.00 
(16) 586,322.52 

586,322.52 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
1-1 

ANNEX 1 to 
FC(2022)0047 

(in EUR) 

Prior Year 

2020 

5,284,065.91 
0.00 

1 ,023, 796.69 
1.661,410.78 

51,203.46 

8,020,476.84 

1,685,581.64 
1,685,581.64 

9,706,058.48 

276,295.49 
100,527.22 

5,200,319.15 
20,703.28 

1 '713,482.67 
7,311,327.81 

0.00 
1,685,581.64 

1,685,581.64 

8,996,909.45 

0.00 
709,149.03 

709,149.03 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATO FORACS OFFICE 

Statement of Financial Performance 

Revenue 
Non-Exchange Revenue 

Exchange revenue 

Financial revenue 

Other revenue 

Total revenue 

Expenses 
Personnel 

Contractual supplies and services 

Depreciation and amortization 

Impairment 

Provisions 

Other expenses 

Finance costs 

Total expenses 

Surplus/( Deficit) for the period 

As at 31 December 2021 

Notes 

(17) 

(18) 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
2-1 

Current Year 
2021 

1 ,242,554.67 
0.00 

18,594.91 
-258.02 

1,260,891.56 

697,581.36 
559,117.63 

0.00 
0.00 

-476.77 
0.00 

4,669.34 

1,260,891.56 

0.00 

ANNEX2 to 
FC(2022)0047 

(in EUR) 

Prior Year 
2020 

1,174,157.91 
0.00 

5,714.71 
13,197.59 

1,193,070.21 

701,471.14 
479,499.41 

0.00 
0.00 

8,026.73 
0.00 

4,072.93 

1,193,070.21 

0.00 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATO FORACS OFFICE 

Statement of Cash Flow 
As at 31 December 2021 

Cash flow from operating activities 
Surplus/(Deficit) 

Non-cash movements 
Depreciation/ Amortisation 

Impairment 

Use of Cash Reserves 

Increase /(decrease) in payables 

Increase/ (decrease) in deferred revenue, advances and other current liabilities 

Increase/ (decrease) in provisions 

Increase/ (decrease) in other non current liabilities 

(Gains)/losses on sale of property, plant and equipment 

Decrease/ (Increase) in prepayments and other current assets 

Decrease/ (Increase) in receivables 
Net cash flow from operating activities 

Cash flow from investing activities 
Purchase of property plant and equipment/Intangible assets 

Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment 
Net cash flow from investing activities 

Cash flow from financing activities 
Decrease/ (Increase) Deposit 
Net cash flow from financing activities 

Net increase/( decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the period 

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the period 

Notes 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
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Current Year 
2021 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

-122,826.51 
-66,392.30 
798,389.08 

-476.77 
0.00 
0.00 

-105,748.49 
211,108.03 
714,053.04 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

714,053.04 

5,284,065.91 

5,998,118.95 

ANNEX 3 to 
FC(2022)0047 

(mEUR) 

Prior Year 
2020 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

271,685.14 
-225,788.89 
204,093.51 

8,026.73 
0 .00 
0.00 
0 .00 

-372,907.84 
-114,891.35 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

-114,891.35 

5,398,957.26 

5,284,065.91 
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NATO FORACS OFFICE 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity 

As at 31 December 2021 

Balance at the beginning of the period 2020 

Changes in accounting policy 

Restated balance 

Net (gains)/losses recognised directly in net assets/equity 

Exchange difference on translating foreign operations 

Use of cash Reserves 

Gain on property revaluation 

Surplus/( deficit) for the period 

Change in net assets/equity for the year ended 2020 

Balance at the beginning of the period 2021 

Changes in accounting policy 

Restated balance 

Net (gains)/losses recognised directly in net assets/equity 

Exchange difference on translating foreign operations 

Use of cash Reserves 

Gain on property revaluation 

Surplus/( deficit) for the period 

Change in net assets/equity for the year ended 2021 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
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(in EUR) 

(437,463.89) 

(271,685.14) 

(709,149.03) 

(709,149.03) 

122,826.51 

(586,322.52) 
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(Amounts 1n EUR) 
ln1t1al budget Budget BA2 

1ncrease 

Budget 2021 
Chapter 1 752 000 752 000 
Chapter 2 436 403 436 403 
Chapter 3 55 000 55000 
Cha ter4 
Total 1,243,403 1,243,403 

Budget 2020 
Chapter 1 
Chapter 2 100 527 100 527 
Chapter 3 
Chapter 4 
Total 100,527 100,527 

Budget 2019 
Chapter 1 
Chapter 2 (0) 
Cha ter 3 
Total OJ 

Total All Bud9ots 1,343,930 1,343,930 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

NATO FORACS OFFICE 

Statement of Budget EKecution 
As at l1 December 2021 

Budget BA3 Transfers 
ReviSion 

752 000 
404 000 840 403 
808 778 863 778 

1,212,771 2,45&,111 

100 527 

100,527 

OJ 

1,212,778 2,55&,708 
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Final budget Expenses Total spent Carry forward Lapsed 

752 000 697 581 697 581 5441864 
840 403 321 127 321 127 519 275 93 
863 778 137 463 137 463 67 578 658 736 49 

2,46&,181 1,16&,172 1,165,172 &7,678 1,232,431 

100 527 100 527 100 527 

100,527 100,527 100,527 

OJ 

2,556,701 1,256,&99 1,25&,699 67,578 1,232,431 
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO NATO FORACS OFFICE 
2021 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION 

ANNEX 6 to 
FC(2022)0047 

NATO FORACS' mission is to measure the bearing, range, position and heading accuracy of sensors 
and navigation systems and to provide communications systems and interoperability testing in 
surface ships, submarines and maritime aircraft to satisfy national requirements and to meet NATO 
material readiness standards. 

The NATO FORACS Memorandum of Understanding was signed in 1974 by seven NATO nations: 
Denmark, Germany, Greece, Italy, Norway, the United Kingdom and the United States. In September 
1994, Canada became the eighth signatory. Collectively the eight nations are referred to as the 
Member Nations. 

Three NATO FORACS (Naval Forces Sensor and Weapons Accuracy Check Sites) test Ranges 
were authorized under the management of a NATO FORACS Steering Committee (NFSC). 

NATO FORACS Office (NFO) was established at NATO Headquarters in January 1977. This office 
provides technical direction for the project, quality control over test procedures, and maintains a data 
bank of test results for national summary reports. 

NATO FORACS Norway (NFN) began routine testing in 1978. 

NATO FORACS Greece (NFG) was opened for routine operation in 1985. 

In 1994 the US FORACS range at AUTEC (Atlantic Underwater Test and Evaluation Center) became 
an affiliated NATO FORACS test range called NATO FORACS AUTEC (NFA). 

Member Nations maintain oversight of the project through the NATO FORACS Steering Committee. 
The Steering Committee executes its responsibility through an executive Project Manager at the 
NFO in Brussels. 

Normal operations and maintenance of NATO FORACS activities are funded by the Member Nations 
on a cost-sharing basis. Non-member nations utilize the resources and capabilities based on a 
calculated 'day rate' for services. Fixed facilities and capital costs are commonly funded through the 
NATO Security Investment Programme (NSIP). NATO International Staff Office of Financial Control 
provides accounting and budgeting for the NFO and handles annual calls to Member Nations to fund 
operations for the Project. 

These financial statements relate only to the NFO. The three NATO FORACS Ranges (NFA, NFG 
and NFN, referred to also as the Ranges) are responsible for executing their own budgets and 
issuing their own financial statements under their national budgeting and financial rules. 

NATO FORACS conducts tests for Alliance nations in response to NATO's tasking to provide mission 
capable platforms. This testing also supports Nation's acquisition and upgrade programmes testing 
ship, submarine and maritime aircraft. Having systems in ships, submarines and maritime aircraft 
aligned and calibrated to the same common reference and to clearly defined accuracy standards 
aligns with the Connected Forces Initiative and improves interoperability of maritime systems within 
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6-2 ANNEX 6 to 
FC(2022)0047 

and between nations. In 2013, FORACS adopted a strategic tag line: Operational Confidence 
Through Accuracy. 

The NATO FORACS Project continues to demonstrate a quality management culture based on ISO 
9001 :2015 and on 22 Dec 2020 achieved recertification for a further three years. 

NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

NFO applies the NATO IS Accounting Policies which have been published through ON(2021 )0079. 

Declaration of Conformity 

The NFO financial statements have been prepared in accordance with NATO Financial Regulations 
(NFR), the Financial Rules and Procedures (FRP) and the NATO Accounting Framework, which is 
an adapted version of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). 

Basis of Preparation 

These financial statements relate to the NATO FORACS Office (NFO). They also include 
transactions with the Ranges only in as much as they relate to the calls for contribution process of 
their respective budgets and therefore concerns cash, short term investments, receivables, 
payables, advances, and the Ranges' other current liabilities to the IS OFC on behalf of the NFO. 
Funds are called from Member Nations; receivables are recorded; funds are transferred to the 
Ranges upon request of the Range Managers. Cash and cash equivalents are held on separate 
bank accounts controlled by the IS Office of Financial Control. None of the ensuing financial 
transactions of the Ranges (commitments, expenses, payments, etc.) are disclosed in these financial 
statements since they are executed under the exclusive authority and responsibility of the Ranges 
in accordance with their respective national regulations. The NFO plays no role in this respect. 

All budget related decisions are taken by the FORACS Steering Committee, not by the FORACS 
Office. The latter has no financial authority over the Ranges, which operate under national 
regulations for all aspects of their management (budget execution, procurement, human resources, 
health and safety, financial reporting, external audit, etc.). The NFO holds an executive management 
function but does not exercise any power over the Ranges and it does not have rights over their 
surpluses or assets, neither can it be considered liable for their obligations. As a consequence, the 
NFO exercises no control over the Ranges for financial reporting purposes and therefore its financial 
statements are not consolidated with those of the Ranges. 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis. The assumption is that 
NFO is a going concern and will continue in operation and meet its objectives and obligations for the 
foreseeable future. 

The financial year is from 1 January to 31 December. 

The amounts shown in these financial statements are presented in EUR. 

FORACS applied IPSAS 9 Revenue from exchange transactions and IPSAS 23 Revenue from non­
exchange transactions. 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
6-2 

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
3)

00
14

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-3 

The following IPSAS have no material effect on the 2021 NFO financial statements: 

• IPSAS 5: Borrowing Costs 
• IPSAS 7: Investments in Associates. 
• IPSAS 8: Interests in Joint Ventures 
• IPSAS 10: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 
• IPSAS 11: Construction Contracts 
• IPSAS 16: Investment Property 
• IPSAS 21: Impairment of non-cash generating assets 
• IPSAS 26: Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets 
• IPSAS 27: Agriculture 
• IPSAS 32: Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor 

Changes in accounting policy 

None. 

Restatement of Financial Statements of Previous Years 

None. 

Reclassification of Financial Statements of Previous Years 

None. 

Use of Estimates 

ANNEX 6 to 
FC(2022)0047 

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the financial statements include 
amounts based on estimates and assumptions by management, according to the most reliable 
information available, judgement and assumptions. Estimates include accrued revenue and 
expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Changes in estimates are reflected in the 
period in which they become known. 

Foreign Currency Transactions 

The NFO's budget is authorized and managed in EUR so the contribution call is made in EUR. 
Foreign currency transactions as required are accounted for at the NATO exchange rates prevailing 
on the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities at year-end which were denominated 
in foreign currencies were converted into EUR using the NATO foreign currency exchange rates as 
of 31 December 2021. 

Realised and unrealised gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the revaluation at the reporting dates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

NFO does not have any unrealised gains or losses resulting from the translation of statements. 

NATO FORACS accounting is subject to FC(FAC)(2020)004 which sets out IS/OFC policy for 
accounting and reporting transactions in foreign currency. 
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FC(2021 )0022-REV1 

Financial Risks 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-4 

NFO uses only non-derivative financial instruments as part of its normal operations. These financial 
instruments include cash, bank accounts and deposit accounts. 

All the financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position at their fair value. 

The organisation is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including foreign exchange risk, credit risk, 
currency risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. 

a. Foreign currency exchange risk 

The exposure to foreign currency risk is limited as the vast majority of NFO's expenditures are made 
in EUR, the currency of its budget. The current bank accounts are held in EUR. 

b. Credit risk 

NFO incurs credit risks from cash and cash equivalent held with banks and from receivables. 

The maximum exposure as at year-end is equal to the total amount of bank balances, short term 
deposits and receivables. There is very limited credit risk associated with the realization of these 
elements. 

Concerning cash and cash equivalent NFO credit risk is managed by holding current bank accounts 
and short term highly liquid deposits that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash held with 
lNG Bank (Belgium) which has the following short term credit ratings: 

SHORT TERM RATINGS 

BANK NAME COUNTRY OF HQ FITCH S&P GLOBAL MOODY'S 

Rating I Last review date Rating I Last review date Rating I Last review date 
lNG BANK Netherlands n+ I 25-Nov-21 A-1 I 24-Jun-21 P-1 I 02-0ct-20 

The NFO outstanding accounts receivable are managed by maintaining control procedures over 
receivables. All cash receivables are due from NATO member nations, which are considered credit 
worthy. 

c. Liquidity risk 

The liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is based on the assessment as to whether the 
Organisation will encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations associated with financial liabilities. 
A liquidity risk could arise from a short term liquidity requirement. There is a very limited exposure to 
liquidity risk because of the funding mechanism which guarantees contributions in relation to the 
approved budgets. In addition, the NFO maintains an Operational Reserve. Some limited risk could 
be due to the inaccuracy of budget forecasts. However, past history shows that this process results 
in surpluses and since the budgetary rules provide for revised budgets, it also helps risk mitigation. 

The NFO incurs a liquidity risk since it collects the budget contributions for the Ranges and sends to 
the Ranges the funds they require, sometimes in advance of the budget year. This transfers the 
liquidity risk from the Ranges to the NFO and could result in a liquidity issue if contributions from 
Participating Nations were late. 
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6-5 

d. Interest rate risk 

ANNEX 6 to 
FC(2022)0047 

Except for certain cash and cash equivalent balances, NFO's financial assets and liabilities do not 
have associated interest rates. NFO is restricted from entering into borrowings and investments, 
and, therefore, there is an insignificant interest rate risk. Interest earned is not a budgetary resource 
but contributes to the surplus owed to Nations. In case of negative interest rates, these are added 
to the amounts called from Member Nations. 

Current Assets 

a. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term assets. They include cash in hand, deposits 
held with banks, and other short term highly liquid investments. 

b. Funds managed for third parties 

Funds managed on behalf of third parties are held in cash and are presented as a liability. They are 
accounted for when cash is effectively received. 

c. Receivables 

Receivables are stated at net realisable value, after provision for doubtful and uncollectible debts. 

Outstanding budget contributions concerning the Ranges are also recorded as Receivables. 

Contributions receivable are recognised when a call for contribution has been issued to the Member 
Nations. No allowance for loss is recorded with respect to Member Nations' assessed contributions 
receivable. 

d. Prepayments 

A prepayment is a payment in advance of the period to which it pertains and is mainly in respect of 
an advance payment made to a third party. This item may include advances made to staff in 
accordance with Civilian Personnel Regulations (such as advances on salary or on education 
allowance in consideration of the fact that these are advances on future staff benefits). 

e. Other Current Assets 

Other Current Assets relate to miscellaneous amounts due to the FORACS such as accrued interest, 
counterpart of untaken leave, etc. This item may include other assets that do not result from the 
standard order to cash process, such as miscellaneous transactions to be regularized between 
entities managed by the IS Office of Financial Control. 

f. Inventories 

As mentioned above, NATO's adaptations of IPSAS are spelled out in C-M(2016)0023 of April2016, 
which included IPSAS 12 Inventories. Furthermore, C-M(2017)0043 of September 2017, approved 
the NATO Accounting Policy for Inventory. 

When it comes to assessing the control of NATO Inventory, these documents define a set of 10 
criteria to be used in assessing the level of control of an Inventory asset. A positive response on six 
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of the criteria will lead to the asset being capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the 
capitalization threshold. This is applied from January, 2013, under the initial NATO Accounting 
Framework C-M(2013)0039 of July 2013. 

Criteria that may indicate control of an asset: 
• The act of purchasing the asset carried out (or resulted from instructions given) by the 

NATO Reporting Entity. 
• The legal title is in the name of the NATO Reporting Entity. 
• The asset is physically located on the premises or locations used by the NATO Reporting 

Entity. 
• The asset is physically used by staff employed by the NATO Reporting Entity or staff 

working under the NATO Reporting Entity's instructions. 
• The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity can decide on an alternative use of the asset. 
• The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity can decide to sell or to dispose the asset. 
• The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity, if it has to remove or destroy the asset, can take 

the decision to replace it. 
• The fact that a representative of the NATO Reporting Entity regularly inspects the asset to 

determine its current condition. 
• The fact that the asset is used in achieving the objectives of the NATO Reporting Entity. 
• The fact that the asset will be retained by the NATO Reporting Entity at the end of the 

activity. 

Capitalization thresholds relevant to the financial statement are as follow: 

Category Threshold Basis 
Consumables €50,000 Per location/warehouse 
Spare Parts €50,000 Per location/warehouse 
Ammunition €50,000 Per location/warehouse 
Strategic stocks €50,000 Per location/warehouse 

Slow moving inventory- Assuming turnover of stock is over a 12 month period, any items not used 
over a 36 month period will be deemed to be slow moving. 

Strategic stock- Some complex elements of slow moving stock can be identified as strategic if they 
are deemed essential to the effective operation of an asset and cannot be readily replaced by 
commercial off the shelf items or cannot be purchased due to market decisions to close production 
lines of key inventory items due to the advanced age of the strategic asset to which the stock relates 

NFO capitalizes inventory which it controls in its financial statements. Where there is a conflict 
between more than one NATO Reporting Entity as to the control of inventory, only the end-user 
entity reports the inventory in its financial statements, based on reliable information provided by the 
NATO services provider entity as defined in individual agreements between the two entities. 

NFO includes transportation costs involved in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition in the initial valuation of inventory. These costs will be measured on the actual cost of 
transportation per item of inventory or by using an apportionment of the global transportation costs 
of bringing the inventories to their present location and condition across all inventory items in the 
period. Transportation costs involved in the subsequent movement of inventory which brings them 
into operational use will not be included in the value of inventory. The method of measuring these 
costs will be disclosed. 

NFO considers inventory acquired prior to 1 January 2013 as fully expensed. 
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For inventory held prior to 1 January 2013, and not previously recognized as an asset, NFO will 
provide a brief description of inventory held within their inventory recording systems in the notes to 
the financial statements. Such disclosure will include as a minimum the types of inventories held, 
locations where inventories are held and the approximate number of items held per asset category. 
Where this adaptation conflicts with another requirement of IPSAS this adaptation shall apply. For 
the remainder, IPSAS 12 shall apply. 

NFO assesses inventories under IPSAS 12. The outcome of this assessment is that the value of the 
inventories is immaterial both in value and in terms of the nature of the items held. Consequently, 
inventory is fully expensed on receipt. The materiality will be assessed each year. 

In consideration of the above thresholds, the NFO currently has no inventory. 

Non-Current Assets- Fixed Assets (Property, Plant & Equipment) 

a. Property, Plant & Equipment 

As mentioned above NATO's adaptation of IPSAS are spelled out in C-M(2016)0023 of Apri12016 
among which were specific items addressing IPSAS 17 PPE. Furthermore, C-M(2017)0022(1NV) 
approved the NATO accounting policy for Property, Plant and Equipment. 

When it comes to assessing the control of NATO over PPE these documents define a set of 10 
criteria to be used in assessing the level of control of a tangible asset. A positive response on six of 
the criteria will lead to the asset being capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the 
capitalization threshold . This is applied from January 2013, under the initial NATO Accounting 
Framework C-M(2013)0039 of July 2013 

Capitalization thresholds relevant to the financial statement are as follow: 

Category Threshold Depreciation Life Method 

Land €200,000 N/A N/A 
Buildings €200,000 40 years Straight line 
Other infrastructure €200,000 40 years Straight line 
Installed equipment € 30,000 10 years Straight line 
Machinery € 30,000 10 years Straight line 
Vehicles € 10,000 5 years Straight line 
Aircraft €200,000 Dependent on type Straight line 
Vessels €200,000 Dependent on type Straight line 
Mission equipment € 50,000 3 years Straight line 
Furniture € 30,000 10 years Straight line 
Communications € 50,000 3 years Straight line 
Automated information systems € 50,000 3 years Straight line 

NFO considers PPE acquired prior to 1 January 2013 as fully expensed. However, existing 
accounting policies will continue to be applied for any PPE assets already capitalized prior to 1 
January 2013. For PPE upgraded after 1 January 2013, only the portion related to the modification 
will be capitalized. 
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In consideration of the above thresholds, the NFO currently has no PPE. 

b. Intangible Assets 

As mentioned above, NATO's adaptations of IPSAS are spelled out in C-M(2017)0023 of April2013 , 
which included IPSAS 31 Intangible Assets. Furthermore, C-M(2017)0044 approved the NATO 
accounting policy for intangible assets. 

When it comes to assessing the control of NATO over Intangible Assets, these documents define a 
set of 10 criteria to be used in assessing the level of control of an Intangible asset - they are the 
same as mentioned above under Inventory. A positive response on six of the criteria will lead to the 
asset being capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the capitalization threshold. This is 
applied from January 2013, under the initial NATO Accounting Framework C-M(2013)0039 of July 
2013. 

NATO Intangible Assets Capitalization Thresholds - the NATO FORACS will capitalize each 
intangible asset item above the following agreed NATO thresholds: 

Category Threshold Depreciation Life Method 
Computer software (commercial off the €50,000 4 years Straight line 
she_lf) 
Computer software (bespoke) €50,000 10 years Straight line 
Computer database €50,000 4 years Straight line 

Integrated systems €50,000 4 years Straight line 

NATO FORACS capitalizes all controlled intangible assets above the NATO Intangible Asset 
Capitalization Threshold. For anything below the threshold, the NATO FORACS will have the 
flexibility to expense specific items. 

NATO FORACS capitalizes integrated systems and include research, development, implementation 
and can include both software and hardware elements. But NATO FORACS will not capitalize the 
following types of intangible assets in their financial statements: 

• rights of use( air, land and water); 
• landing rights; 
• airport gates and slots; 
• historical documents; and, 
• publications 

NATO FORACS capitalizes other types of intangible assets acquired after 1 January 2013 
including: 

• Copyright 
• Intellectual Property Rights 
• Software development 

NATO FORACS considers Intangible Assets acquired prior to 1 January 2013 as fully expensed. 

NATO FORACS will report controlled Intangible assets in its financial statements. Where there is a 
conflict between more than one NATO Reporting Entity as to the control of intangible assets, only 
the end-use entity will capitalize the intangible asset in its financial statements based on reliable 
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information provided by the NATO services provider entity as defined in individual agreements 
between the two entities. 

NATO FORACS has no intangible assets acquired or held prior to 1 January 2013. 

If an intangible asset is upgraded after 1 January 2013, only the portion related to the modification 
is capitalized. 

Where this adaptation conflicts with another requirement of IPSAS this adaptation will apply. For the 
remainder, IPSAS 31 shall apply. This adaptation is effective for financial reporting periods beginning 
on 1 January 2013. 

In 2015, the NFO has initiated a replacement of a software required for its operations. 

Integrated Data Acquisition and Test System version X (IDATSvX) achieved Initial Operational 
Capability (IOC) on 1 September 2021. Progress towards the formal acceptance trials required to 
declare Full Operational Capability (FOC) remains dependent on the availability of suitable test 
platforms, provided by the Member Nations. This has been adversely affected by COVID19. Formal 
IDATSvX FOC testing is expected to be scheduled in 2022/early 2023 depending upon test platform 
availability. 

Current Liabilities 

a. Payables 

Payables are amounts due to third parties, including Participating Nations, based on goods received 
or services provided that remain unpaid. These include estimates of accrued obligations to third 
parties for goods and services received but not yet invoiced. Amounts due to Participating Nations 
in the context of their budget contributions are booked under Other Current Liabilities. 

b. Advances and Deferred Revenue 

Advances are contributions received related to future year's budgets. Advances include all 
advances linked to the budget process of the NFO and of the Ranges. This reflects the nature of 
the transactions since they result from the call for budgetary contributions process, handled by IS 
OFC, irrespective of the entity, and harmonises the approach between the NFO and the Ranges. 

Deferred Revenue represents Participating Nations' contributions which have been called for current 
NFO budgets but that have not yet been recognised as revenue in the absence of any related 
budgetary expenses. 

c. Other Current Liabilities 

Amounts corresponding to the current year budgetary surplus of NFO, i.e. lapsed credits, net 
financial income and miscellaneous income, are considered a liability towards the Participating 
Nations. The settlement does not follow the normal accounts payable process, since the standard 
approach is to return them to Participating Nations via a deduction from the following year's call for 
budget contributions. This liability is therefore classified under Other Current Liabilities. 

This item may include other liabilities that do not result from the standard procure to pay process, 
such as miscellaneous transactions to be regularized between entities managed by the IS Office of 
Financial Control. 
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The long term unearned revenue is unearned revenue in relation to net carrying amounts of Property, 
Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets. Revenue is recognised over the estimated life cycle of 
the Property, Plant and Equipment and The Intangible Assets. 

Net Assets 

Net Assets correspond to NATO FORACS' Project Accumulated Surplus. Project Accumulated 
Surplus relates to funds resulting from past years contributions by NATO FORACS' Member Nations 
in excess of budget execution that the Steering Committee decided not to redistribute to the Member 
Nations but keep for the needs of NATO FORACS as an operational reserve. It is held at the 
direction of the Steering Committee, with North Atlantic Council approval for the NFRs deviation. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue comprises contributions from NATO FORACS Member Nations and amounts due by 
beneficiaries of services provided by the NATO FORACS Ranges. 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
entity and the revenue can be measured reliably. The balance of unspent contributions and other 
revenues that relate to future periods are deferred accordingly. 

Where a transfer is subject to conditions that, if unfulfilled, require the return of the transferred 
resources, the entity recognises a liability until the condition is fulfilled. 

Contributions to be called from Member Nations, based on the budget they approved, are initially 
recorded as unearned revenue liabilities. They are recognised as revenue in the statement of 
financial performance when such contributions are used for their intended purpose as envisioned in 
the approved Budget. 

Transformational adjustments are made in calculating earned revenue and expenses in the 
Statement of Financial Performance. 

Segment Reporting 

A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities for which it is appropriate to separately 
report financial information. There is no segment in NFO. The Ranges are NATO FORACS 
components but are not NATO entities and do not form part of NFO, so cannot be considered as 
segments of NFO. Separate information concerning the Ranges is provided when appropriate, but 
this should not be considered as being done with the intent of complying with IPSAS 18 on Segment 
Reporting, which is not applicable in the case of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

NOTE 3: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

ANNEX 6 to 
FC(2022)0047 

The current NFO bank accounts are held in EUR. Deposits (if any) are held in interest-bearing bank 
accounts, immediately available. 

Overview of the cash and cash equivalents held by FORACS: 

amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

NFO 3,052,813.60 2,641,931.12 
Petty Cash 0.00 0.00 
TOTAL 3,052,813.60 2,641,931.12 

Funds managed for third parties 

The NATO-IS Office of Financial Control holds funds, in cash, contributed to the NFG, NFA and, 
NFN budgets. These bank accounts are controlled by the IS Office of Financial Control, in the 
context of the management of FORACS financial operations, thus the closing balances are reported 
in the NFO's financial statements. Upon request of the Range Managers, funds are transferred to 
the Greek, US and Norwegian officials respectively, under the supervision of the Range Managers 
to execute their budget following their national rules. 

The breakdown is as follows: 

amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

NFA 1,180,117.89 925,740.26 
NFA - short term deposit 0.00 0.00 
NFG 604,931 .55 535,069.00 
NFN 1,160,255.91 1,181,325.53 
TOTAL 2,945,305.35 2,642,134.79 

NOTE 4: SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS 

The FORACS does not hold short term investments as per 31 December 2021. 

NOTE 5: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

At the end of 2021 this position consists mostly of the receivable from lapsed Ranges' credits, 
being part of their yearly budgetary surplus. 

Contributions receivable are funds requested from the Nations to finance the current and following 
year budgets of all the NATO FORACS components. There is normally only one call for 
contribution, issued during the summer period. As directed by the Steering Committee, the call 
includes approximately 20% of the current year's budget credits and an advance of approximately 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
6-11 

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
3)

00
14

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



ANNEX 6 to 
FC(2021 )0022-REV1 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-12 

80% for next financial year, at 2021 year-end there was one partial outstanding contribution 
receivable to report from Member Nation Greece. 

The amounts recorded as receivables represent the lapses of the Ranges reported in their 
respective Budget Execution Statements. 

The below table provides an overview of open receivables at year-end for two consecutive years: 

amounts in EUR 

2021 2020 
Budgetary contributions 13,817.30 70,690.00 
Ranges 798,871.36 953,106.69 
TOTAL 812 688.66 1 023 796.69 

NOTE 6: PREPAYMENTS 

Advance payments are made to the Ranges based on their respective budgets for the following year 
in accordance with the process of centralisation of all budgetary calls under the NFO umbrella. 

Prepayments to staff (typically advances on salaries, advances on education allowances, travel 
expenses) are done in accordance with the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. As per end of 
2021, prepayments to staff are only related to education allowances. At the end of 2021, a small 
prepayment was done for minor expense via the credit card. 

Below table gives the breakdown of the different prepayments for the last 2 consecutive years: 

Amounts in EUR 
2021 

Prepayments to the Ranges 1,775,977.57 
Prepayments to Suppliers 32.91 
Prepayments to Staff 21,876.68 
TOTAL 1,797,887.16 

The advances made to the Ranges are broken down as follows: 

Amounts in EUR 

NFA 
NFG 
NFN 

TOTAL 

2021 
708,131 .52 
371,250.00 
696,596.05 

1,775,977.57 
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2020 
1,640,646.63 

265.48 
20,498.67 

1,661,410. 78 

2020 
635,206.98 
363 600.00 
641,839.65 

1,640,646.63 
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NOTE 7: OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

ANNEX 6 to 
FC(2022)0047 

Other Current Assets include the counterpart of untaken leave as a valuation of the potential 
budgetary contribution that would be required if this untaken leave were to be paid. However, as 
indicated in the note on Employee Disclosure, untaken leave is normally never paid. This item also 
includes accrued financial revenue and deferred expenses. 

Amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

Accrual bank interest 249.06 699.94 
Untaken leave 20,226.51 20,703.28 
Deferred expenses - 29,800.74 

TOTAL 20 475.57 51,203.96 

NOTE 8: INVENTORIES 

Nothing to report, inventories are not considered material. 

NOTE 9: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

FORACS intends to replace the data recording and analysis software used for its operations. To 
this effect, end 2015, a contract was signed with the NATO Communications and Information Agency 
for the delivery of this project. The software is still undergoing a series of tests before it can be 
declared available for operational purposes, and therefore no depreciation has been recorded in 
2021. 

In the below chart, it is provided an overview of the projects carrying amount at the year-ends. 

(amounts in EUR) 

Software 
TOTAL FORACS 

(amounts in EUR) 

Software 
TOTAL FORACS 

(amounts in EUR) 

Software 
TOTAL FORACS 

Carrying Amount 
end 2018 

Additions Disposals 

1,685,582 
1 685 582 0 0 

Carrying Amount 
Additions Disposals 

end 2019 

1,685,582 
1 685 582 0 0 

Carrying Amount 
end 2020 

Additions Disposals 

1,685,582 
1 685 582 0 0 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
6-13 

Other 
Carrying 

Depreciation 
Changes 

Amount end 
2019 
1,685,582 

0 0 1 685 582 

Other 
Carrying 

Depreciation Amount end 
Changes 

2020 
1,685,582 

0 0 1 685 582 

Other 
Carrying 

Depreciation 
Changes 

Amount end 
2021 
1,685,582 

0 0 1 685 582 
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NOTE 10: PAYABLES 

Payables and accrued expenses (accruals) are to commercial suppliers, staff, other NATO bodies, 
NATO FORACS Member Nations or other NATO FORACS entities. 

Payable to suppliers relates to goods and services for which an invoice has been processed but for 
which payment was still pending at year-end. The invoices open in a currency different from the 
budget currency (EUR) has been revalued on 31 December 2021. 

Accrued expenses (accruals) correspond to the estimated accrual obligation to third parties for goods 
and services received but not yet invoiced. 

Below tables provide details of the payables balances for the last 2 financial years at year-end: 

amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

Suppfiers 82,971.66 91,912.54 
Other FORACS entities - - 10,063.19 
Member Nations 120,205.25 150,300.82 
Accruals 6,726.28 44,145.32 
TOTAL 209,903.19 276,295.49 

Payable to Participating Nations 

A payable of EUR 120,205.25 (EUR 150,300.82 in 2020) is in relation to reimbursable salaries and 
represents the amount due to the United States (US) for civilian staff members who are or have been 
employed by FORACS but paid directly by the US government. The amount available at the 
beginning of 2021 was used to offset the budgetary contribution of the US called in 2021. The net 
outstanding amount remains to be regularised and to be fully offset against the 2022 budgetary 
contribution of the US. 

NOTE 11: DEFERRED REVENUE 

Deferred Revenue 

This item is limited to NFO since it is the only NATO FORACS entity over which the IS Office of 
Financial Control exercises budgetary control. 

Deferred Revenue corresponds to NFO contributions called for the current year budget or before 
(received or receivable) that NFO intends to use for its initial purpose, but for which corresponding 
goods or services could not be received in the course of the current budget year but will be incurred 
after the end of the reporting period. If these amounts carried forward are not spent by the end of 
the second year following the year for which they were approved, these funds will lapse unless a 
specific decision is taken by Member Nations for a further carry-forward. 

There were no appropriations subject to a special carry-forward, neither to a further carry-forward. 
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-15 ANNEX6 to 
FC(2022)0047 

The standard call for contribution process includes an advance on the following year's budgets for 
all NATO FORACS components. The NATO FORACS Ranges may in turn request that part or all 
of the advances be transferred to them. The amounts called as advances at year end were the 
following: 

amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

NFO 958,793.00 997,305.00 
NFA 1,888,350.71 1 '546, 772.28 
NFG 990,000.00 969,358.00 
NFN 1,857,589.42 1,686,883.87 

TOTAL 5 694 733.13 5 200 319.15 

NOTE 13: PROVISIONS 

The provision relates to the staff Untaken Leave liability. 

The valuation of Untaken Leave (which has no impact on the current budget of NFO) amounts to 
EUR 20,226.51 (EUR 20,703.28 end 2020) . 

NOTE 14: OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Amounts corresponding to the current year budgetary surplus of NFO, i.e. lapsed credits, net 
financial income and miscellaneous income, are considered a liability towards the Participating 
Nations. The settlement does not follow the normal accounts payable process, since the standard 
approach is to return them to Participating Nations via a deduction of the following year's call for 
budget contributions. Up to now, the standard practice of the NATO FORACS Steering Committee 
has been to use these amounts to fund the NFO Supplementary Budget or to add them to the Project 
Accumulated Surplus (see note on Net Assets). 

Below is a snapshot of NFO's current year surplus at year ends: 

amounts in EUR 

c urren ear u Jget t ~ 8 d s urp1us NFO 
2021 2020 

Lapsed Appropriations 1,232,431.02 733,433.03 
Net Financiallncome/(Expense) 14,574.97 992.38 
Miscellaneous lncome/(Expense) 218.75 13,197.59 
TOTAL 1 247 224.74 747 623.00 

Miscellaneous income represents a 2020 insurance premium settlement (EUR 210.00) and a credit 
card fee refund (EUR 8.75). 

Financial income is the result of foreign exchange rate differences on the payments of the 
supplementary budget to the ranges NFN and NFA, payments to suppliers, bank charges and 
interest collected throughout the year. 
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Other current liabilities cover also the current year budgetary surplus of the Ranges, i.e. 
lapsed credits and net financial income. 

Detailed breakout is presented in the table below: 

amounts in EUR 
2021 2020 

NFO Current Year Budget Surplus 1,247,224.74 747,623.00 
Lapses NFA 260,355.52 331,613.04 
Lapses NFG 80,617.97 187,280.85 
Lapses NFN 461,368.25 431,408.83 
Financial Surplus Ranges 839.93 15,556.95 
TOTAL 2 050 406.41 1 713 482.67 

NOTE 15: NON CURRENT LIABILITIES AND LONG TERM DEFERRED REVENUE 

The long term deferred revenue is unearned revenue in relation to net carrying amounts of Property, 
Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets. Revenue is recognised over the estimated life cycle of 
the Property, Plant and Equipment and the Intangible Assets. 

In the future this account will be used as a counterpart of the Integrated Data Acquisition and Test 
System version X (IDATSvX), once it is formally accepted and becomes available for operational 
use and thus recognized as an Intangible Asset and subject to yearly depreciations. 

NOTE 16: RETAINED EARNINGS 

Retained earnings correspond to NATO FORACS' Project Accumulated Surplus. 

Project Accumulated Surplus relates to funds resulting from past contributions by NATO FORACS 
member Nations in excess of budget execution that the Steering Committee decided not to 
redistribute to the member nations but keep for the needs of the NATO FORACS project. This 
decision was approved by the NAC (C-M(2018)0032-AS1 dated 26 Jun 2018, under "Approval of 
FORACS Operational Reserve Fund"). It is an Operational Reserve held at the direction of the 
Steering Committee essentially in the case of emergency funding needs for the Project to ensure 
continuity of service and also for reallocation among NATO FORACS entities when the Steering 
Committee approves their Supplementary Budgets. It originates from previous years' budgetary and 
financial operations of the various NATO FORACS entities. 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
6-16 

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
3)

00
14

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 

6-17 

Statement of Financial Performance 

NOTE 17: REVENUE 

Non-Exchange Revenue 

ANNEX 6 to 
FC(2022)004 7 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
entity and the revenue can be measured reliably. The non-exchange revenue is matched with the 
expenses stemming from budget execution. 

Contributions, when called, are booked as an Unearned Revenue and subsequently recognized as 
Non-Exchange Revenue when it is earned. 

Exchange Revenue may result from services provided by NATO FORACS to entities other than the 
Participating Nations. This type of revenue is assessed on a calculated day rate for services. 

Below there is a snapshot of the 2021 non-exchange revenue breakdown: 

amounts in EUR 

2021 2020 
Budget Execution 1,256,698.99 1,180,970.55 

Current Year Budget 2,456,181.00 1,988,439.00 
Automatic carry forward from previous year 100,527.22 26,492.43 
Lapses at year end -1,232,431.06 -733,433.66 
Automatic carry forward into next year -67,578.17 -100,527.22 

Financial Result 13,925.57 1,641.78 
Financial revenue - Realized 19,244.31 992.38 
Financial cost- Realized -4,669.34 0.00 
Financial revenue - Unrealized -649.40 649.40 
Financial cost- Unrealized 0.00 0.00 

Miscellaneous Result 218.75 5,170.86 
Current year income 218.75 0.00 
Overaccrual 0.00 5,170.86 
Provision untaken leave (-) -20,226.51 -8,026.73 
Provision untaken leave ( +) 20,226.51 8,026.73 

Non Exchange Revenue 1,242,554.67 1,174,157.91 

Exchange Revenue 

Nothing to report. 

Financial Revenue 

This includes exchange rate differences. 

Other Revenue 

This includes the regularization of overestimated accruals from previous year and the net change 
in the provision for Untaken Leave. 
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ANNEX 6 to 6-18 
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NOTE 18: EXPENSES 

Wages, Salaries and Employee Benefits 

The personnel costs only pertain to all civilian personnel in support of funded activities. They also 
include expenses for salaries and emoluments for approved NATO permanent civilian positions and 
temporary personnel, for other salary related and non-related allowances including overtime, 
medical examinations, recruitment, installation and removal. 

Supplies and Consumables Used 

This item may also include expenses attributed to Capital Expenses (Property, Plant and Equipment 
and Intangible Assets) from a budget perspective, if they do not meet the criteria of PPE or Intangible 
Assets. 

Depreciation and Amortization 

Nothing to report. 

Impairments 

Nothing to report. 

Provisions 

This item includes changes in any provisions disclosed in the financial statements, and represents 
the change in the valuation of the Untaken Leave liability. 

Other Expenses 

Nothing to report. 

Finance Costs 

This items includes bank charges and exchange rate differences. 

NOTE 19: BUDGET INFORMATION 

NATO FORACS Office Budget 

Presently, the NATO FORACS Budgets are not publicly available. 

The actual amounts referred to by IPSAS 24 ("amounts that result from execution of the budget") 
are expenses incurred during the execution of the budget and appearing under the heading "Actuals" 
in the Budget Execution Statement. 

Presentation of budget information in the financial statements 

In the present financial statements budget information is limited to NFO since it is the only entity over 
which the IS OFC exercises budgetary control. 
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The NFO budget classification is based on the economic nature of the expenses broken down into 
three chapters as follows: 

Chapter I 
Chapter II 
Chapter Ill 

Personnel Expenses 
Operating Expenses 
Capital Costs 

The NFO Budget is prepared for the same period (1 January to 31 December) as these financial 
statements. 

These financial statements also include transactions with NFA, NFG and NFN in relation to their 
funding as components of NATO FORACS (calls for their budgets' contributions, prepayment of 
advances on their budgets, transfers related to budget adjustments). Their respective budget 
execution and control are conducted in accordance with their own national regulations. Neither the 
NFO nor the IS Financial Controller have any responsibility or authority in this respect. As a 
consequence their budget executions are not reflected in the budget execution statement of the NFO 
presented in these financial statements. 

Changes to the budgetary regulations were introduced by the North Atlantic Council in 2015 in 
approving a new set of NATO Financial Regulations. The new NATO Financial Regulations were 
made applicable to the 2015 budget year as from 1 May 2015. They have in particular instilled an 
accruals based approach to budget preparation and budget execution, whereas before the approach 
was largely commitment and cash based. 

Despite a stronger emphasis on the principle of annual budgets, the approved and executed budget 
cannot be considered as fully accruals-based, since the new regulations allow for a number of 
exceptions, such as carrying forward commitments for goods and services that were expected to be 
delivered in the course of the year but for various reasons were not, or authority given to the member 
Nations to allow for special carry forward of appropriations unused at year-end. 

The NFO budget is prepared and executed as follows: 

1) The commitment of appropriations is the advance acceptance and recording of the financial 
consequence resulting from a legal obligation incurred during the financial year. As a 
consequence appropriations are allocated, and commitments are approved, for goods, 
services and works to be delivered at a later stage. Commitments are settled when the 
service is rendered or goods delivered as is the case for expenses under accrual accounting. 

2) Approved Commitments for which no goods could be received or services rendered at year 
end normally lapse. However, if they are supported by a legal obligation and correspond to 
goods or services that could not be received during the course of the year for specific 
reasons, they may be carried forward and added to the budget of the following financial year. 
Uncommitted appropriations may be subject of a special carry forward to the following year 
if a specific agreement is given by the Steering Committee. Outstanding commitments can 
be carried forward for two years. As a consequence, the services or goods received may 
relate to a commitment of appropriations from previous years' budgets. The carry-forward 
should be justified by a reason for which the services or goods could not be received in the 
course of the year. In addition, in accordance with Financial Regulations, member Nations 
may agree to a further carry-forward of commitments that were already carried forward twice. 

3) Commitments, because they are an advance acceptance, and because payments cannot be 
made above approved appropriations levels, typically include an estimation factor and may 
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be (if only slightly) higher than the actual amount eventually paid. This results in 
commitments being higher than the actual expenses and in appropriations eventually lapsing. 

4) Commitments are only made in respect of expenses relating to the initial purpose of the 
commitment. Commitments for capital expenditures are normally made in the year during 
which the purchase order is issued. In accrual accounting, the related costs would not appear 
in the Statement of Financial Performance but in the Balance Sheet and only upon reception 
of the works, goods or services. Conversely, there is no budgetary commitment of 
appropriations for non-cash flow transactions such as capital depreciation or provisions which 
would normally appear in the Statement of Financial Performance under accrual accounting. 

5) On an exceptional basis, the Steering Committee may approve the carry-forward of credits 
without any prior legal commitment, for instance for projects at their initiation stage or planned 
expenditures. In accrual accounting there would be no expense recorded. 

6) The balance of unused budgetary appropriations (not committed) lapses and is to be returned 
to Contributing Nations or added to the Operational Reserve at year-end (the latter being the 
usual practice). Lapses may include cases where a project was eventually not completed or 
started, and therefore lead to no expense. 

Budget approval 

Every year, an initial budget for Operations and Maintenance is requested in order to provide 
contributors with a stable level of contribution and a significant amount is planned for under the 
supplementary budget. 

amounts in EUR 

Initial Budget 
Supplementary Budget 
Additions/Reductions 
Total Annual Budget 

There were no frozen appropriations. 

2021 
1 ,243,403.00 
1,212,778.00 

0.00 
2 456181.00 
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2020 
1,255,363.00 

733,076.06 
0.00 

1 988 439.06 
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Budget execution 

The NFO budget execution for the current and previous year is shown at Annex 5. 

ANNEX 6 to 
FC(2022)0047 

Table below compare the budget's authorized appropriations and the actual amounts committed and 
expended, i.e. the comparison between the Budget Execution and the expenses in the Statement of 
Financial Performance. 

BUDGET EXECUTION 

Total Budget (including carried-forward from prellious year) (a) 2,556,708 
Credits Carried Forward in FolloiMng Year (b) 67,578 
Lapsed Appropriations (c) 1,232,431 

Budget Execution Expenses (d) =(a-b-c) 1,256,699 

RECONCILIATION 
Financial Performance Expenses (Excluding financial costs) (e) 1,256,222 
Increase in Non-Current Assets (f) -
Prollisions (g) (477) 
Other Expenses (h) -
Sub-Total (i)=(e+f-g-h) 1,256,699 

I Difference to Budget Expenses (d-i) 

Reconciliation between NFO Budget and Calls for Contributions 

The funding of the NFO budget is made of an advance call and a call for contributions, carried over 
credits, the previous year's surplus, and on occasion, as directed by the Steering Committee, a 
contribution from/to the Project's Accumulated Surplus and/or a transfer from/to another FORACS 
entity's current year budget. 

One call for contributions is issued every year which includes an advance concerning the budget of 
the following year and the remainder concerning the current year's budget (i.e. current year budget 
minus advance called during the previous year and any other adjustments among the FORACS 
entities). 
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The table below reconciles the approved budget and the sources of funding. 

amounts in EUR 
2021 

Initial Budget 1,243,403 
Supplementa_l}' Budget 1,212,778 

Total Annual Budget 2 456181 
Advance called previous year 997,305 
Call in current year 246,098 

Total Cash Calls 1,243 403 

Use of Previous Year's Surplus 883,869 
Use of (Contribution to) Project Accumulated Surplus -
Transfer from (to) other FORACS entities 328,909 

Other Funding Sources 1,212 778 

!Total Fundtng 2,456,181 

NOTE 20: WRITE-OFFS 

There were no write-offs during 2021. 

NOTE 21: LEASES 

NFO does not have any financial leases. 

NOTE 22: RESTRICTIONS ON FIXED ASSETS 

There are no restrictions on fixed assets. 

NOTE 23: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

2020 
1,255,363 

733,076 

1 988 439 

1,004,290 
251,073 

1,255 363 

714,481 

-
18,595 

733 076 

1,988,439 

There have been no contingent liabilities identified that would be expected to result in a material 
obligation. 

NOTE 24: CONTINGENT ASSETS 

Nothing to report. 

NOTE 25: EMPLOYEE DISCLOSURE 

Employee Status 

The tables below provide comparative data about FORACS staff for two consecutive years: 
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Total Approved PE 
Total Filled Positions 
Arrivals in the year 
Departures in the year 

Cil.ilian (PE) 
VNC 
Short term 
Interns 
Others - explain 

Leave 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
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NATO Civilians 
2021 2020 

4 4 
4 4 
0 1 
0 1 

Total Approved PE Total Filled Positions 
4 4 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 

ANNEX 6 to 
FC(2022)0047 

Paid leave is an employee benefit and as such part of overall personnel expenses. In accordance 
with personnel regulations, the remaining balance at year end may be carried forward but must be 
taken before 30 April of the following year. It can be exceptionally expanded to 31 October in 
accordance with Civilian Personnel Regulations art. 42.3.5 and 42.3.6. After this date it lapses and 
is not paid to staff. For these financial statements, untaken leave is specifically reported if its 
monetary value is more than 10% of the total annual leave entitlement. The cost of untaken leave 
days is usually absorbed during the year through the monthly salaries; leave to be taken carried 
forward into the next year constitutes a liability towards the future and would notionally require 
funding from Participating Nations. 

Pension Schemes 

NATO-IS is managing centrally three pension programs, namely the Defined Benefit Pension 
Scheme (DBS), the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme (DCPS) as well as the Retiree Medical 
Claims Fund (RMCF), covering staff employed by all NATO bodies. 

NFO staff is covered by one the two NATO pensions schemes (DCPS or DBPS). The DCPS provides 
that the NFO budget makes a 12 percent monthly matching contribution to the staff members' 
contributions for current service. As for the DBPS, a deduction of 11.8% of staff salaries is made and 
contributed to the annual financing of this Plan. In addition, the NFO budget makes a monthly 
matching contribution of 19% to the DBPS. These contributions are expensed during the year 
concerned and represent the sole pension related obligation of the entity. Consequently, the NFO 
has neither DBPS nor DCPS liabilities for its staff members. 

The table below provides comparative data about the staff affiliation to the different pension schemes 
for two consecutive years: 

FORACS STAFF PENSION SCHEME AFFILIATION 

2021 2020 
I Co-ordinated Pension Scheme 2 2 
I Defined Contribution Pension Scheme 2 1 

The table below indicates the contributions made by NFO to the various pension programs. 
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amounts in EUR 

Co-ordinated Pension Scheme 

Defined Contribution Pension Scheme 

Total 

6-24 

Staff 
Employer 

Total 
Staff 
Employer 

Total 
Staff 
Employer 
Total 

NOTE 26: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

2021 2020 
22,273.62 21,651.36 
44,567.24 43,302.72 
66 840.86 64 954.08 
11,413.30 8,826.89 
17,119.95 14,817.63 
28 533.25 23 644.52 
33,686.92 30,478.25 
61,687.19 58,120.35 
95 374.11 88 598.60 

The NATO FORACS Steering Committee (one representative per member nation) is the governing 
body of the NFO and of the NFG, NFN and NFA. Steering Committee members are nominated by 
their respective National Authorities. They are paid on the basis of applicable National pay scales. 
The Steering Committee members do not receive from NATO any additional remuneration for 
Steering Committee responsibilities or access to benefits. 

The key management personnel of the NFO consists of the Project Manager. The Project Manager 
is responsible for the overall operational management of NATO FORACS. The Project Manager 
reviews the three Ranges' budgets, proposed by the Range Managers, and proposes all four 
budgets to the Steering Committee for approval. The three sites are managed operationally by 
Range Managers, each nominated by the participating nation where the site is located. 

There are no other remuneration or benefits to Steering Committee members or key management 
personnel or their family members. 

NOTE 27: RELATED PARTIES 

In reviewing the four budgets on an annual basis, the Steering Committee determines the budgetary 
credits for the initial and the Supplementary Budgets. It is in this context that funds for the O&M 
budget are called (Supplementary Budget funds are already held by NFO on behalf of the Project) 
and held in cash or cash equivalents by the NATO-IS Office of Financial Control to finance three 
other NATO FORACS budgets, namely NATO FORACS Greece, NATO FORACS AUTEC and 
NATO FORACS Norway. For more effective cash management purposes, the Steering Committee 
approved the call procedure whereby funds pertaining to NFG, NFA and NFN are transferred into 
accounts at NATO Headquarters. These bank accounts are controlled by NFO, thus the closing 
balances are reported in the NFO's financial statements. Upon request of the Range Managers, 
funds are transferred to the Greek, US and Norwegian defence authorities respectively, with whom 
the Range Managers engage to execute their budget following their national rules. 

NATO Office of Financial Control holds the surplus funds of all the NATO FORACS entities on the 
NFO bank account. These funds are not controlled by the NFO Project Manager, but are approved 
for expenditure by the Steering Committee to enable it to implement its Supplementary Budget 
authorisations. Remaining funds constitute the Operational Reserve. 
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Both the Steering Committee members and Key management personnel have no significant party 
relationships that could affect the operation of the NFO. 

In 2021, NATO International Staff charged NATO FORACS for the following cost- sharing: 

amounts in EUR 

Burden Sharing Charges 
2021 

Common Operating Cost 17,805.00 
Admin Cost 
Other 
Total 

44,816.12 
0.00 

62 621.12 

**'**'* 
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2020 
18,534.00 
32,436.21 

0.00 
50 970.21 
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List of acronyms: 

AUTEC 

DOD 

BC 

FORACS 

IPSAS 

IS 

MOD 

MOU 

NCIA 

NFA 

NFG 

NFN 

NFO 

NFSC 

OFC 

PPE 

Atlantic Underwater Test and Evaluation Center 

Department of Defense 

Budget Committee 

Naval Forces Sensor and Weapon Accuracy Check Sites 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards 

International Staff 

Ministry of Defense 

Memorandum of Understanding 

NATO Communication and Information Agency 

NATO FORACS AUTEC 

NATO FORACS Greece 

NATO FORACS Norway 

NATO FORACS Office 

NATO FORACS Steering Committee 

Office of Financial Control 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
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